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    Alarms were sounding all over. Four satellites had been destroyed. The last time it had happened was almost 70 years before during the Sodium Apocalypse. Bases were on high alert. Fighters and warships scrambled. The world was on edge. The Media were all asking if the aliens had returned. The Commander-in-Chief had not yet given an answer.

    During the Sodium Apocalypse (S.A.) three large alien craft descended on the Tampa, Florida area. Armed with gravity wave concussion weapons, they flattened the city, killing every human being. The alien attackers then proceeded to move across the state, cutting a wide swath, first crushing and destroying Orlando and finally the Daytona Beach area.

    The attack only lasted a few days, but the cities and the surrounding suburbs for a 100 mile wide path had been completely annihilated. Only a handful of survivors remained.

    The aliens were met with futile resistance as their technologies were far superior to our own. They demanded that no radio broadcasts of any type be made and no aircraft leave the ground. They gave notice that all Humans remaining on the peninsula of Florida be removed. For three weeks every resource available was used to make that happen.

    Ships could not sail in the Eastern Atlantic or Gulf Coast regions. Any violations would be met with swift retribution. The governments of the United States and the rest of the world quickly capitulated to the alien’s demands and a peaceful co-existence ensued.

    The alien ships had come to mine Sodium from the oceans. The bloodbath had been a warning that they were not to be trifled with. A group of four had managed to stay alive in Central Florida during the aftermath, with no communications they were unaware of the survival of the rest of the world.

    For more than three years they struggled to rebuild some semblance of a normal life… a sustainable life. For more than three years they cowered under the protection of any cover they could find. During that time they worked feverishly on a weapon they hoped to be able to use for hunting. It was a coil gun made with a mystery technology that one of the survivors had received as a young boy. It had been thrust into his hand by an old stranger while on a family vacation.

    With the computer wizardry of a teenage survivor the coil gun soon became a formidable weapon. It was far more powerful than the survivors had ever dreamed. With the new weapon the group decided it was time for Mankind to take back what was rightfully theirs. It was time for revenge.

    A set of hard-fought ambushes ensued destroying two of the immense alien craft and driving the third from the planet. Only then did they learn that the rest of the world was still alive. The S.A. had changed the course of Man.

    Although it had not become a perfect world, the peoples of Earth and their governments had learned to cooperate and settle arguments without the use of a sword. Each nation retained a military as real trust was something that only existed on the surface. A peaceful co-existence of nations had continued, but with an always watchful eye.

    I was in transition from my previous gig with a fighter wing to my new assignment in the Astronaut Corps. If a fight was coming, I reasoned that chances were good that I would be involved. I had applied repeatedly to the USAC only to be rejected due to several infractions on my otherwise stellar record.

    I was a great pilot, but I sometimes neglected to follow the rules. A Mach two beach flyover to impress a girlfriend and a drunken fight in the Officer’s lounge were two of my stable of infractions. I was sure I had only been allowed to stay in the service due to my family connections.

    My Great Uncle, David Brenner, was revered throughout the world. He was our nation’s top scientist. He was the same David Brenner, who as a teenager, had helped defeat the aliens during the S.A. As his Great Nephew I had many doors opened to me throughout my still young career.

    The first was in college... where I was not always the best student. Next was in the Naval Academy where I had stepped on a few toes of high ranking Officers. My commission as a UAV pilot had surely only been granted out of respect for my Great Uncle. And now, my acceptance into the newly formed USAC was likely also from his doing.

    After the S.A., David Brenner and his team of nearly 40 top scientists had been working diligently on high priority projects. It had taken almost three years to gain entry into the lone damaged alien fighter that had survived. Up until that day only a handful of scientists, restricted military personnel and the President himself were aware of the craft's existence.

    The world had been told there was no surviving wreckage from the S.A. All had been led to believe the remaining alien craft had left the planet after cleaning up any wreckage. That statement had been true except for this one remaining vessel.

    The alien fighter had been outfitted with a canister of highly corrosive liquid. When disabled the craft would release the canister, which would in turn cover the ship with a corrosive mist. Within ten minutes the craft would dissolve into nothingness. My Uncle had narrowly escaped death when that very canister was being removed from the lone wrecked alien fighter.

    The canister firing mechanism had been damaged during the S.A. when a coil gun projectile had knocked the fighter from the sky. The technicians removing the canister had unwittingly re-activated the trigger when pulling it from the craft. The canister had been placed on a table 30 feet away from the alien craft when the accident occurred. The result had been the death of three technicians and the two scientists who had been overseeing their efforts.

    David Brenner had only walked away moments before for a cup of coffee. A substantial portion of one side of the fuselage and of one wing of the alien craft had been dissolved by the mist. Only the quick action of a support team member had prevented the complete destruction of the vessel. With the mist spreading out from the canister the team member had jumped into a tug attached to the front of the craft and began pulling it away.

    He had crashed the tug through a hangar door while pulling the ship to safety. David Brenner, the remaining scientists and the other workers had scrambled for the hangar exits. Minutes after the alien craft had been pulled into an adjacent hangar, the first hangar collapsed. Luckily, the brief moment of exposure to the open skies had not been enough for the alien fighter's existence to be discovered.

    For three years David Brenner and his team had been busily attempting to learn the secrets of the invaders. One benefit that had been derived from the canister mishap was that the interior of the ship had been exposed. With the vessel open, David and the other scientists had managed to discover the secret of the alien craft's power system... Sodium fusion.

    A simple fusion reactor, coupled with a generous supply of Sodium, could keep the craft fully powered and in flight for many months. Over the following years David Brenner and his team had unlocked the technology of the Sodium fusion reactor.

    In addition to understanding the alien's power system, the team had also replicated and then greatly enhanced its performance and efficiency. With the abundance of Sodium on the Earth and with the enormous power generated by a single reactor the United States had seen a new energy renaissance.

    With the world no longer dependent on fossil fuels and with an abundant supply of clean cheap energy, world perspectives had changed dramatically. Every nation had been offered the power free in return for renewed diplomacy and friendly cooperation.

    For security and control reasons the reactors all remained in the United States under heavy guard. The power was broadcast to the other nations of the world using gigantic Tesla coils. For 70 years the system had worked. For 70 years Man had been largely at peace.

    During those years the United States had greatly enhanced its military capability. The aircraft of the US armed forces had been outfitted with high efficiency coil guns, nano-reactors and electric turbines. The strength of the military was viewed as one of the reasons for the long period of peace.

    As a U.S. government strategy to preserve its technological advantage of Sodium fusion, the nano-reactors could only be started using a full sized reactor. Each reactor had also been outfitted with a tiny canister of the same corrosive liquid that the alien craft had used. With several layers of fail-safes in place there was little danger of the technology falling into the hands of potential rivals.

    Many of the United States defensive aircraft were in the form of UAVs. I was one of the lucky few who had been given the chance to pilot them. My career in the Navy had been as a pilot for one of the remotely piloted UAVs.

    The USAC had come about under military control. With improved economies and world peace, man had once again regained his desire to explore the solar system. Since being a young boy, I had dreamt of being one of the first astronauts to reach Neptune. Little did I know that I would soon go far beyond.

    For the last decade David Brenner had been busily designing space propulsion systems. Some of it had been derived from the alien craft and some from his own team's ingenuity. If anything... my Great Uncle was a brilliant man.

    As I sat on the sofa in the Astronaut lounge, I awaited my new orders. I watched intently as the developing story unfolded on the 3D wall holo-screen. With all the alien speculations the nations of the U.N. were once again calling for the release of the secrets of Sodium fusion power… just as they had many times before.

    As I watched the reporters and media pundits throwing out their wild accusations and theories an executive aid of David Brenner stepped in front of me. She was a young ensign and a very attractive one at that. The aid touched a medallion on her hat and a miniature holo-projector sprang to life. My new orders had come in. As I watched the hologram floating in the air in front of her I couldn't help but muster up a smile and a wink. Ensign Braswell however, remained professional and did not return the favor.

    The news was fantastic. I was being assigned directly to my Great Uncle's research team. It was the most coveted job a pilot could dream of. I jumped up from the sofa, kissed the aid on the lips, turned and walked towards the exit. I had a big smile on my face that only broadened as I heard the aid say "Thank you sir." as I left the room.

    I reported to my quarters where another aid was to come by to collect my duffel bag and to lead me to a transport. I was then flown to Area 51 in the Nevada desert. When I touched down at Groom Lake I was surprised at how few buildings there were. I had thought I would be housed at the new Regents Air base about 200 km away.

    Regents, was where the bulk of the new activity with fighters and weapons had been taking place since I had been a young boy. The Regents base housed our most highly classified secrets… or so I thought. When I exited the plane and entered the old building at Groom Lake I was a little disappointed.

    What I did take note of once inside was all the security cameras and automated mini coil guns. The building’s interior was heavily defended. After a bio-scan to verify my identity I was escorted into an elevator. We descended two floors and exited into another room. I was again subjected to a bio-scan only this time it was much more thorough... and a bit invasive.

    My escort then pointed me down a long hallway and watched as I walked the 150 yards carrying my duffel. At the other end of the hallway I was greeted by another escort and taken into the next room. Again I boarded an elevator and again descended another two floors. Upon exit from the elevator I was greeted by a third escort. After another long walk down a curving hallway I entered a room that had a windowless shuttle sitting on tracks in the floor. There was a closed door on the wall in front of it.

    The shuttle door opened and I sat and was buckled in by the escort. When the door closed I was in complete darkness. I sat quietly as the shuttle began to move. I could hear the door to the room open and then moments later close after the shuttle passed through. The shuttle then quickly accelerated and then just as abruptly, it came to a complete stop. I sat waiting for a door to open. What came next was unexpected.

    I felt the shuttle lift slightly and it then began to spin. The spinning increased until I was pressed hard back into my seat. When the spinning finally stopped I was relieved, but completely disoriented.

    The shuttle was once again placed on a track where it then began a rapid acceleration. The speed continued to increase for a full minute. A short time later it began a heavy deceleration that would last the same amount of time. When the shuttle came to a complete stop I was sure that I had traveled at least several hundred kilometers.

    As the door opened into a bright room I squinted my eyes. I was then greeted by a new escort. Again, a complete bio-scan was done to reconfirm my identity. When complete, I was taken into a room that had a blast door. Once the blast door had been opened before me and then closed again behind, I boarded yet another elevator.

    A 22 story drop then brought me into a room that was attached to another long hallway. I was beginning to get irritated and wondered what all the fuss could possibly be about. The hallway was dotted with many doors as we walked. The escort beckoned me along with a smile and a semi-auto coil machine gun that was powered by a pico-reactor.

    When we arrived at the door labeled 236A the escort knocked and then turned and walked back towards the elevator. When the door opened I walked into a room where my Great Uncle David was sitting at a desk.

    David Brenner rose and came to greet me. I received a big hug and welcome from him. I had only had the privilege of briefly meeting David Brenner once before. He had attended a band concert rehearsal that I had played in during my seventh grade year of school.

    I had the pleasure then of standing in awe and listening while he had praised my performance. After a brief chat with my parents he had been whisked off again to other more important duties. The fact that he had taken the time to pay a visit had left me with an immense sense of family pride. He was after all, the man who had first saved and then powered up the world.

    I sat down in a very comfortable high-back leather chair and looked around his office as he made himself a cup of coffee. When he sat back down at his large glass topped desk he then pressed a holo-button on a small console floating above it.

    The walls of his office came alive with 3D holograms. It was as if we were sitting in Yellowstone National Park, watching Old Faithful. Coupled with a 3D sound system as well as the scents of the area it was hard to tell that we were not actually there.

    He told me it was his way of dealing with not seeing daylight for most of the year. As I sat, I listened intently as my Great Uncle told me the story of the alien craft and its many secrets.

    The Sodium fusion reactor had been child’s-play as compared to the propulsion system. It had taken David almost 40 years to unlock some of the propulsion drive's secrets.

    The fusion power system had been used to generate a magnetic field that was just powerful enough to almost stop the spin of an electron. He described to me how it was well known that all matter in the universe was made up of sub-atomic particles. Those particles all had spin, and they all spun in the same direction.

    The aliens with their advanced knowledge had figured out how to nearly stop the spin of a particle. The result of almost no spin was a craft that defied the pull of gravity. The absence of particle spin also greatly reduced the effects of inertia on anything within the craft.

    I struggled to keep up as my Great Uncle tried his best to discuss it in layman’s terms. After our long talk David Brenner rose and then walked me through another door. The door entered into an immense chamber.

    The chamber ceiling was at least a half mile above and the far walls of the chamber were a mile away. It had been carved out of solid rock. The place was abuzz with activity.

    I was given a lengthy tour with a first visit to the alien craft. David talked of the knowledge they had gained from the different components of the ship. We then proceeded to the next area. This was where I was shown the first vessel of what was to become our space fleet. David then made note of the fact that all the ships would be manned and that I would be going into space!

    We continued our tour into an area that was flooded with holo-screens. The information was a hemispherical display of the skies above the northern half of the Earth. Several hundred feet away was an identical setup of the southern hemisphere. As I looked up I could see seven red flashing dots. That's when David told me that indeed the aliens had returned.

    He then told of our new satellites that had coil gun defenses. On the holo-screen the flashing red satellites that had been destroyed, belonged to other nations who lacked our defensive technology. David then pointed me towards an orange dot. He explained that the satellites had been destroyed by a handful of advance alien fighters. He pointed to four yellow dots. He then described the orange dot as an entire alien fleet.

    Our imaging systems were still too weak to discern the size of the fleet. We just knew that it looked to contain ships that were bigger than the eight kilometer diameter behemoth that had attacked us during the S.A. Our scientist’s best estimate was that we had at least two years before the bulk of the fleet arrived.

    All the activity going on in the chamber was geared towards manning and equipping a fleet of our own. It would be tiny in comparison to what was coming but we hoped our technological gains of the last 70 years would give us an advantage.

    We next moved to another area where a number of pilots were busily training in fighter simulators. Simulation training and then manning one of the new ships, was to be my job for the next two years as we planned our defense before the alien fleet was to arrive.

    David looked me in the eye and then shook my hand before drowning me in another rather embarrassing hug. He said his goodbye and then hurried away back towards his office. I was then left at the mercy of my new training handler... Ensign Paige Braswell.
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    Ensign Braswell wasted no time in stepping forward to let me know who the boss was. I outranked her but she had been given full authority over my training and as such I was under orders to follow her every command... to the letter.

    She stepped directly in front of me and then moved her face to within inches of mine. It was definitely a stare-down. As I began to smile she stepped back and then let me have it. She barked off the command for 50 pushups.

    I hesitated for a moment in disbelief and then noticed that she was not smiling. And the several other workers who had turned towards us were looking on with stern expressions as well. Even though my Great Uncle was still within sight, I dare not invoke the family name. Not there... not then.

    Given my heavy frame the pushups were slow and torturous. When I had completed my ordered duties, I was then directed to follow the Ensign to the mess hall for some breakfast. As we walked towards a far door I could see she had a slight smirk on her otherwise stoic face. The smirk told me that she must at least have a sense of humor. I thought perhaps there was hope for Ensign Braswell after all.

    We proceeded through a buffet line that had just about every imaginable breakfast item. I was in Heaven. We then sat at a long table and were joined soon after by three other new pilot trainees and their handlers, Captain Albert Biggings, Major Robert Hardee and Major Beatrice Parks. We were quickly told that anyone calling her Beatrice would likely die quietly in their sleep. I laughed along with Al and Rob as Betty smiled along with us.

    As we ate our breakfast our handlers began telling us of what was in store for the next few weeks. It would be all classwork followed up by more classwork. It would likely be several months before we would get time in the fancy holo-screen simulators we had been shown in the chamber.

    I could see the excitement melt away from Al and Rob's faces as the handlers talked about the coming coursework. Betty on the other hand was enthused. It seemed that no matter where you went there was always someone who enjoyed the bookwork. After her enthusiastic display I knew that Betty was surely one of those people.

    After breakfast, we were taken back by the holo-simulators for one last look. The handlers raised their voices as loud as they could as we stood just on the edge of the nearest holo-sim area. Each of the areas in the chamber had been outfitted with noise cancellation gear that kept sounds from the other areas out. We were told it was the only thing keeping the underground hollow from becoming one gigantic and distracting echo chamber.

    The handlers then hurried us across the chamber and into a classroom along with 28 other new recruits. There was a near even split between men and women.

    The war-fighter game had changed tremendously as technology had advanced. As I looked around the room I took note of the makeup of our rookie crew. Tall, thin, short, heavy... almost every size and shape imaginable. Modern air warfare had seen to it that all you needed was a quick wit, rapid reflexes and the ability to sit in a chair for hours on end.

    Al was a big muscular fellow who we gave the call sign "Mr. Bigg" which was soon shortened to "Bigg". With his height he would have had trouble fitting in an earlier version of a manned cockpit. He had a deep booming voice that commanded attention.

    Bigg was a veteran of the USAF. He had been in the UAV corps piloting a drone when the aliens had last attacked. Al had been one of the UAV pilots responsible for tracking the alien craft during their brief yet destructive encounter.

    In a strange twist of events Bigg's son Chris had been brought in as a technician. Bigg had been told that with the several thousand personnel in the chamber and the tight schedules he would be keeping that he would likely not have much chance of seeing his son. It was a very busy place.

    Next was Rob who was an older gentleman. We called him "Pop-Top" as he had told us of his taste for vintage beers. It was soon shortened to "Pop". Pop was average height and weight and sported a big caterpillar of a mustache. We weren't sure why but Pop was always grinning.

    Then there was Betty. We called her "The Whip" which soon became "Whip". She was a short, razor thin firecracker of Asian descent. Several things that became instantly clear about Whip were that she was sharp and quick witted with her vocabulary. She also had no problem using that against you if she felt it necessary.

    And then there was me. A 5'9" tall 290 pound giant bag of cheese puffs. After watching me eat my breakfast the others had quickly decided on call sign "Hoover". It wasn't flattering, but it wasn't inaccurate either. I liked my food.

    We had been sitting in a classroom talking for ten minutes when the instructor came through the door. She was a tall brunette with linebacker shoulders and a prosthetic arm. As she turned to face the room full of chatty fliers she had a scowl on her face. The room quickly became silent.

    Her artificial limb had a panel strapped to it that contained several buttons and a touch pad device. Other than the rubbery looking skin the rest of the arm looked and functioned in an almost natural manner.

    Colonel Darlene Rogers then pressed one of the buttons on her arm pad and a holo-screen with a close-up of an enemy fighter came to life floating in the air just above her and to the left. The fighter slowly rotated as the Colonel began her talk.

    We were told there were four alien fighters identical to the one shown above her wreaking havoc on the world's communications satellites as we spoke. We had managed to damage one of them when it had attacked one of our satellites, a satellite which was armed with a coil gun. The other three had since been doing nothing but recon work. We were told they seemed to be watching for our reactions... probing our defenses.

    The Colonel then told us that this was not the first return of the aliens to Earth. Thirteen years before two of a similar fighter had been taken out by our ground based coil-gun defenses. But, it was not before they had knocked out 54 of our best equipped fighters. Our top fighters at the time were all fully manned, each with a two person team. We had lost 108 good airmen that day.

    Bigg was one of the few who knew of the attack before being stationed in the chamber. He had been a UAV pilot and a liaison to a company whose gear had powered our fighters. After that attack the chamber facility had been decided upon and funded through "Black" programs. Very few outside the chamber knew of its existence.

    The two fighters had taken out three strategic satellites and then attacked a military airfield in northern Alaska. We had scrambled all our fighters there to meet the incoming threat. It was a massacre.

    The alien fighters had only been taken out after being lured over a defended airfield. There we had two still experimental high powered coil guns sitting in wait. Nine aircraft with 18 crewmen on board had been sacrificed just to lure the alien fighters to their end. It was costly as those men and women had given their lives as bait.

    Without the world being aware of the skirmish, the brave 126 souls who had given their lives had only been silently mourned by the few in the know. Families were told stories of separate incidents and asked to remain silent because of matters of the highest of national importance.

    Back in the classroom the history lesson went on for hours. With the new revelations, there was not a tired or dreary eye in the room. It was serious business and the crewmen assembled there were now fully aware of just how serious.

    The first of our new fighters was to be launched in three days. The four man crew of the "Defender" series ship had been training in the simulators almost non-stop for a full year. Scenario after scenario had been placed before them in the holo-sims out in the chamber. Many of those training scenarios were of impossible missions where the crew was not coming back alive.

    Each of the team had it drilled into them that the most important thing about each mission was for them to do the maximum amount of damage to the enemy. If they completed the sim run in one piece, any celebration was short lived as it was right back in for another mission.

    After 11 hours in the classroom we were given one hour for rest and relaxation before a mandatory six hour sleep period. This was to be our schedule for the next four months. We were on 18 hour days. It seemed odd at first but with the proper lighting and ultra-quiet sleep chambers we were told the body would get into sync with it within the first ten days.

    There was no scheduled sunrise or sunset to confuse our body clocks. We were deep underground where the Sun no longer mattered. Our crew of four became very tight very fast. I was selected as our pilot. My focus would be on flying the craft.

    I was told that by the end of our training I should be able to fly the ship at Mach five down a railroad track and then roll over and under that track as it crossed a bridge over a small highway. At the time I wondered how it would be possible to make the 90 degree turns necessary for that maneuver. I was assured that I would soon learn how.

    Bigg was our Defensive Specialist. The ship would be equipped with a number of new defenses and Bigg would become skilled at using them. His primary job would be to keep us alive.

    Whip was our Offensive Specialist. She would be directing our four enhanced coil guns and our compliment of 38 missiles, four of which were nuclear tipped. Whip's job would be to do maximum damage to any and all targets identified.

    Pop was our last specialist. He had been selected as our Engineer. He would keep all the ships systems ready and active. A good engineer had always been worth their weight in gold.

    The training routine soon became second nature. Each of the squads of four were schooled on the ship, strategies, tactics and the utter importance of teamwork. One weak or lazy crewman could easily mean death for all.

    After a long day in the classroom we settled into the lounge for our one hour R&R. Pop was grinning from ear to ear which was usual for him on his two days a week that he was allowed a single beer.

    The evening hour was for unwinding but usually ended up with discussions about the days lessons. That day was special as we eagerly awaited the launch of the first manned Defender flight in the morning.

    The Defender ships were to be marveled at. The magnetic drive system from the alien fighter had been adapted for anti-gravity and inertial dampening purposes. But, David Brenner and the other scientists had not yet figured out how the aliens had actually made their ships move.

    They could hover. They could turn instantly without affecting those inside, but the actual propulsion itself had remained a mystery. So, David and his team had come up with a new system. The Black Hole Drive had been born. The BHD consisted of five high powered magnetic rings that functioned as neutron colliders.

    Work done 70 years before on the Large Hadron Collider had led to the ability to create temporary microscopic black holes. The five rings were used to cycle neutrons up to speeds where the collision that occurred created a black hole that lasted fractions of a nanosecond.

    In the Defender ships the discovery had been used to repeatedly form five temporary black holes just in front of the ship. The result being a powerful pull being exerted that would move the ship forward. The acceleration achieved was significantly faster than the current electric turbine technology. In the void of space it was theorized that it would work even better.

    The strange thing about the black holes that were created was that the alien gravity wave was not immune to it. This meant that our ship, with its active skin, could be propelled forward by it regardless of the enemy gravity weapon.

    The shell of the Defender was covered in a thin layer of Sodium Oxide. When a sufficient magnetic field was applied the skin of the craft took on the anti-grav qualities that were needed for it to fly. A benefit of the active skin was that those inside the ship were nearly immune to inertial forces. We would each be seated in a comfortable chair where we would watch and control everything from holo-displays.

    Other than the holographic panels of controls that illuminated the interior of the craft, the remainder of the ship appeared jet black from the inside when the skin was activated. It was strange to be sitting in a chair that looked as though it was floating in the air. It would also be strange to have the other crewmen seemingly floating next to you.

    On the defensive panel, Bigg would be able to control a gravity field similar to what the alien fighter had. A gravity wave could be projected outward from the ship into a point. David's team had again been unable to fully understand the physics behind the gravity wave and because of that we were only able to project it outward from the ship for a few meters.

    On the alien fighter this had been used for their shield as well as for the deadly concussion weapon that had devastated Central Florida during the S.A. If positioned properly the gravity wave would act as a shield. Bigg's job would be to make sure it was always in the right place at the right time.

    An interesting thing would happen when the skin of the ship was active. From the outside it would appear to vanish. No light or any radio wave of any sort would be reflected. Anything with a normal particle spin to it would be absorbed by the skin, passed around to the other side and then emitted.

    A bullet fired at the ship would seem to pass through it and continue on from the other side as if nothing had been there. It was a fascinating anomaly that our scientists could still not fully understand.

    There were limits to the amount of matter that could be absorbed and re-emitted. With a large enough mass the ship could be brought to a halt and with an even larger mass the active skin could be overwhelmed. We were told as an example that if we flew directly into a large enough mass that the ship would enter the mass and then slow to a halt. The skin would be overwhelmed and it would then go inactive. The result being that we would be trapped inside the mass.

    On the weapons front Whip was excited about the prospect of firing a live coil gun. For her to have four of them would only make it four times more exciting. Our conversation then wandered onto the topic of the nuclear tipped missiles. They would pack quite a punch if they could be delivered to their target. Currently, the alien's gravity wave technology could easily keep the missiles at bay. Command hoped to find other uses for them.

    Pop would be schooled in keeping every system operational while I would have the simple duties of starting, stopping and turning. If I could get us where we were going and back safely my duties as pilot would be fulfilled. Each of us also received training in the duties of the others. You could not have too much redundancy while at war and in space.

    With a crew of four it would give us each six hours of sleep while rotating shifts if we were on duty. When the hour bell sounded we all made our way to our sleeping quarters. We would have our daily sonic shower and then slide on top of our anti-grav mattress beds.

    The bedding was definitely a perk of being in the USAC. You would float on top of it giving you the most restful sleep you had ever had. That was especially true for a heavy guy like myself.

    Even in our excited states, the prospect of the first flying Defender class ship the following morning was not enough to keep us awake after our third day in the classroom. The needed sleep was an uneven match as we each powered up our anti-grav beds. With the ultra-dark and ultra-quiet of our personal chambers sleep came quickly.
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    I was the first to arrive in the mess hall the following morning. The place was abuzz with anticipation of the launch. This would be the first of the Defender series ships to take to the sky. Whoever the first of our crew was to arrive in the morning would normally wait for the others before proceeding through the chow line. In my excited state I could not wait any longer.

    I expected to be chastised by the others, but my eagerness had only brought about their laughter. I had been lucky with the crew I was with. There had not been any tension between us, no hostile outbursts and no jealous or selfish behavior, other than my minor infraction of the morning.

    Our squadron of 28 crewmen would pilot seven Defenders. We had 11 other squadrons training in the chamber for a total of 84 crews. If construction and training went well, we were told those numbers would be quadrupled in the coming year.

    While well over 300 craft should be enough to easily handle the current four alien fighters that plagued us, it seemed we might be grossly outnumbered when the full fleet arrived. It was scary stuff given the fact that the first Defender was just preparing for its first flight ever.

    When we had finished eating we were herded out into the chamber and into an area that had been setup to address everyone. As we stood talking amongst ourselves, we waited patiently for a holo-screen to appear by the giant rock wall in front of us.

    When the first image came to life the crowd quickly quieted, it was David Brenner. Everyone there was well aware of whom he was, so there was no need for an introduction. He gave a short greeting and then got right into the business of the day. Crew team A1 was standing behind him along with the first Defender, A000001.

    David and the crew were topside at Regents airbase. I was unsure of how the Defender had gotten from the chamber to the hangar at Regents and at the time it seemed unimportant. David talked of the mission before us, he talked of the alien fleet that was on its way and he talked of the struggle that we all would face when it arrived.

    Following David we were then shown a feed directly from the White House. The President spoke frankly and largely reiterated what David had already said. He then spoke of how not only our own nation was depending on our success, but the entire world and all Mankind. It seemed a heavy burden, but it was a burden we were being trained to fully take on.

    When the President had finished, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs spoke thanking us all for our efforts and reminding us again of what we would be facing. When all the speeches were over the focus was turned to the crew.

    As team A1 walked towards the Defender the tail end of the craft opened and lifted like the tailgate of an old SUV. The crew then stepped up into the Defender and walked to the forward cabin. The Defender was 60 feet in length, 12 feet high and 14 feet wide. It had the uncanny resemblance of a silvery white loaf of bread. I salivated at the momentary thought of bread.

    The forward cabin contained the four crew seats while a rear cabin was for the ship systems and supplies. The crewmen wore reclamation suits that would feed them through an IV and then absorb and send any waste product to a device in the rear cabin.

    The waste would then be reconstituted and fed back into the IV solution as nutrition. It sounded disgusting and I loathed the thought of not being able to eat, but we had been assured that the advantages far outweighed our fears.

    The tailgate of the Defender then closed and sealed. The crew were seated, connected to the ships systems and then given the go ahead to start their test flight. We stood watching the holo-screen for several minutes as the crew went through a thorough checklist. Then, in an instant, the craft went clear. Only the slightest distortion was visible as the active skin had been engaged.

    The Defender next lifted slowly off the hangar floor until it was floating about three feet in the air. As the Black Hole Drive came online the craft started to move forward. A cheer arose in the crowd. The hangar doors then opened as the craft moved towards them.

    What we saw next was both frightening and discouraging. The Defender turned at the last moment, sending the front end along with the BHD straight into the edge of the now open hangar door. I cringed as I waited for the craft to crash into the door, ending its maiden flight.

    As the Defender reached the door there was no impact. The door just disappeared as the craft moved through it. A perfect cutout of the craft in the door was the only damage done. The black holes of the BHD had disintegrated the door material which had come into close proximity with them. The craft was undamaged.

    The nearly invisible Defender then proceeded out onto the tarmac as we all looked on silently. It came to a complete stop and then hovered for most of a minute. The crew executed a 180 degree turn and then moments later the craft turned up on end with the front facing skyward.

    After several seconds of standing tall the Defender then shot straight up and within seconds the distortion disappeared from view. The hush and gloom of the crowd then turned back into cheers.

    The holo-screen turned to a view from the rear of the crew cabin facing forward. The sky in front of the Defender turned quickly from a pale blue to the blackness of space. The HD views from the holo-screen were breathtaking. I turned and looked behind us and the holo-screen was also projecting a view from the rear of the craft. The Earth filled the view and then began to slowly shrink as the craft continued to accelerate.

    As we watched in awe the Defender slowly turned as it made its way around the back side of the Moon. It had gone from the tarmac to the Moon in under nine minutes. The pilot relayed her flight status and every three minutes like clockwork the other crewmen chirped off a status of their systems.

    On its return, the Defender did another 180 degree spin and then dropped straight into the atmosphere at more than 200,000 kph. I asked Whip why everything was displayed in kilometers. Her reply was that when it came to space, everyone used the metric system. I shrugged and thought of how it was just one more thing that I would have to brush up on.

    When the Defender came through the atmosphere I expected the active skin to take on a bright white glow. When the air molecules came into contact with the skin they were absorbed, passed around the craft and then re-emitted. There were no sonic booms, there were no light shows, only the peaceful amplified sounds of the crewmen breathing.

    The Defender then slowed rapidly and came to a complete stop just over a meter off the ground. After a 90 degree rotation the craft floated slowly back into the hangar. There was next a gentle set down and the active skin then turned back into its silvery white color.

    Minutes later the tailgate opened and the crew of Defender A000001 emerged. Again the crowd around me erupted in cheers. The maiden flight of the first Defender had been a resounding success. It was soon determined that the glitch of destroying the hangar door had come about because ring number four of the BHD was only operating at 9%.

    After the other four ring parameters had been adjusted downward to match the defect, the craft was easily steerable. The trip out and around the Moon had been done at only 9% potential throttle.

    I quickly did the math in my head and was salivating as I spoke of my trip to Neptune taking just over a month. That's when Whip corrected me. 9% throttle only meant the rate at which you would accelerate and not the speed at which you would travel. Theoretically, at full throttle, the Defender would reach the speed of light in about six hours, making Neptune potentially less than a day away.

    David Brenner then came back on the holo-screen, offering congratulations to the crew and everyone else involved. We were then all granted a two hour celebratory break before our work would continue. I convinced the others to join me in the mess hall for the first half hour as everyone else would be crowding into the lounge. The thought of my only meal while in flight, being from an IV, had increased my appetite. The others agreed, but reluctantly so.

    As we sat in the mess hall we talked about what we had just seen. It was a historic moment that we would hopefully one day be able to tell our children and our grandchildren about. We were there when the first Defender flew.

    I then made the statement to the others that we were only 10.5 light years away from Epsilon Eridani. Within our lifetimes it might be possible to take the fight to the alien's suspected home world. Bigg quipped that we would have to get past the incoming alien fleet first.

    Whip then raised an interesting question. Why was it that my Great Uncle, David Brenner, looked like he was only 50 years old when in reality he was closer to 90. He had explained it to me when I had first arrived. Every cell in the human body has strands of DNA. Each time a cell divides the DNA strand divides and becomes shorter and less stable. When the typical human reaches their 50s the DNA strand becomes too short to divide leaving each of us with a more rapidly aging body... no new cells.

    Just about the time David had reached the 50 year mark he was diagnosed with bone cancer. He was only given months to live when his doctors were told of a radical untested therapy. David's knowledge and work was too important to lose, so David and the doctors were given the orders to undergo the treatment, no matter what the expense.

    The procedure involved 36 complete bone marrow transplants over a two month period along with numerous blood transfusions and drug injections. The bone marrow and blood had been grown from a single vial of blood that been taken from David during routine tests ten years before.

    The operations were excruciatingly painful and the recovery period was fraught with problems of infection. And even though the marrow was from his blood, there were problems of rejection by his body. The result had been a six month downtime from his work, but the addition of another ten years or so to his life. He had just undergone the procedure for the fourth time a year earlier.

    The work involved and the number of scientists and physicians required, along with the 36 rounds of bone marrow and blood transfusions, made the whole affair extremely expensive. So much so that there was little chance of it ever making its way into the general population. David Brenner had been worth the expense and was willing to go through the pain in order to continue his work. After all, his parents and almost everyone else he had known had been taken away from him by the aliens during the S.A. The usually mild mannered David Brenner still had a score to settle.

    One effect of the procedure was the renewal and repair of some of his DNA. This allowed most of his cells to continue to divide for another ten year period. The area that was largely unaffected by the procedure was the brain. His brain was 90 and it continued to age. His time with us was limited.

    We continued on from the mess hall into the lounge where Pop celebrated with his Tuesday beer. When our two hours was up it was back to the classroom for our daily drilling. By the time our four month classroom training period ended, the latest crews had reached as far as the Asteroid Belt... and had achieved one quarter light speed.

    There had also been one tragic mishap. Defender A000014 and its crew had been lost when it hit an asteroid at one tenth the speed of light. The result had been that the ship had made it almost completely through before the active skin had failed. The tail end of the craft had been locked in the asteroid while the rest of it had torn away.

    The contents of Defender A000014, including its crew, had been sucked into space at almost 66 million kph, causing them to instantly disintegrate. After months on a high we had all been brought back to reality. Our new toys were not toys and space was once again a very dangerous place.

    Just about the time of the lost Defender and crew, I had taken note of the budding romance between Bigg and Whip. Bigg was a giant when standing next to Whip's petite frame. But the attraction to one another was there. There was one problem with romance down in the chamber. It was strictly forbidden. If caught in any compromising situations there was no hearing, no trial and no court-marshal. Only prison and only solitary confinement as the secrets we each knew were of the highest security level.

    Bigg and Whip were professionals and had managed to keep the relationship under wraps, with only the occasional wink, nod or mild arm hug. I could tell it was a strain to keep it on the up and up, but Bigg and Whip knew their priorities. And their priorities were to follow orders and complete the training before us.

    I sympathized with them as I had my own romantic problems with my handler. Ensign Braswell had been nothing but kind and attentive to my every training need, but she had not returned any of my winks or nods. I often felt a bit jilted, but I dare not bring the subject up when we were under such strict orders. I again feared that my family name would do me no good if I got out of line in the chamber.

    As far as Pop was concerned he saved his love for his Tuesday and Friday beers. He was also an avid audiophile. Almost everything of the day for music was highly compressed digital. Pop detested any sound that was not coming from an old analog style amplifier.

    Almost everyone had an audio implant stuck under the skin behind an ear except for Pop. He used the old style ear-buds and an external recording amp and comm device. I sometimes wondered if that was the reason he continued to grin unstoppably.

    The implant served as a communication device as well as a radio, music player and recorder. Commands to the implant were thought activated. You could change channels, pick a song or album, adjust volume and make or receive comm calls. The telephone was now only found in museums and a few third world countries. I could not imagine being without my implant for more than a few minutes.

    Our final week of classroom training had been about the ship's life support systems. We would have to know the intimate details of how each and every system worked if we wanted to have any chance of a repair while in space. We could easily be unreachable and a billion kilometers away when the ship's systems went offline. There would be no rescue chopper and no tow truck to come to bring us home.

    The ship's power was from a micro-reactor. It generated enough energy when at full bore to power a small town. The active skin and BHD were both power hogs, consuming as much energy as the micro-reactor could generate. The only maintenance we could do to the reactor was with the Sodium feed going into it. If the reactor were to fail, we would be completely powerless and left floating in space.

    Pop had already begun to toy with his own ideas of how to change the reactor feed. He had shown me a few of his sketches, but I had to say that the thought of changing around a system that we were completely dependent on made me nervous. If Pop's theories failed there would be no way to restart the reactor without the energy capabilities of a full sized reactor nearby.

    "Lights out", as we called it, was a very bad thing. Without power we would freeze to death in a matter of minutes. If we were lucky, we would be traveling at speed through an asteroid when the power was lost. The active skin would shut off leaving us to instantly disintegrate like Defender A000014 and its crew.

    Bigg had been busy trying to think of ways to increase our defensive capabilities and Whip our offensive ones. I was just happy at the time to steer the ship. Bigg's main creative focus had been on ways to extend the gravity shield by more than the current few meters. The aliens had done it and he was intent on figuring out how.

    For our final two weeks of classroom training Bigg had been using our one hour break to talk to the scientists in charge of the gravity shield. Whip had her own ideas. If Bigg was able to extend the gravity shield she wanted to be able to use it behind the BHD to try to push the black holes of the drive outward as a new type of weapon.

    With the black holes only lasting tiny fractions of a second she would have her work cut out for her. Besides, black holes would react strangely with gravity so she was not very hopeful about being able to weaponize them.

    I was glad to be on a crew with people who had ideas. I was already overwhelmed by much of our classwork, leaving my brain drained of any creativity by the time our day ended. If one of my crew-mates came up with something significant, I felt I could at least contribute by running it past my Great Uncle. That is, if he would even see me. We had not spoken since my initial arrival, because David Brenner was a very busy man.
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    After four long months our classroom training period was complete. We were all excited about having our first lessons in the holo-sims. From what we had been told it was almost impossible to tell the difference between a sim and the real thing.

    After I completed my morning stuffing in the mess hall, I joined the others by the sim training area of the chamber. There were 32 sim trainers of which 28 were continuously occupied. The remaining four were spares for use when there were technical issues. Seven of the trainers had freed up the day before as that class of crewmen had graduated. They now had the privilege of training in the real Defenders.

    As I joined the others, we all stood for several minutes as we awaited our instructor’s guidance. Ensign Braswell and the other handlers for our team had been busy collecting the gear for our reclamation suits. I very much disliked the name, but it was what they were.

    I had a moment of sadness as I wondered if the meal I had just consumed might be my last. I had heard rumors that once you went into the reclamation suit you would remain there until the sim training was complete in four months. It was not something that I looked forward to.

    Our instructor, Commander Red Masters, then stepped up and greeted us one by one. For the next four months we would be spending our waking hours under his supervision. Commander Masters was the opposite of Colonel Rogers. He was slight of build and soft spoken, but he knew the Defenders inside and out. He had been on the engineering team that had come up with the initial design.

    Commander Masters ordered us to refer to him as Red. He had been given the nickname when just a kid. When he would get embarrassed about anything his ears would turn bright red. I thought the story gave him the friendly personality that Colonel Rogers lacked.

    Red then walked us to the trainer that would largely be our home for the next four months... S-A000055. It was identical to the real A000055 in every humanly discernible way. Each Defender simulator, or DSim as they became known as, had a micro-reactor and active skin. The BHD was a simulation as well as the weapons and defensive systems, but we were told we would be unable to tell.

    Our training schedules were now a bit different too. We would arise at 6AM, complete breakfast by 7:30AM and be at our training station by 8AM. We then had a four hour training session, followed by an hour break and then four more hours of training. At 5PM we received another one hour break.

    From 6PM to 8PM it was free time in the DSims where the teams were encouraged to discover, explore and become intimately familiar with the ship's systems and capabilities. From 8PM to 10PM it was then fraternization time with the other teams where we were encouraged to have discussions about strategies, tactics and any discoveries or new ideas we might have come up with. It was then back to our personal quarters for the night. We would be back on 24 hour schedules.

    When the handlers returned we were each taken to a dressing area where we were outfitted with our reclamation suits. As we awaited personal adjustments we were each visited by a physician. A spot on our side just above where the elbow would rest then received a local anesthetic, was cleaned, cut and then a permanent IV port was installed. It was a little uncomfortable, but we were told that we would soon forget it was even there. I doubted that statement.

    Once the port install was complete, we were stripped naked, bio-washed and then squeezed into the reclamation suit. As a final gesture a physician’s tech then attached a hose to the suit. The air inside was vacuumed out and then a warm bio-gel pumped in. We were told it would help our bodies become accustomed to the long period of time we would be in the suit. It seemed my last meal fears had come true.

    We were then walked back to the DSim. Walking in the gel filled reclamation suit could only be described as funky, but it wasn't unpleasant. Even though our classroom training had told us all about what the suit would do, I still felt the need to ask one last time. It was time to purge the liquids from my breakfast.

    I was assured it was fine to go whenever I felt like it and that the suit could handle not being hooked up to the ships system for about five days. Things would then begin to get unpleasant. When I cut loose, my face turned a bit red as the sensation of going in front of the team was something that I was not prepared for. We all had a good laugh and then continued on into the back of the DSim.

    We were excited about finally getting into the trainer. As each of us passed the glow and faint hum of the micro-reactor we were left with a feeling of awe. This was our reactor for the next four months. I lingered for a moment at the reactor before Ensign Braswell put her hand on my shoulder and then gestured towards the chair. It would be my home for the next ten hours.

    The chair was a high-back leather recliner in style. There were adjustments for seating angle, lumbar, heating or cooling, side support and of course the hookup for the reclamator. Paige had me seated, connected and the suit online within two minutes.

    When connected to the system the gel in the suit would become a liquid that was constantly being pumped and filtered. Again the suit left you with a bit of a funky feeling. We were then fitted with a visor that projected a holo-display of the ship’s controls for each of our stations. A simple long hand swipe to the left or the right would bring up the primary controls of the other crewmen. In the event of an emergency all the ship’s systems could be controlled from one chair.

    The simulator itself was in lock-down mode. Red encouraged us to start pushing buttons and changing views as he assured us that nothing was currently being registered by the system. We each had one hour to become familiar with the controls of our station. Each control had a help guide that could be viewed on the holo-display.

    Our handlers were sitting in their own control chairs outside of the mock craft. They were there for support and the answering of any questions we might have, I had plenty. I immediately selected the BHD controls and went to full throttle. I watched contently as the drive went to 100% within 15 seconds. I next turned to the navigation controls and began plotting our course to Neptune. We were like kids in a candy store.

    When the hour of fun and familiarity was complete, Red then popped up in front of us on our holo-displays. We would now begin our flight training. The next hour was spent familiarizing ourselves with the pre-flight checklist. We would have to know not only what each system monitor was for, but also how to interpret what it was telling us.

    We began with the reactor. It had a Sodium supply with three feeds. The supply was monitored for level while each of the three feeds were monitored for throughput, burn-rate and efficiency. The fusion reactor itself was about as simple of a device as there was.

    An extreme magnetic field held the fusion reaction in place while the three Sodium feeds dropped in a constant stream of Sodium atoms. Three Sodium atoms were electrically bonded together during the fusion process. The Sodium reaction did not put off heat but instead pumped out a steady stream of electrons, just plain old electricity.

    Our training next turned to the life support system. The life support system consisted of a tiny fission reactor that would take the fused Sodium as fuel. The result of the fission process on the fused Sodium left us with two oxygen atoms and six hydrogen atoms. This in turn gave us a supply of oxygen and hydrogen which could in turn be fused into water if needed.

    For each Sodium atom injected into the system we were left with enough particles for one water molecule and one spare hydrogen atom. The scientists were still trying to figure out how to make use of the extra hydrogen. The amount left over was small enough that it was easily compressed and stored. The life support system also monitored and cleansed our air.

    Inside the ship was open and there was no need for helmets as once the skin was active there would be no stepping outside. For our faces and hair we were given a hose that gave us a sonic wash. I found its use both simpler than and preferable to a full sonic shower.

    The reclamation and nutrition systems were also part of the life support system. Waste was collected through the suit and nutrition was returned through the IV. I was told we would be fed a continuous meal of the nutrients necessary for maintaining our health. I was also told that I would likely be losing weight over the four month period that I would be in the suit.

    Ensign Braswell would be monitoring and providing for my nutrition as she saw fit. I imagined the look on her face as she was setting the parameters of my IV and the vision that constantly came up was one with her displaying a big smirk.

    We then moved on to the navigation and propulsion systems. The nav system displayed a 3D hologram of space surrounding the ship. The meter of hologram in front of us could be expanded to represent from a few hundred meters diameter up to about 30 billion kilometers.

    The nav system was only as accurate as the currently known field of monitored and tracked objects, which consisted of the planets, their moons and the majority of large asteroids over 500 meters in width. The demise of A000014 had come about due to a collision with a 650 meter length, unlogged asteroid. It was 150 meters wide and elongated in length and A000014 had been just unlucky enough to hit it lengthwise.

    With the nav system, the pilot was able to set waypoints, speeds and automated orbits. Every maneuver the ship was capable of could be formed into a predefined flight-plan. The visual and IR sensors along with the quantum computer on-board were capable of tracking up to 500,000 objects at once. From there, the computer could automatically make small course adjustments in an attempt to avoid collisions.

    The nav sensor arrays were located on the BHD rings on the front of the vessel. That was the only part of the ship that was exposed when the skin was active. At high speeds, when a collision was imminent, the BHD would drop off-line and the active skin would encompass the sensors. It was the only way we had of fully protecting the external components. Without them we would be flying blind.

    The propulsion system, while complex in its technology, was simple in its design and use. Five temporary black holes were either constantly being formed or not. Only create one black hole and the ship would be pulled in that direction. With all five lit up the ship would shoot straight forward like a banshee. By adjusting the frequency and duration of each of the holes the ship could be steered in any direction.

    The only drawback, and it was a big one, was that once the ship reached significant speeds it was extremely slow to turn. Turns were not tight, but were instead large predictable arcs. The alien fighters could easily outmaneuver our Defender even though we had a much higher top speed. The tactics and strategies that had been taught were constantly adjusted to compensate.

    With the system checks out of the way we were all eager to fire up the DSim for our first mission. Red unfortunately had other ideas. We would each be practicing with our own sections until such time as they became like second nature to us. When Red thought we were ready we would receive our first mission. As it turned out, the DSim training was initially more like the classroom than I had hoped.

    When our first week was complete, each of us were skilled at our station. We then switched to each of the other three stations for another week before Red finally gave us the green light for a mission. He was quite happy with our progress.

    For our first mission we would be lifting, departing the hangar and then cruising around the tarmac. It was the simplest of missions and we were well prepared to begin. We pulled up our checklists and then one by one gave status to the others. The active skin was then turned on. The silvery white aluminum can that we had been sitting in for weeks suddenly became complete blackness inside.

    It looked as though you could reach outward forever even though the wall was only a meter or so away. We were told that actually touching it with our bare skin would not be good. The boots and gloves of our suits were made to handle it if needed, but we had no plans of getting out of our chairs.

    The nav system was then brought online and a meter diameter sphere appeared before each of us. The optics of the holo-displays made them invisible from the other chairs so that we were not distracted by anyone else's view.

    I was then given the go-ahead to lift the craft. I felt a slight sensation as the monitors indicated lift on my status display. We leveled at a meter and then awaited the go-ahead for exit from the hangar.

    Red gave the command. As I looked at my displays my shaky hand gave a tiny push to the throttle. The craft then shot through the side of the hangar and into a surrounding mountainside before alarms blasted and the active skin shut down. In my excitement, I had left a throttle multiplier setting on 10x and had forgotten to turn the ship towards the hangar doors.

    The mishap was very embarrassing and the others were not laughing. We were all dead before our mission had even begun. I felt as though I had let the team down on my first attempt at piloting a Defender. I knew I was better than that. Everyone else was not so sure.

    After a five minute lecture the mission was reset and again ready to go. This time my true piloting skills showed as we flew and reached every waypoint with the utmost of precision. We continued our drills with mission one for the remainder of the day. We then had a one hour break where I continuously apologized to the others. There was no excuse for my mistake.

    During our first two hour free time the crew would normally continue practicing with simple DSim flights. In my guilt I volunteered that time to the others for their own mission practice. Whip jumped at the opportunity and suggested a scenario with gun-play. She was eager to unleash some hurt on fictitious targets.

    We selected an advanced ground scenario where we were given various targets to destroy around Regents airbase. We risked another death, but the others were all eager to get an idea of what we might really be up against. We reasoned it better to have a simulated death than a real one.

    Alien robots, we called them tripods, and flying drones were available for targeting. We were given five specific targets and a time limit to kill the five and return. Everything else was considered extra credit.

    We began the scenario with our pre-flight checks. Every scenario was given a random chance of some pre-flight problem occurring. If you skipped or did a sloppy pre-flight and an event occurred it would be counted as one death for your team. More deaths meant more basic training and less chance of graduation to a real Defender. I had already made our lives more difficult with a death on our first day.

    We soon lifted, turned and exited the hangar. It was a quick flight over to the nearest building where a unit of three tripods were harassing a simulated tank. A precision coil gun shot from Whip ended the harassment.

    Next it was over to a hilltop where two alien drones were defending a landed alien fighter. The drones were much more spry than the tripods and this time we received fire back. Bigg directed the shields as I circled to give Whip a better shot. Two quick bursts later and the drones were dispatched. As we turned towards the next target Whip selected and fired off one of her nukes.

    The parked alien fighter whopped it from the sky with its gravity wave weapon. As we sped away the crumpled missile fell harmlessly to the ground. Whip was annoyed by the ineffectiveness of the missile and decided to just drop one on the ground behind our ship as we flew.

    As we moved towards the next target I could hear Whip mumbling to herself. My thought at the time was that she had just wasted another nuke. With less than a minute to go before our next target a small mushroom cloud appeared on the screen behind the ship.

    The alien fighter had lifted in pursuit of us and had flown directly over the second nuke that Whip had strategically dropped. Whip screamed in delight as the fighter was too close to effectively block the explosion from the nuke. She had single-handedly taken out our first alien fighter.

    The next target had five drones protecting numerous tripods. I circled left and Whip took out the first drone as Bigg shielded us from their weapons. I then turned straight up, luring another drone into a chase. At two kilometers of altitude I did a quick 180 and flew straight into the drone before it had a chance to maneuver away. The BHD had cut the drone in half.

    Whip then fired on the next drone knocking it from the sky. Using a circular attack pattern, as I had with the first drones, allowed Whip the opportunity to take them both out. The tripods were then easy prey.

    The fourth target was 16 drones that flew in a tight formation. We again got them into a pursuit only this time when I had spun the DSim backwards Whip fired all four coil guns at once. The combined shields of the 16 were enough to block our weapons but not enough to block the effects of us blasting the rock formation they were flying close over. Two of the coil guns were directed at the fighters and two at the rocks.

    They could effectively shield one direction but not both. It was a well known weakness of the alien defenses. Whip had taken full advantage of this fact and the result had been the destruction of 12 of the drones with two of the remaining four heavily damaged. We moped up the survivors within a minute.

    As we approached target five I took note that we had no intel on what we were after. There was only a report of enemy activity at that location. When we topped the final ridge we were greeted immediately by another pod of 16 drones. They had locked onto us and within seconds had the active skin capacity up to 40%. At 100% we would be considered dead.

    I turned straight up and pushed the throttle to full, but I could not shake the drones. In ground scenarios we were limited to 3% maximum power. I thought it an unfair advantage to the aliens that we were not allowed to go faster, but rules were rules and we did not control the battlefield.

    I again tried my flip maneuver only to have the pod scatter before I reached them. They quickly reassembled and once again pursued us. As I headed back towards the ground Bigg chimed in with an alert. There were two alien fighters fast approaching. If we could not outmaneuver a drone pod we certainly could not outmaneuver a fighter. Having to deal with two of them was just ridiculous.

    The only effective plan I had come up with was to keep the drones between us and the fighters. It took all my flying skills to keep us alive, but it was soon evident that our death was imminent.

    I tried to do another flip but this time the drones stayed scattered and the alien fighters raced in. As they closed the skin capacity rose to 50%, then 70% and then 90%. When the skin failed we would easily be crushed by the gravity waves. I attempted a final flip and the ship's systems all shut down. After an automated 20 second reboot our reactor came back to life and the ship's screens with it.

    The scenario monitor showed that we had indeed died. Then Pop let out a howl and directed our attention to the scenario stats. Somehow the two alien fighters had been destroyed. Pop was grinning from ear to ear as he told us that he had simulated a massive dump of Sodium into the reactor core. The resulting huge explosion had taken us out along with the two fighters. We had lucked out on our position over an unpopulated area as there was now a crater on the ground a half kilometer wide.

    We had two deaths on our first day of scenarios, but we had managed to take out numerous tripods, drones... and three alien fighters. From what we had been taught in class it would be considered a huge victory. Moments after our celebration had begun Red's face popped up on our screens and the DSim powered down. We had been called to the flight commander's office.
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    Our handlers came in and detached us from our chairs. We were then escorted over to the flight commander's office. With two deaths on the first day I wondered if we were being flunked out of USAC training. The team had somber looks on their faces. It was the first time I remember seeing Pop without his continuous goofy grin.

    A Sergeant led us into the office of USAC General Daniel Buck. We were told to sit. The General then looked us over as he slowly walked around behind us.

    He then began to talk about the mistake I had made, killing us on our initial DSim flight. That soon turned to a berating about many smaller mistakes during the ground scenario. A small part of me wished for my Great Uncle to come in to our rescue. The General then focused on the ending of our scenario.

    His tone abruptly changed. There had only been one other team who had taken out an enemy fighter in a single crew scenario. That victory had come only near the end of their training. It had earned the crew the command of A000001. We had just taken out three fighters on our first day!

    I looked around at the others as the General continued to talk and could see a sense of pride welling up in them. Our team had just kicked ass on our rookie set of missions. The General then went on to tell us he was erasing our two deaths from our DSim logs. We were also to be given one day a week during our remaining training where we would be allowed to watch others, ask questions of our scientists and engineers or do free DSim hours.

    The General had one last reward for us that he had been saving. In two days the first squad of seven Defenders would be lifting off to do battle with the alien fighters. We were to have sideline seating in the Battle Room where we would be allowed to monitor every aspect of the fight. It was an honor that only a few would ever know.

    The remaining crews, their trainers, the techs and everyone else in the chamber would not be aware of the coming event. Command, the first squad, their handlers and the Battle Tacticians would be the only ones who knew what was happening. When we were dismissed from the General's office he shook each of our hands. He then gave a stern warning about the seriousness of the whole affair before giving us a final "Good job."

    As we headed back to the DSim, Red came over our audio implants and directed us towards the lounge. We got word that beers would be on the house and Pop's goofy grin was instantly fully restored. As we sat in the lounge taking in our reward, we rehashed every little element of the day’s events. The talk soon came around to Pop's reactor overload. He had reasoned that if we were doomed anyway, why not do as they had instructed... inflict maximum damage.

    When the thought first occurred to him he was hesitant as our DSim had a real reactor in it. The DSim parameters would not allow it be overloaded in the real world but in sim world we could direct it as we chose. Pop had been unsure that the simulation would respond as he desired. We were happy that it had.

    As a consequence, the Defenders that would be seeing battle in two days were having their safety protocols changed to allow manual overloads. It became a point of pride for our team.

    The following day was spent conquering level-one scenarios. It was somewhat boring, but every once in a while you would get thrown a curve. It kept us on our toes.

    When our free hours arrived we continued with level-one missions. In our overall DSim training we had 12 levels to conquer. The 12 levels had more than 400 scenarios with each one having some level of randomness to it. Rerunning the same scenario would yield a different experience every time.

    On the morning of the first Defender battle we were marched into a chamber area that had high walls. Inside the Battle Room there were numerous holo-displays floating in front of a multitude of Tacticians.

    The crews would interact with their Crew Commander who would be receiving orders from the Battle Planners. The Tacticians would be directing their insights through a prioritization computer that would in turn display before the Battle Planners.

    The whole affair was a complex system designed to give the maximum amount of information to the crews. The Crew Pilot would have the final decision if none was forthcoming from the Crew Commander.

    We were seated in chairs identical to the ones in our DSim. Our handlers then hooked us up. The staff didn’t know if the battle would last two minutes or two days. Once the mission began there would be no breaks for anyone in the room. As I looked around I noticed that everyone who was seated and expected to participate in the mission was also wearing a reclamation suit.

    If the battle ran many hours the handlers could adjust levels of stimulants and nutrients in an attempt to keep everyone fully alert. I imagined that Man could not have ever been more prepared to do battle than we were on that day.

    The Battle Commander came on screen and gave his short but to the point speech. This was it... this was real... this was war. In our observer chairs we had access to every fighter, every station and even the Battle Planners’ operations. With the swipe of a hand we could bring up any perspective that the Battle Room had to offer. I chose the pilot's display for Defender A1.

    The pilot's call sign was Dixie. She was a Southern girl with red hair, bulgy eyes and a freckled face. She may have been a little hard to look at, but within the first few minutes it was easy to see why she was A1. She was decisive and hard core.

    The Battle Commander gave the order and the newest war for Earth was begun. The seven Defenders of squad one taxied out onto the tarmac in unison. The Defenders next all tilted upward and then silently shot off into the air at a 78 degree angle. The seven blurs quickly shrank and disappeared from the ground view.

    The hope of the Battle Planners was that the squad would race up undetected and blast the fighters before they knew what hit them. The only detectable signature they had was the void caused by the BHD.

    Every inch of space had some signal emanating from it... except for the void of a black hole. Since the active skin passed signals through and around the Defender the enemy would have no way of knowing the rest of the ship was there. We hoped that the aliens were not tuned into our BHDs.

    As the Defenders raced towards the first fighter at more than 100,000 kph we were all on edge. Coil guns were loaded and powered on and the command had been given to fire once within optimal distance. As it turned out, the coil gun projectile was best fired from within ten kilometers. It would give the enemy the least amount of time to react and reaction time was critical to the alien fighters.

    When the 10 kilometer mark was reached all seven Defenders fired at once. The 28 high inertia projectiles made their way to the first fighter in under a half second.

    The alien fighter seemed to react instantly and was able to slightly deflect the projectiles while at the same time maneuvering out of the way. As squad one came to within three kilometers the alien ship then fired its own weapon.

    The result was seven ships knocked slightly off their trajectories. Five of the Defenders reacted by moving away from the others, but the closest two were not so lucky. Defender A7 hit A4 from the side with the result being that A4 was chopped in half by A7's BHDs. The exploding reactor of A4 then overwhelmed the active skin of A7. Both craft disintegrated in a matter of nanoseconds.

    Our first shot at the aliens had been a complete failure. The Battle Commander directed the team to regroup behind the Moon. The "Run and Gun" strategy was a disaster.

    The alien fighter did not pursue the Defenders. We were unsure if it was unsure of its own offensive capability, or if it was part of its programming. To date, the alien craft had all been autonomous. We still had no idea of who the alien species were or what they looked like. The fact that their ships were smart only worked to instill fear in us.

    Within minutes after the regrouping, the Battle Commander had a new plan. This time the squad would split and approach from five different angles. They would not come close enough to one another to once again be forced into a collision.

    The squad would wait until the ten kilometer mark before firing and turning hard away. The four guns would also be fired at slightly differing times and in a slight spread pattern. With luck the fighter would move into one of the projectiles.

    At the ten kilometer mark the projectiles were let go. This time the fighter came straight towards one of the Defenders. It took aim with its gravity wave weapon and the result was A3 had four of its five sensor arrays and three rings of the BHD knocked offline.

    One projectile then came close enough to the fighter to knock it spinning. The fighter quickly recovered and turned to pursue the closest Defender. A1 speed away at full throttle and the alien craft soon gave up its chase. The crippled A3 was quickly escorted away by A5. The crew was unharmed but the ship had sustained substantial damage. Round two had still been to the favor of the alien fighter.

    Once A3 was safely away, the remaining four Defenders then again rallied behind the security of the Moon. The Tacticians were busy with their scheming. After 15 minutes of conversations between the crews, commanders and planners a new battle plan was put forth. This time A1 would be going in alone.

    We watched intently, wondering what this new suicide strategy was with only one Defender on the attack. I hoped it would not be a reactor detonation as that would not bode well for the rest of us. No one wanted to be a Kamikaze. If that was to be our new strategy then they should at least limit the crew to a single person. Wasting four lives at a time was not very practical.

    As A1 raced in towards the fighter at near full throttle, I cringed at the thought of what might be coming. At the last second the Defender fired a couple rounds and then veered off and slowed as it sped away. The alien craft quickly pursued.

    As the fighter slowly gained on A1, I wondered why it was not going to full throttle. I soon got my answer. After our day one scenario, one of the technicians evaluating the data had gotten the idea of putting an active skin onto one of the nukes. A1 had dropped the unseen missile on its path away from the alien fighter. It had taken precise timing for the detonation, but the outcome was a complete destruction of the alien fighter. Cheers arose immediately, but then quickly quieted.

    A1 had laid a trap and lured the fighter to its demise. The techs had added a pico-reactor to the missile to power its active skin. Once the skin was active there was no communication with the missile so a timer had been preset telling it when to blow. The Tacticians had timed it perfectly.

    Upon destruction of the single alien fighter the four remaining Defenders then headed for home. It was just as well as two of the other alien craft had changed positions and were fast approaching the area.

    Squad one came in hot, slowed at the last second and came to a stop facing straight up. The four craft then tilted to horizontal and moved in perfect formation back into the hangar.

    Even with Ensign Braswell pumping calming agents into my IV the stress of the battle had been enormous. And I was just an observer. The mission had been accomplished, but not until after the loss of eight good crewmen and two valuable Defenders.

    The Battle Planners and Tacticians would be working late into the day trying to discern what had gone right and what had gone devastatingly wrong. The coil guns had been largely ineffective. These new alien fighters had evidently been upgraded since the previous battle 13 years before. I guessed it was only inevitable.

    Whip's dropped nuke strategy had been our only bright spot. We would need better weapons and better tactics if we hoped to have a fighting chance when the full fleet arrived. Two years was not a long time to prepare and the clock was ticking.

    After listening to Command and their staffs arguing for hours we decided it was time for us to get back to our DSim. We weren't learning anything of value watching everyone scratching their heads, pointing fingers and yelling. As we walked out of the Battle Command area I couldn't help but look around at everyone outside. They were all going about their daily chores as if it was just another day.

    I was not quite so happy that I had been invited to watch. I reasoned that sometimes it's better to not know everything. I would have difficulty focusing on anything except how easily we had been beaten in our first encounter. I hoped a few extra scenarios would break me away from the unpleasant thoughts.

    We chose to continue with level-one missions and even though we triumphed over each of them, the previous high spirit of the team had been crushed. Within the week we finished our level-one training and proceeded to level-two. Red was relentless in making sure we knew explicitly the details of every little mistake we made.

    His ears were a constant red, but this time it was from anger not embarrassment. He did not want his crew to make mistakes. For the first time in my life I was taking my new education seriously. I had at least three other people counting on me directly if not the fate of the entire world. The seriousness of it all was humbling.
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    On our first free day Bigg went looking for his son. He reasoned he might be able to learn some of whatever it was that he was doing and at the same time get in a good visit. Whip had sought the company of one of the Battle Tacticians. She wanted to discuss some of the events from the attack earlier. Specifically, she wanted to talk about potential uses for the active skinned nukes.

    Pop had his handler setup a meeting with two of the engineers who worked on the reactors. It left me to fend for myself. Ensign Braswell was available each and every day, so I asked her to assist me in running scenarios. My focus would be on navigation and maneuvering. I had no interest in fighting without my team by my side.

    We chatted a bit about our lives before our current duties as we walked towards the DSim. She was born and raised in Kansas. Wichita was still a hub for small aircraft manufacturing, it had peaked her interest in flying.

    Unfortunately she had a vision problem in one eye that had kept her out of the pilot’s seat during her still young career in the USAF. When the opening for the USAC came before her, she jumped at the chance. Just before joining the Air Force she had received a PHD in physics. That feat had been accomplished by the age of 22. I marveled at her intelligence and determination.

    I then told her of my days in the High School Band and then of my six years in college to receive a bachelor’s degree in Chemistry. I had spent too much time farting around and not enough focusing on my education.

    My degree was in something that I wasn't even interested in. If not for David Brenner being in the family, I quipped that I would probably be washing dishes at some small town diner. Even though I was not deserving of my current post I was very grateful for the situation.

    When we arrived at the DSim, Red was waiting there to assist. Paige connected me to the ship's systems and Red put together practice scenarios. I spent the day flying, conducting maneuvers and pushing the limits of what the DSim would allow me to do.

    When the day came to an end, Red walked into the crew cabin and put his hand on my shoulder. He told me that if I continued my training with the attitude and yearning for knowledge that I had shown that day, I could easily become one of the top if not "the" top pilot in the Corps.

    As I walked back to my personal quarters, I felt a sense of resolve in what I was doing. It was the first time I remember really having pride in who I was or what I might become. I was a fighter pilot, on a mission to save the world. It was an exciting and yet humbling thought.

    The following morning I couldn't wait to rejoin the team. I hoped they had each had similar experiences on their free day as it would help tremendously in lifting our spirits. Whip was the first to tell of her day. She had been with the Battle Tacticians and had asked questions about the tactics employed. She wanted to know what other methods or weapons Command might have up their sleeves.

    One of the key things she had come back with was that the alien craft had comm systems that functioned similar to ours. In the darkness of space they were limited to the speed of light for their communications just as we were.

    We had captured transmissions from their ships. It was heavily encrypted along with being in a language we couldn't understand. Our cryptologists had worked day and night to crack the codes, but had yet to make any headway.

    When fighting in space where the distances were potentially huge, communications could take minutes if not much longer to reach their target. Whip discussed this fact with Paige during our entire morning break. Paige was giddy having someone to talk physics with. During their discussion I felt lucky that I was able to understand how to tie my own shoes.

    Pop had come back beaming with ideas for reactor upgrades. For now he would be stuck with only modifying his sketches. He had hopes of one day being able to apply those mods to our craft. He was a sharp guy but none of us looked forward to being a guinea pig for his experiments.

    Bigg spent the day with his son Chris. They had been going over repair prospects for Defender A3. The damage had been significant enough that it would be permanently grounded and only used for spare parts. The sensor arrays were shot.

    It would take more time and expense to remove and repair the damaged rings, sensors and their housings than it would to build a new craft. Besides, parts were in high demand.

    I still wondered how they got the craft from the chamber to Regents Field and back. I reasoned that it was possible that Regents was right on top of us. Of course with the speed the Defenders could move at we could also be a thousand kilometers away.

    After getting once again connected to the DSim we were ready to start level-two scenarios. Level two would involve more alien fighters and a few out-of-atmosphere runs. The week was spent running through and conquering level-two. My favorite mission was scenario 2.8. After clearing out a pod of drones we were sent to inspect a warehouse.

    Upon arrival everything looked peaceful. After flying slowly around the warehouse we were attacked by about a thousand alien tripods and several hundred drones at once. The doors and windows of the warehouse flew open and the alien tripods and drones came out like angry ants from an anthill. They were everywhere and we were taking heavy fire.

    The battle lasted an hour before we finally had the alien sims on the defensive. Red then told us that this could possibly be the type of scenario we would be facing when their main fleet arrived.

    If the fleet was as big as it appeared, the thousand tripod scenario might have been a minimal effort. Either way, it was more like a video game than a real mission. The one thing that always stuck in the back of my mind was that it still was not live. We would not be at risk of actually dying that day.

    The following day a second real mission had been scheduled. We were again invited to sit in on the effort as we had completed DSim levels one and two without another death. This time they would be going after the one previously damaged alien fighter.

    The fighter had taken up position over Japan. Each of the major cities had a massive battery of coil guns run by the United States. We were unwilling to give up the technology, so agreements had been reached where we would provide the manpower and technology.

    The soil where the battery was located had been deeded to the US for so long as the battery was to be in operation. It was designed to prevent rogue regimes from trying to claim sovereignty over them and take the technology for themselves.

    It was complicated and there were always political complaints, but the peoples of the world were largely happy to have them. It was also the only thing keeping the current set of visitors at bay.

    Real mission two began just as the previous one had. The lost crews and fighters had been replaced and a strategy for the mission had been practiced in the DSims for the previous week.

    The Defender squad was launched and then raced out to a location 100 million kilometers away... almost to the planet Mars. The squad had taken the heading towards their rendezvous point and turned off their BHDs at the half way mark. It had been determined by our Intelligence Corps that the aliens had no way of tracking a Defender when the BHD was off.

    Without the BHD running it was hoped that the Defenders could take up position near Mars and then fire off seven of the active skin nukes in a pattern. The trajectories had been plotted and re-plotted so that the nukes would travel around Mars while using its gravitational pull to slingshot the nukes back towards Earth, and specifically back towards the damaged alien fighter.

    Since the aliens had taken up stationary positions, it was hoped that the nukes would round Mars, return to the position of the alien craft and then detonate. It was an ingenious plan if it worked. The timing was critical. The nukes would have to be armed with a timer, their skin activated and then fired at Mars.

    Since the launching of the active skin nuke was a detectable event it was hoped that the alien craft would not be able to determine what the Defenders were doing from their distance. It was bold and ambitious and was also the only idea that had been brought to the Battle Planners that did not significantly endanger our crews.

    The nukes were fired and if all went well the outcome would be known in precisely 47 minutes. As a diversionary tactic the squad then split with three Defenders going in one direction and the remaining four heading another.

    The 47 minutes soon became 25, then five and then one. A timer ticked away on everyone's screen. When the nukes were within the final few seconds of their target the skin would deactivate and the nukes would detonate.

    The planners were all on edge because one major drawback to the plan was that if the seven nukes detonated late they would sink through the atmosphere and detonate just off the coast of Japan.

    Since no other nation of the world was currently involved in the mission down in the chamber it was feared that it would cause an international incident. But, our Command thought those fears were easily justifiable when it came to war with the alien craft.

    No other nation knew of the Defenders or our active skin technologies. When the previous mission had concluded with a nuclear explosion destroying one of the alien fighters the nations of the world had been screaming at us to know what had happened and exactly how it had been done. Our response had been anything but revealing.

    When the counter hit ten seconds I could sense the nervousness in the room. Moments later the seven nukes detonated right on target. There was a momentary bright flash in the night skies off of Japan that could be seen from the Philippines to Korea to deep inside mainland China.

    The target had been destroyed and the diplomatic phones at the State Department were soon ringing off their hooks. The problem for the State Department was that they had no knowledge of what was happening. Our entire program was still as covert as a program could possibly be.

    A statement was soon released through the White House with minimal details. Another alien craft had been destroyed. They were then down two. The media was in a frenzy trying to get details but none were forthcoming. We were at war and that information was privileged.

    As a consequence of our small victory the remaining two alien fighters soon joined forces. They also began making random movements. Our active nuke strategy was now useless. I wondered how it was that the planners had not foreseen that event.

    It seemed such an ingenious method for taking out the remaining three and it had been largely wasted on one. When we left the Battle Room that was the exact discussion going on between all the Tacticians. Some of the words being exchanged were very heated.

    We returned to our DSim to continue our training. Level three brought with it a new twist. We would be competing blindly against another crew. Level three had 126 scenarios to choose from. The crew with the most points would earn credits to be used at a later date. We weren't told what those credits would be for, but we were assured they were indeed useful.

    The first DSim scenario selected was called "Moonbase Run". We would lift off to a designated point at which time we were to put into action our own battle plan. The "Moonbase Run" scenario consisted of first getting past an alien fighter and then attacking an alien base. More specifically it was to destroy a designated drone factory on the Moon.

    We had no idea if the aliens even had such a factory, but it was thrown into a scenario and we wanted a chance to destroy it. We had been paired up with crew A33 who were much further along in their DSim training than us. I was excited by the chance to take on another team but wondered if we were being set up. A33 had just finished level-five.

    The Moon base itself was backed up against a steep crater wall and was defended by much more powerful gravity weapons than the ones on the alien fighters. We had been given two hours to plan our strategy before the scenario would begin. After scratching our heads for most of the two hours we were left with no real plan of action.

    We would be winging it as we went. This earned some grumbles from Red, but he had been directed to stay out of our way. It was a test of not only our skills of flying, but of thinking on our feet. As the scenario began I tried to ensure the others that we were going to win. All I received in return was empty stares.

    When both ships had reached their initial rally points the scenario began. There was not just one alien fighter, but one that we each had to do battle with. As soon as we headed towards the sitting alien craft it began to move in a random pattern. Whip had one active nuke ready so we decided to take pot luck shot with it.

    As soon as the nuke was launched the alien fighter turned hard in our direction and came on at full speed. I flipped our ship and pushed the throttle to full. We slowed dramatically and then began a rapid acceleration. In level-three scenarios we had use of 50% throttle. But our spur of the moment plan was not well thought out and the alien fighter soon came within striking distance before we had a chance to flee.

    Its first shot took out all five rings of our BHD and the second shot, from less than a kilometer away, overwhelmed the active skin. We were dead within one minute of the scenario's beginning.

    Crew A33 was much more prudent in their approach. They kept a distance while laying out three active nukes. They then attempted to draw the alien fighter in to where the active nukes were laying. The strategy failed and crew A33 spent the next hour simply running around trying to keep their distance from the fighter. The timed scenario ended with an alien victory because neither target had been destroyed.

    The scenario was run three more times and each time it ended with a similar result. We would engage and be easily defeated while A33 played keep away. It was on our fifth try that Bigg had a suggestion. Once at our rally point we would launch an active nuke. This time however the nuke would stay stationary next to our ship.

    I would then pilot the ship so that the nuke was centered in front of the BHD. Bigg would push our own gravity wave out in front of the BHD allowing us to push the active nuke in front of us.

    The first active nuke was not armed to go off but only to become unshielded after a three minute push. We needed practice. I entered the parameters into the flight computer and then pushed the stick forward. For three minutes I made modest maneuvers while the active nuke supposedly was riding just in front of us.

    When the three minutes came to an end the active skin on the nuke shut down and our sensors showed it to still be riding on the gravity wave in front of us. We calculated our distance and speed to the waiting alien fighter and then reset the timer on the nuke. This time it was armed for detonation.

    When the active skin enabled we turned the ship at a ten degree angle to the side of the alien fighter and then accelerated. While still at a very long distance from the enemy fighter we turned so that our path was momentarily aimed directly at it.

    At that moment I slowed and veered hard left. Since the alien fighter had not detected an active nuke launch and since we were not coming at it in a threatening manner it remained in its initial stationary position. We watched our countdown timer as the invisible silent nuclear weapon closed in on the fighter. Our calculations had been perfect as the simulated alien fighter disappeared in a brilliant flash of light.

    Team A33 was still working hard at their game of cat and mouse with their fighter. Our next move was to take out the Moon base. This is where Whip made her contribution to our mission.

    Instead of firing our weapons and having them easily deflected by the alien gravity weapon Whip had come up with a different plan. We would approach the base from its blind side behind the crater wall and then fire two of our remaining nukes into that crater wall. The active skin would allow a nuke to bury itself deep within the rock and when the detonation occurred we hoped to let the rock do the work for us.

    As an extra precaution we would also fire our remaining nuke directly at the base with a five second delay. If the initial nukes collapsed the crater wall as planned the final nuke would only be wasted powder, but well worth the extra precaution.

    Within two minutes of Whip spelling out her plan we were putting it into motion. I moved our position to the far side of the Moon and began our attack. Two active nukes were launched followed by our remaining one five seconds later. I banked hard away and began to make distance at full throttle.

    Eight seconds later the first two nukes found their target and detonated. While the gravity of the Moon was not sufficient to give the falling rock the momentum it needed to overwhelm the enemy shielding the push from the nuclear explosions was.

    The crater wall collapsed and the Moon base was destroyed in a storm of rock. Five seconds later the last active nuke detonated in another spectacular white flash. We had completed "Moonbase Run".

    In a final gesture I sped outward from the Moon and then turned towards where A33 was still being chased by its alien fighter. Again I pushed us to full throttle at a slightly off angle from the alien craft. When we reached one quarter light speed I shut off the BHD and hid our sensor array making us invisible to the enemy.

    I did a quick calculation with the ships computer and then at the very last possible second turned on the BHD and adjusted course. The alien fighter was engaging A33 and was unable to adjust to our showing up behind it in time. Our BHD clipped a small portion of the fighter’s tail knocking it into a violent spin.

    The resulting high speed collision coupled with the fighter swinging its gravity weapon around instantly overwhelmed our skin. We were nothing but space dust in less than a pico-second.

    Team A33 was quickly able to counter attack the damaged alien fighter ending its reign of terror over them. My crew was yelling at me for getting us killed, but I was sitting with a big smile on my face.

    The DSim shut down and Paige and the other handlers came in to unhook us from the system. Red was waiting when we exited the back of the DSim. Whip and Bigg were still yelling at me while Pop displayed his usual grin.

    Red came up to me and stood looking me in the eye. He asked why I had done that and I told him we were told to do maximum damage and that I was not leaving fellow fliers to fend for themselves.

    Red then held up his hand as he received an incoming audio message. We were once again being summoned to the Commanders office. This time I wondered if I would be in for a medal.
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    We sat down once again in General Buck’s office. The General circled around our chairs stopping briefly behind mine. I expected a pat on the back but got nothing. The General then sat on the front of his desk looking at us. He began to discuss the Moonbase Run mission. At first I was giddy with excitement of the praise that was to come.

    But, praise was nowhere to be found. The General went over one mistake after another and then began to ride me about why I had gone on the suicide run at the end. He preached about how I had thrown away the lives of my crewmates and lost a valuable ship in the process. His words were that Team A33 was fully capable of exiting the scenario without being harmed... they had been doing it all day.

    General Buck then said that he wanted to congratulate us on winning a previously un-won scenario, but he could not because we were dead. And, despite his better judgment we were being moved up in schedule to level-nine.

    Level nine would put us only one month from activation as fully flight qualified. Flight qualified meant that we would be going up against the real thing. There would be no restarts from live mistakes. My prior giddiness had quickly turned to a nervous feeling in the pit of my stomach. I was a good pilot, but I was not mentally ready to go up against a real alien fighter.

    The General then let us in on a secret. The bulk of the alien fleet was indeed still close to two years away but there was another advance set of ships coming that would likely arrive within four months.

    This was the primary reason we were being moved up in level. The top six crews had jumped six levels and the rest had jumped three. New batches of recruits were arriving on a weekly basis.

    I asked the General if we knew what the makeup of the advance fleet was and he replied that it consisted of two large ships, of about a half kilometer in diameter. They were only guessing that each had a complement of fighters although we had no way of knowing how many.

    We left the general's office in a somber mood. Suddenly our casual DSim attempts at completing missions alive took a hard turn. We would now have to plan diligently and execute with precision each and every time we entered a scenario. Level nine would also be our first cooperative missions. We would have to coordinate our efforts with up to three other crews.

    I could multitask within a small group but it was not my strong suit. I would also likely be answering to a squad commander. By the time we arrived back at the DSim my head was swimming with negative thoughts.

    We still had our final two hours of the day ahead. The handlers connected us back into the ship and Red gave us a quick briefing on the ongoing scenario that we were about to join into midstream.

    As we raced around in our first level-nine scenario we attempted to use some of the tricks we had used earlier in the day. They failed miserably as the main simulation computer had learned from its earlier mistakes. We ended our shift with two quick deaths. The deaths that day had been our first deaths other than my suicide run since we had first begun at level-one.

    During the two hour fraternization time we all huddled at a table in the corner of the lounge. It was beer Friday for Pop, but he had no interest in it. It seemed that once again the spirit of the team had been sucked out, leaving our fight shriveled up and near death.

    At that moment I decided it was up to me to try to change our eroding attitudes. I looked at the mopers sitting around the table and I then banged my fist on it loudly. I did not chastise any one person. I instead began to talk of the team and how far we had come.

    I talked about us winning scenarios that no other team had come close to winning. I talked about how we had already been pushing the limits of the scenarios and that it did not matter if we died every day from here until the end of training. It only mattered after.

    This war we were in was bigger than us. We were fighting not only for our survival, but for the survival of Mankind. I then tried to turn the focus to something positive. I asked each of the others to try to come up with one new strategy, move, weapon or just any idea per day. It was a tall order but I had already seen what this crew was capable of.

    I asked everyone to take ten minutes and then toss out an idea, any idea, no matter how crazy it sounded. We only had one month left to try them out in simulation. After that it would be against the real thing.

    When our contemplation time ended I started with the handlers. Bigg's handler chimed in first. He had been toying with an idea about how to extend our shields. He reasoned that if we could build a mini unmanned vehicle and pack it with the alien gravity tech, a mini BHD and a nano-reactor to power it we might be able to extend our shielding further out by sending the small ship out away from our own.

    We discussed the prospects of building our own RPV and I flagged it in my audio recorder, starting a list of our new possibilities. Bigg would talk to his son about getting the components together to build one.

    Next up was Pop's handler. She had been thinking about the reclamation suits and specifically about what it would take to build a backpack unit that would function in the same way as the ship’s system.

    If we needed to land and exit the ship for any length of time we would have a built in food supply that could potentially last weeks. It might be useful in a survival type scenario. Whip's handler then moved in with an idea for removing the propulsion part of the missile and just having the nuclear warhead and timer surrounded by the active skin.

    It would save time in manufacturing and room aboard our already crowded Defenders. Again, I flagged the idea for further review. Paige then looked at me with pursed lips. I asked her if she had anything at all. She then began to give us a physics lesson in quantum entanglement.

    Back in the day of the S.A., physicists had come across a strange phenomenon, Quantum Entanglement. QE was where two like particles could be bound together by a strange and unusual force. If one particle was put in one state the other would instantly transition to the opposite state of the first one. The geniuses of the day were not sure why it happened, but only that it did. Many years of research had gone into discovering the secret, but no answers had come forth.

    If you took the two entangled particles and moved them far far away from one another, the QE stayed intact. Change the state of one and the other instantly changed too. After 20 years as a hot topic in physics it had been relegated to only the occasional fringe physicist taking an interest in it.

    Many had attempted to use it to send data instantly between two points only to be confounded with the randomness of the initial states. As Paige continued to try to explain it to us my eyes glazed over. Most of what she was saying was well beyond the physics knowledge of the rest of us.

    As she continued schooling us on QE I stepped in with a question. Why was it that she had brought the subject up? Was there some way we could make use of it. Her response was a definite maybe. She had been working on a theory that if we could start with a particle in a known state we might be able to then use that information. With the power of the magnetic fields used in the Sodium reactors it might be possible to set the initial particle state to whatever we wanted.

    As she continued to explain her reasoning my eyes began to wander and my brain was soon tuning the conversation out. I then got a small balled up fist to my shoulder and a scowl from Paige. I abruptly apologized and then moved on to an idea of my own.

    Why was it that we could not wrap a Defender in BHD rings allowing us to turn instantly in any direction? It would certainly add to my ability to pilot the ship during battle. The alien vessels outmaneuvered us in every way except for speed.

    Pop reasoned that it was because of the power it would take to keep all the rings running. The reactor on the Defender was already being taxed at full capacity. We would need a second or third reactor and they were in short supply... as were the BHD rings.

    Pop was up next with his previous Sodium feed idea. He thought it would be possible to increase the Sodium throughput into the reactor thereby increasing its output by as much as 15%.

    It would not be enough to power another set of rings but it would give us some headroom if we came up with a need. I asked Pop to check back with the scientists and techs in the power research area to see if they could possibly work up a prototype.

    I then moved on to Bigg. He and Whip had put forth the idea previously of the possibility of using the gravity shield to push a black hole out away from the ship. We had concluded that the gravity wave did not react with black holes in the manner one would think. The wave was instead absorbed by the black hole leaving no trace behind.

    Bigg and Whip had been discussing a new variant of that idea. Would it be possible to put a single ring BHD into a small pod powered by a nano-reactor and then launch that pod with its one black hole towards an alien craft?

    The hope would be that the BHD would pass through the alien gravity wave and then cut through the ship. We all sat for a moment soaking that one in. I soon flagged it as our number one prospect and then asked Bigg and Whip to make a priority of researching the idea on our next free day.

    With our audio implants we each had a recording of the conversation that we could play back at will. I forwarded my flags to each of the others before we headed off to our personal quarters. After my sonic shower I lay down on the anti-grav mattress and wondered if I would be able to sleep given the day’s events. What I didn't know was that Paige had set my suit to administer a small sedative that would automatically be dosed when 10PM arrived.

    She reasoned that a rested pilot was a more alert pilot. I was soon dreaming of some nonsensical argument with a childhood friend. Paige knew I would be in need of a full rest for our continued level-nine training.

    The following morning we were again teaming up with four other crews. The first mission of the day was against a single medium sized ship plus its escort of four fighters. A winning scenario was one that inflicted any significant damage. Crew A1 had been in on the only time in this scenario when an alien fighter had been destroyed. DSim losses were always heavy.

    The medium size ship was about 500 meters in diameter. The gravity wave that it could muster was much more powerful than that of an alien fighter. If we came within 15 km we would take severe damage.

    I consulted Red on what we were allowed to do in the DSim when it came to modifying our equipment. He told us we could try to do just about anything, but the program was fairly strict on what it would actually allow. If it was possible in the real world we might be able to do it in the DSim.

    Before the mission began, I talked with Pop about modifying our reactor. If he could simulate his reactor feed idea we would have a 15% power boost available to us. I asked Bigg and Whip if there was any way to modify one of our missiles with a nano-reactor and a single BHD ring. We only had 20 minutes to work with but they were both very good at improvisation.

    When we lifted off, Pop was still at work at his console while Bigg and Whip had managed to remove a missile warhead to make room for a reactor and a BHD ring. Whip was busy at her console trying to program the single sensor on the ring as a guidance mechanism.

    We reached a rally point just outside of the atmosphere when the squad commander of A26 began giving orders. We were to proceed to the right flank of the big ship from our current position and harass the fighters.

    A29 had been given the same orders for the left flank. A26 and A22 would be going straight in attempting to fire whatever they could at the big ship while trying to keep their distance. Pop then gave us the go ahead with his reactor mod. We put the extra power towards our gravity wave shield.

    When we reached our waypoint we were given the go ahead to commence harassment. As the first fighter rapidly approached I began my evasive maneuvers. With the reactor gain we were seeing that our shield would be working at 180%. I did some quick calculations which showed we should be able to pass within a kilometer of an alien fighter without sustaining significant damage.

    On our first pass we managed a two kilometer pass with Bigg working the shield while Whip fired off two missiles and a salvo from the coil guns. The missiles were easily destroyed but to our surprise the alien craft had difficulty with the coil guns.

    We swung around and attempted a second flyby and this time came in just under the kilometer barrier that I had calculated. The result being that we lost one of our ring sensors to the alien gravity wave.

    But, there was benefit to the close pass. The alien fighter had taken a deflected hit to its right side. It briefly exhausted gas and debris of some sort before seeming to recover.

    One thing I was able to pick up on the sensors was that it had chassis tripods attached that had immediately begun repairs. It was an unfair advantage that the aliens had over us. We had to return to base if we were in need of having anything external repaired.

    We made another pass at the alien fighter and again managed another hit although with no apparent damage. Another sensor was lost from that engagement. Whip then announced that the missile modified with the reactor and BHD was ready to fire. I hoped that at a minimum it would be a good distraction.

    Whip touched the holo-display in front of her and the BHD guided missile was away. On its first pass it came too wide to be of any threat but it quickly circled back in. The alien fighter turned directly towards it and used the full force of its gravity wave to attempt to destroy the missile. The BHD cut right through the gravity wave.

    The single black hole driving the ship towards the enemy fighter was absorbing the full force of the gravity weapon. The missile struck the fighter just to the right side of dead on and drilled itself into the hull of the ship.

    There was no detonation. The warhead had been removed. The missile eventually worked its way out the back of the ship and began to circle around for another charge. The fighter was now dead in space. Its propulsion system had been taken out.

    I came straight in and Whip fired all four coil guns at once. The fighter was able to deflect two of the rounds but the other two found their target. The alien fighter disintegrated and we passed through its debris cloud.

    A26 and A22 had not been able to come close to the big ship as they were busy with three fighters of their own. A29 had not been so lucky and had taken a death blow from a fighter. Whip quickly began conversion of two more missiles. We were down to three sensors but all other systems were in perfect working order. I moved out to a safe distance from the main ship while awaiting the conversion.

    By the time we were ready, A22 had also been destroyed and A26 was fleeing for its life. I turned our Defender towards the big craft and punched it to full throttle. When we were within missile range Whip let fly the two new conversions along with two of our nukes. She then pulled the first missile up on her holo-display and gave it a new mission. The first missile turned and made a direct assault on the larger ship.

    The alien ship made every effort to deflect and destroy the incoming missiles but the black holes worked their wonders. All three mods hit their target and soon disappeared into its hull.

    The two nukes were easily knocked from their trajectories and destroyed without detonation. I could not see it but I knew the others had big smiles on their faces. We turned and headed for a safe distance.

    It only took moments for the other three fighters to abandon A26 and focus their energies on us. We radioed the secret of our missile mod to A26 and they began immediate alterations of their own.

    We could easily keep the three alien fighters at a distance while we worked. As I watched the large alien ship on my monitor I wondered why it was not in pursuit of us. I wondered if perhaps the BHD missiles had done some damage.

    It took Whip and Bigg 12 minutes to alter another four missiles which we immediately launched. This time we targeted the alien fighters that were in pursuit. The first two missiles found their targets while the third and fourth were broadsided and destroyed by the third fighter. All three ships continued their charge.

    I made a flip turn and headed towards the closest fighter. When we reached the one kilometer range Whip fired all four coil guns. The fighter was able to deflect the rounds but not until it was knocked into a spin.

    On our next pass close to the second fighter we again fired all four coil guns at the one kilometer range. The cost was two more of our sensors, but the fighter was eliminated.

    Just as I turned to make a run on the third fighter it blew up in a bright flash of glory as one of the BHD missiles had again found its mark. Whip quickly reprogrammed the remaining BHD missile to target the last alien fighter.

    We turned back towards the fighter and lined up for another run. This time we weren't so lucky. We lost our last sensor and our holo-displays quickly went dark. The DSim then did a reboot which told us we were dead.

    A26 had managed to mod six missiles and launch them towards the big craft. All six hit their marks and drilled their way into its hull. After the first missile exited, turned and came back in the alien craft got wise. The other missiles were easily destroyed as they made their way out the other side of the ship from where they had entered.

    The commander of A26 then called a retreat and returned to base unscathed. The scenario had lasted nearly two hours from beginning to end. No other set of teams had made it past 20 minutes.

    Red then came on-board to congratulate us. The usually quiet and soft spoken man was grinning from ear to ear. Four DSims had managed to take out four fighters and had done substantial damage to a medium sized enemy ship. We were immediately called to a debriefing with the Battle Tacticians.

    The briefing was long and detailed. Every command and action was dissected and questioned. The scientists and their technicians were all over our missile modifications in an attempt to apply them to the real Defenders. When the briefing concluded we were given our third invitation to General Buck's office. This time I hoped for a better outcome than the last.
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    General Buck was in a much better mood. He wasted no time in congratulating us on our ingenuity. Our third time around, there were no criticisms of our mistakes. The General went on to say that if a BHD modified missile was possible, we might have our first really useful weapon to take into battle.

    It was a simple idea so I asked why it had not been thought of before. The General's response was that there was so much going on at the moment that there had been little time for new ideas. Everything had been focused on getting what we had to work.

    He was particularly impressed with Pop's mod to the reactor feed. We then began to discuss some of our brainstorming thoughts from the night before. Again, the General was impressed.

    Bigg then asked a question about how much extra room would be needed on-board to add a second reactor. He reasoned that if one was available for only the shields we might be able to get close enough with the coil guns to really do some damage to the alien fighters.

    The General replied that he would have one of his aids look into it, but at the moment components were in short supply. A big part of our fighting ability at the moment was tied to getting in close for a shot with the coil guns. He also reminded us that although our "Black Budget" was substantial, there was still only so much money you could print without crushing the nation's economy.

    We left the meeting all on a high. It was our first sim encounter with a larger ship and we had come away with a minor victory. For us it was at the cost of our simulated lives, but that was a cost we were willing to bear. When we got into live combat I was sure we might feel differently.

    The remainder of the week was spent rerunning the same medium ship scenario. Each time we managed to get just that much closer to annihilating it. Each time we came away dead.

    On our free day it was decided to once again dedicate it to brainstorming. Pop left with his handler to visit with the reactor scientists. General Buck had set up a special meeting for him.

    Bigg and his handler headed off to again visit with his son. This time he wanted to talk tech about the BHD drives that his son was busily installing. Whip left for the Battle Room with her handler to discuss strategies with the Tacticians. That left Paige and I to figure out what we should do. I didn't want to drag her into watching more DSim scenarios, so I asked if she had any interests... she did.

    She took me by the hand and led me to a development lab where they had given her a small space for her tinkering. I wondered if she was still heavily involved with her entangled particles ideas and the bench setup she had going told me that she was.

    There were all sorts of strange pieces of equipment stacked on top of each other which were hooked up to a set of what looked like BHD rings. Paige flipped on a power switch and then grinned from ear to ear. It was the first time I had seen her usual business like personality change to one of child-like excitement.

    She handed me a pair of goggles and a heavy leaded vest. I had no idea of why they were needed, but I put them both on. She turned back to the bench, flipped a few switches and then slowly turned a dial. I wondered if she was about to awaken Frankenstein. She then pressed a button and a series of bright flashes sent me jumping backwards.

    She next turned the power off and stepped in with a small hand-held instrument of sorts. Again I jumped back as she raised her arms straight up and let out a howl. Whatever it was that had been accomplished was apparently a big success.

    She babbled on about the particles and coupling and about how she had fused three of them together. She said it was a major breakthrough, but I had no real idea of what it was she was talking about. I stood with a smile and nodded my head whenever she looked directly at me.

    She then held out her hand and asked me for the audio processor from my audio implant. I wanted to ask why, but I knew the answer would be over my head, so I just complied.

    She took the processor and set it on the bench in front of her. Again she powered up some of the stacked equipment and began tinkering with knobs and switches. After 20 minutes of standing and watching I decided it was time to seek out a chair.

    I sat for an hour as she babbled away, talking to herself as she worked. I began to daydream. I was soon walking in the soft sand on a secluded stretch of beach. Paige walked with me hand in hand. She would run down to the water just getting her toes wet and then let out a giggled as she ran back to me away from the next incoming wave. It was sappy, but I was surely enjoying it.

    I then took her in my arms and we came together in an embrace. We kissed passionately. We slowly dropped to our knees and then rolled onto the wet sand. We continued to kiss as the incoming waves gently washed over our feet.

    I was then startled as someone's hand grabbed my shoulder and demanded my attention. It was Paige and she had finished her tinkering. She handed me back my audio processor and motioned for me to put it back in.

    As the audio processor came to life I heard the familiar boot-up chirp. Paige then told me to switch to channel 1647. When I did I heard a short warble sound. She said to answer it so I did. What came next was completely unexpected.

    Paige stood in front of me looking directly at my face. She had a pursed smile. I then heard her speak over the audio channel but she was not moving her lips. She now had my full attention.

    She explained that the audio implant was already wired to accept "thought spoken" commands. That was how we switched channels, powered it on and off and generally used it to communicate.

    Normally the spoken word was needed for a full conversation as the audio processor only handled the most basic of thoughts. The majority of its processing power was needed for the wireless communications that were used to connect to others.

    With the quantum entanglement handling the wireless communications part the audio processor was free to fully translate our thoughts into words. She had modified the software to translate and then broadcast those thought commands. Over the implant her voice sounded a bit different, but it was unmistakably hers.

    She then went on to explain that she had embedded the fused entangled particles in both her processor and mine, wired to channel 1647. We could have instant thought communication with each other no matter where we were.

    She went on to explain that if I were to hop in a real Defender and fly to Jupiter we would still have instant communication with one another over channel 1647. For everyone else it would take 45 minutes for their communication to reach that distance and another 45 minutes for the response to return. This was instant.

    My first thought was to go find Bigg, Whip and Pop and see if we could play a few pranks on them. I then had the sudden realization of just how valuable a discovery this was. We would be able to have instantaneous communications between our commanders and our crews as they flew around the solar system fighting the aliens. We knew that they had radio communications similar to ours which took time to travel large distances. This would give us a huge advantage in this area. And we needed all the advantages we could get.

    I grabbed Paige by the arms and then planted another big kiss on her lips. Again she was unready for it, but again she mustered a smile. I took her by the hand and quickly led her out the door of the lab.

    We were headed to see David Brenner. When we reached the outside of his office, there were two military guards there, our entry was blocked. I demanded to see my Great Uncle, but they were having none of it without an appointment. So I got loud.

    The result was that I was quietly subdued and backup was called for. I then thought spoke to Paige to try to beat on his door. She complied and was quickly taken down by the second guard.

    While we both lay handcuffed on the ground with a knee in each of our backs the door to David Brenner's office opened. Two Generals and their aids then stepped out and looked down at us as they walked by.

    David Brenner then stepped up to the door and looked down at me. After shaking his head he instructed the guards to release us. We were then invited into his office as he assured the guards that we were harmless.

    David began with his normal pleasant greeting and then remarked that his time was short as he was expected at another meeting. But, he was curious as to what was so urgent that I had risked arrest for it.

    I then began to talk, trying to explain what Paige had just created. After a minute of getting nothing but a confused look from him I then asked him to participate in a short experiment. I had Paige stand between us with my back turned to them both. I then asked him to take an electronic pad and write down a number and to then show it to her. He remarked again that his time was short and that he had an important meeting to attend.

    I begged him to stay and that what I was about to show him was well worth his valuable time. He wrote down a number and showed it to Paige. I blurted out the number for which I got silence.

    We then repeated the process three more times with me repeating the number correctly after each time it was written. I then told him that just to eliminate any suspicion I would leave the room for a moment and then return with the next number. Again I repeated what he had written.

    David Brenner then said he'd had enough of the games and to just tell him what this grand discovery was. I turned to Paige for an explanation. Paige began talking about quantum entanglement and how she had been pursuing it for years. Even though modern science had long ago relegated it to being nothing more than a curiosity and a gimmick, she had continued experimenting.

    She then explained how she had fused three entangled particles together and then fused their three entangled mates together as well. David sat up in his chair as Paige was now speaking his language. She explained how she had integrated those particles into our audio processors and into a specific channel. Paige then asked David to whisper something in her ear... anything. He did.

    I then repeated back to him what he had said. David then stood with an amazed look on his face as Paige reminded him that the entangled particle link was instantaneous... over any distance.

    He then accessed his own implant and ordered an emergency meeting of the Senior Science Council. He escorted us out into the hallway of doors and into a large conference room just down the hall from his office.

    Within two minutes the 12 members of the Senior Council were hustling into the room and seating themselves at a large oval table. As soon as the last man sat David began to tell of the discovery.

    Paige gave another quick briefing of her work and the members of the council began to ask their questions. The questions went on for half an hour before David looked over at me and asked what part I had played in this immense discovery.

    I explained to him that I was only a bystander. I was then given the direction to return to whatever other important duties I had to do. I had basically been kicked out, but not before receiving a firm and again embarrassing thank you hug from my Great Uncle.

    I looked longingly at Paige as I walked out the door, wondering if I would see her again anytime soon. It was a long walk back to the DSims where I found Red hanging out with another crew. I had him connect me to the DSim for a few lonely scenarios to finish out the remainder of the day.

    The following morning I was disappointed when a new guy showed up to fill in for Paige. She was busy leading a new team of physicists and engineers in an attempt to recreate her instantaneous communications or what she termed as "QE comm".

    During her briefing she had explained to the Senior Science Council that it took four years to get the three pairs of entangled particles. It had taken her almost 120,000 tries before she had the pairs she needed to put her fusing theory into practice.

    I could not imagine having the patience for such an endeavor. Gimme-now or go away was more of my speed. I felt lucky to have had her by my side for as long as I had. She was indeed brilliant... like David Brenner.

    And like my Great Uncle she was kind and caring and unselfish. As far as I was concerned the world could not have enough people like her. Those types were the ones responsible for most of the great advancements of Mankind, the dreamers, thinkers and doers.

    I had arrived at the DSim that morning a bit early. I had hoped to have a few moments alone with Paige as she was normally the early bird. Instead I was greeted this morning by Chad. Chad was a tall dorky kid with a high squeaky voice. He was a chatty Cathy which coupled with his tone put me in a foul mood.

    After I sniped at him a couple times I had to stop myself. He was just here doing his job like the rest of us. I had no real cause to treat him in an unprofessional manner, even if I did have a strong desire to do so. I apologized after the second incident.

    Chad said that it did not bother him. He knew he could be a bit grating and talkative and I was not the first who had let him know. After that response we began to get along much better. Chad then showed that he knew his stuff when it came to being a handler. He had been the handler for the pilot of the first Defender that we had lost in battle. This was like a second chance for him to prove his worth to the program.

    Bigg soon showed up followed by Pop and then Whip. Bigg had spent the day with his son learning about the BHD drive. He was now well versed in not only how it functioned, but in how it was assembled, installed and magnetically balanced between the five rings that propelled a ship.

    Pop's day was spent with the reactor research group. They had been going over his ideas for an improved feed and had managed to get a prototype running that showed a 23% increase in power output. Pop was all grins.

    Whip's day had been less eventful. Her day was spent in study of tactical planning and more specifically on what were the best practices for weapons use that had come from the simulations. We still had very little real world weapons data as our engagements with the enemy fighters had been limited.

    I filled the crew in on Paige's discovery and accomplishment and then gave the bad news that we had probably lost her to the realms of research. Everyone warmly welcomed Chad.

    We were soon connected to our DSim and heavily involved in destroying the simulated enemy while trying to protect ourselves. Chad quickly proved his worth. At the completion of our second scenario I was startled by a warbling sound from my implant. It was Paige. I rolled my eyes at how quickly I had forgotten that we had a direct channel to one another.

    I answered and Paige began to detail her morning’s events. The team had agreed to leave the one QE comm channel between us intact and when not in use for testing it was available to us. I was elated at the news and took a bit of comfort in the fact that she had insisted that I keep my end of the connection. It gave me hope that she might harbor some of the same personal feelings for me that I had for her.

    She said she was unsure of when she would be able to talk again as they had been busily ordering truckloads of the equipment used to create entangled particles.

    At about 40,000 tries per entanglement it looked like the fleet would not be rolling out this new technology to the masses anytime soon. I thanked Paige for keeping me in the loop and we ended the conversation with a prolonged goodbye.

    As I turned to tell the others about Paige, Red chimed in with a shocker. One of the crewmen on Defender A15 had taken ill and a replacement offensive specialist was needed. My first thought was that we were going to lose Whip.

    Then Red barked out that I was to report to conference room D422 to meet with my new team. I was being called up to active duty early because of the QE comm device in my head.

    Channel 1647 was going to be tapped into by Battle Command at Paige's end and by the squadron at my end. We were to be a bridge for instant communications between the ground and our ships in battle.

    Chad had me unhooked and was congratulating me as we walked together towards D422. I was bothered that I had not been given the chance to say goodbye to my crew. Given that fact and that I was now heading into a completely new situation had my nerves on edge. Chad picked up on it during the walk and cut back on his normal chatter.

    Even though we had studied each position thoroughly I was not a weapons officer. I had little experience in the DSim on when to activate and deploy weapons when under the gun. I viewed my handful of scenarios training at it on level-one as wholly inadequate.

    When I arrived I was greeted by the A15 team and was immediately quizzed about the QE comm. I gave them my limited explanation after which we were thrust into a briefing of the upcoming mission.

    We had one week to train before an attempt was to be made at taking out the remaining two alien craft. I expected the new crew to be working me harder than a rented mule during that time. We practiced scenario after scenario of attacks against two alien fighters just to toughen us up.

    I was a wreck and made the same mistakes again and again. I began to doubt my ability to run my post. Was I going to be sent into battle where I would be a liability for my team instead of an asset? The thought clawed at my subconscious.

    The simulations were run with eight Defenders against two alien craft. Each time we had come away victorious but at the expense of more than half of our ships. It was beginning to look like a suicide mission.
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    On the morning of the planned attack we were assembled for a short briefing in room D422. Word then came down that A15 was to be used as a communications ship only. We would maintain a station well away from the action but close enough to keep Command's communications with the other Defenders near instantaneous. I wondered what the need was with the fighting taking place so close to Earth, where our communications were already near immediate.

    I was then told that the purpose of our being there was to work out any kinks with using channel 1647 as our comm link. For A15 it would not be much more than a training run. Go, park, sit and be nothing more than a comm channel.

    From the conference room we were taken into the hallway of doors and walked to an elevator at one end. The elevator took us down what I would guess was another four floors. We exited into a heavily guarded holding room for a thorough bio-identity check before being led through a heavy door into another room. The room contained another track with six large doors on the walls.

    One of the doors opened and a mini-bus sized vehicle rolled out on the tracks. We boarded the mini-bus, were strapped in tightly and the door closed behind us. Once again we were in complete darkness. I could then feel the movement of the vehicle as it began to spin slowly. After it stopped I could hear one of the doors opening and could then feel the mini-bus moving through the door.

    After the door closed behind us we sat quietly for several seconds. Then the dramatic acceleration began. We were pressed back in our seats through five solid minutes of increasing speed followed by another five minutes of deceleration. I could only imagine how far we had traveled. Moments after the mini-bus came to a stop it began to once again spin. When finished, we were left completely disoriented as to the direction we had come from.

    The door opened to a soft light and several crewmen came in to assist us in our exit. The eight members of team A15 were then hustled into the next room where another complete bio-identity scan was done.

    We were next herded through several more hallways and elevator rides before emerging in a hangar at Regents Field. The hangar housed the Defenders for the day's mission. There sat our loaf of bread with a big A15 sign sitting on an easel beside it.

    The adrenalin began to pump as we approached our ship. The Sodium oxide coating was almost pure white... it was a breathtaking sight. When first told of the coating I wondered why the Defender would not ignite and burst into flames if it came into contact with moist air.

    We had quickly learned that an extreme high temperature ionized bonding process allowed the coating to bind with the aluminum shell of the Defender in a way that repelled interaction with water. It was one of the only pieces of technology on the ship that I could grasp. That understanding was the first and only benefit I had ever derived from my chemistry degree.

    We boarded the Defender from the rear and made our way to our stations. It still felt strange to me to be sitting at the offensive post. Chad quickly had me buckled in and connected. The handlers exited, the door was closed and the Defender powered up. This was it. We were going into space to battle an enemy that to date had us outclassed and outgunned.

    I went through my checklist and reported my station status to the pilot. We had 40,000 rounds of tungsten coil gun pellets and a complement of eight BHD tipped active-skinned nuclear warheads.

    One new addition to the warheads had been an improved sensor that would allow better tracking of the alien vessels. The BHD warheads were now essentially fire and forget. The warhead would detonate if it came within 500 meters of its intended target. The advance would make my job much easier if my station was called upon. Pop up a screen, select a target, activate a warhead for delivery and then press a flashing yellow holo-button.

    The squadron of eight Defenders lifted from the ground and slowly made their way out of the hangar. Other than the slightest sensation of movement the experience was no different than that of a DSim.

    We taxied to a point, tilted straight up and within seconds we were leaving the atmosphere. We quickly reached a rendezvous point 150,000 km from the Earth. Orders were given and the seven Defenders advanced on the alien targets as our ship sat idle.

    Once the Defenders were within 40,000 km my combat display lit up. All 56 of the BHD warheads aboard the seven ships were fired at once. The image on my holo-display was insanity.

    The BHD nukes had immediately locked onto their targets and were closing in rapidly. The alien fighters began immediate evasive actions. The actions taken were unexpected. The fighters dove straight down into the atmosphere and headed towards the largest undefended city on the ground.

    Ground fighters would be scrambled to defend them and they would be no match for the alien craft. As a consequence of their tactic the BHD nukes all activated their fail-safe modes. The nuke would disarm, the sensors would disengage from their intended targets and the BHD drives would take the devices back to Regents field where they would land harmlessly.

    Nukes going off over a major city would not bring victory. Before my commander had the chance to stop me I took the initiative to launch two of our BHD nukes. They would sit silently for ten minutes with the active skin shielding their existence.

    I was quickly chastised for the move. The ground commander came on asking why I had wasted two of our weapons. I said that I had done it as a precaution in case the alien craft headed our way. Only moments had passed before the announcement was made that they were indeed coming after the seven Defenders that had fired upon them.

    I watched in anger as all seven ships turned tail and ran. They had already been given orders to evade and return to base. As the alien fighters shot up through the atmosphere they both made a hard turn and headed in our direction. Their angle of attack prevented us from returning directly to Regents field.

    As our pilot turned us away from the oncoming ships and accelerated I launched another BHD warhead with a one minute activation delay. I had programmed it to turn on and then seek out the nearest enemy fighter.

    Again the battle commander came on the comm asking what I was doing. I told him I was protecting my crew and taking a shot at eliminating the enemy. He again reiterated that our orders were to evade the enemy and return to base.

    I suggested to our pilot to take us for a swing around the Moon where we would have a chance of evading the attackers and then returning to Regents Field through our initial rendezvous point. I was initially denied my request until I told him of my plan.

    I reasoned that we had the two BHD warheads sitting there that we could possibly use against our pursuers. After a few moments of thinking about it he changed course for the Moon. At the same time that we turned the one minute delay on the last BHD warhead concluded and the warhead went active. It immediately turned and began its pursuit of the nearest alien fighter.

    We now had the two fighters chasing us and one BHD warhead chasing them. As soon as we passed behind the safety of the Moon we began a long arcing curve of a turn to get ourselves lined up to return to Regents Field through the initial rendezvous point.

    The two BHD warheads I had left in waiting had also been programmed to activate and seek the nearest alien craft. I had our pilot slow our speed slightly to allow our pursuers to think they were catching up. The closer they came to that point the better chances we had to unleash my surprise.

    The alien fighters slowly closed in on us as the one BHD warhead closed in on them. We passed the rendezvous point and seconds later the two BHD warheads activated. The alien fighters were caught between the three warheads. The fighters turned in opposite directions and began making sharp directional corrections.

    The BHD warheads were relentless in their pursuit. Again the alien craft had the turning radius advantage over us but the warheads continued to challenge. My battle display was a mosaic of wide turns and flashing beacons. The fighter with two BHDs in pursuit soon met its fate. Two bright flashes told the story as the fighter was turned into small bits of space junk.

    The second fighter began moving from side to side using its gravity weapon from about two kilometers distance. The tactic worked as the BHD soon lost its only sensor and the alien fighter was free to move away.

    I got on the comm and begged the battle commander to allow us to pursue. I was denied. We returned to Regents Field, landed and taxied into the hangar. I was dejected. On one hand I felt vindicated for my use of the BHD warheads while on the other I felt that I had not gone far enough. Had I launched one or two or three more we might have taken out the remaining alien fighter.

    As the rear door to the Defender opened I expected a screaming ground commander and a visit to the brig. Chad was the first handler in and he had orders. Our team was to wait there because General Buck was on his way up. I looked around the hangar with the external cameras and wondered what all the commotion was. The seven other Defenders were quickly being reloaded with BHD warheads.

    General Buck arrived a few minutes later. He came straight into our Defender and straight to my chair. After staring at me for a moment he then barked out an order. I was to be the offensive commander for the squadron.

    He congratulated our crew on an outstanding performance and set us as the lead Defender to go back up after the remaining alien fighter. General Buck then put his hand on my shoulder and squeezed hard. He remarked that I knew how to piss them off and get things done. He wanted me to give the orders as to what our next strategy would be.

    At first I was a little overwhelmed. This was a lot of responsibility being thrust upon me. Then I thought about what our mission was. We were defending our families, our homes, our freedom and our way of life.

    I wasn’t sure why but I was suddenly very confident of my ability to lead. That happy-go-lucky attitude I had always laid claim to now seemed like something I had seen in a movie. I was different… I felt... different.

    As soon as the General left I heard the warble sound from channel 1647. It was Paige calling to congratulate me. I told her I was happy to hear her voice and the remainder of the conversation ended up being nothing more than small talk. We again said our long goodbyes before the channel once again was given over to Battle Command.

    I had a difficult time getting the image of a smiling Paige out of my head. With her blonde hair, big brown eyes and the way she carried herself when she walked, I had not doubt that I was in love.

    My moment of Zen was soon broken as the other Defender commanders began to give status. Within minutes the BHD warheads had been replenished and the order to head out was given.

    This time three Defenders were sent ahead to take up position to prevent the lone alien fighter from diving into the atmosphere. It soon recognized what was happening and turned itself towards Epsilon Eridani at full throttle. It was fleeing.

    As soon as we exited the atmosphere we were in full pursuit. We were faster and would overtake our enemy within minutes. There was no where for it to run… or so we thought.

    It was headed towards the Asteroid Belt between Mars and Jupiter. If it was able to make it there it would gain a big advantage due to its maneuverability. The alien fighter could quickly turn to avoid collisions. We could not. I punched in the numbers on the battle computer and with our current rate of acceleration we would not be able to overtake our enemy in time.

    I asked for a comm link through to Pop. He came on all chatty about how was I doing and what was new. I told him I had an emergency and then asked if there was a way to modify the reactor feeds and how long would it take. We needed more power to the BHD drives.

    His reply was that it would take at least 20 minutes and that was if he was there and had the needed materials. I asked if there was any other way to boost power. The comm was silent for a moment and Pop came back with one other possibility. We could turn off the active skin and divert the extra power to the BHD drives.

    Pop added that we would not be able to move through atmosphere. He also reasoned that we would feel the affects of inertia should we choose to speed up or slow down.

    And his final thought was that it would be catastrophic if we were to collide with anything while traveling the speeds we would be traveling. Even debris the size of a pebble would punch through our aluminum skin making us pop like a balloon.

    I punched the numbers into the battle computer and they came back with us catching the alien fighter before it entered the Asteroid Belt. I consulted my crew as to what their thoughts were on deactivating the skin given the dangers. Their response was immediate. Do it.

    As the power was diverted I could feel the pressure of acceleration beginning to press me back into the seat. As the skin deactivated the change in inertia became almost crushing.

    Our reclamation suits attempted to compensate by increasing our oxygen intake and adding a counter pressure of their own. We needed three minutes of diverting the skin power to catch up to our prey.

    I was unsure if I could take the pain, but I was determined to try. I first encouraged the others to hang in there and then began to push harder with a speech about what this all meant. Why were we here at this moment in time? This was our moment… our calling. If we could catch and take out this fighter it would give us the remaining four months to prepare for the arrival of the larger ships.

    I then realized that my crew was unaware of the two larger advance ships. I told them what I knew which only helped to confirm the importance of our current mission.

    I watched a counter ticking down from one minute. It was excruciating and seemed to move at half the speed it should have. When the final seconds ticked by the power was restored to the active skin and the inertial affects quickly diminished.

    I programmed two BHD warheads with an angle of three degrees to the right and three degrees to the left. It would give us one pass at using our coil gun and getting out of there before the warheads both closed on the target.

    I powered up the coils and fired a test shot before engaging the enemy. The guns worked perfectly. We were traveling at just over half light speed. It was the fastest we had taken a Defender since they had been in service.

    The timing of firing the coil guns had to be precise. There was no way I could do it myself. The battle computer and sensors would have to earn their keep. I punched in the target and the weapon to use and the computer immediately responded with a precise countdown timer.

    I told the others we should all be proud of the risk we took to get to that point. It was our shot... our attempt at glory for all Mankind. The counter quickly descended to zero as we came within half a kilometer of the alien fighter. The four coil guns fired their rounds as we sped past our opponent.

    The fighter countered with its gravity weapon which caught us with a glancing blow. All but one of our BHD drives and one of our sensors were knocked offline. If those were lost it would be a death sentence. In addition, the active skin shut down and the hull of our ship had been heavily twisted... but, it held.

    Our one shot at fame had clipped the tip of the fighter’s nose greatly reducing its speed. Moments later the two BHD warheads closed in for the kill. Two bright flashes again told the story. For the first time in months our planet was no longer under the immediate threat from the alien forces.

    We had survived our kamikaze run only to find we were faced with a new danger. We were quickly approaching the Asteroid Belt with only one BHD and no active skin.

    Our pilot began a slow turn to change our trajectory. Without the active skin we would not be able to flip and use the BHD to decelerate. The change in inertia would crush us.

    We would instead plan a wide arc turning upwards away from the Asteroid Belt while maintaining our momentum. The turn would put us under two and a half G’s of force for the next three hours. The force was extremely uncomfortable but not life threatening. We all knew it would be over with soon, so no one complained.

    The ride home was long and slow. Without the active skin we had to decelerate slowly and drop through the atmosphere at a snails pace. More than 20 hours had passed before we were safely on the ground. We touched down on the tarmac and opened the rear door. Our Defender was no longer capable of hovering. Support teams raced out to remove us from our damaged craft.

    We were hurried back into the hangar riding on golf carts as several tugs connected themselves to Defender A15 to get it out of sight. I took one last glance back at our ship as the hangar door closed behind us.

    We were met in the hangar with cheers and applause from the ground crews as well as from the other seven Defender teams. It was a humbling display. Our moment of glory soon came and went as we were then moved to the elevator for our ride back to the chamber.

    When we arrived we were immediately taken into a conference room for a short debriefing. General Buck, David Brenner, Paige, Bigg, Whip, and Pop were all in attendance. The briefing turned out to be more of a celebration with everyone thanking us instead of asking questions about what we had done.

    Instead of a handshake David Brenner gave one of his embarrassing hugs. This time however, I was happy to receive it. I thanked my Great Uncle for the opportunity he had given me. I thanked him for all he had done through the years to safeguard us all.

    I had just flown halfway to Jupiter to risk my life doing battle with an alien invader and yet I was still humbled before him. I had only been able to do what I had because of his commitment, dedication and genius. He was the real hero.

    With the immediate alien threat gone my A15 crew was given a two day pass to do whatever they liked, so long as it was still confined to the chamber. I took the moment to turn to Paige. We embraced in a long passionate kiss. When we stopped I stood for a moment staring into her eyes.

    I then dropped to one knee and asked her to marry me… right then… right there. I did not have a ring to offer, but I would get one as soon as I could. She was shocked only for a moment before she responded with a resounding yes!

    Everyone in the room applauded. General Buck then stepped in and rewarded my moment of bravery by allowing us to go anywhere we wanted for our honeymoon. That included sites outside the chamber. He added one extra day to our pass for travel time.

    Within the hour the chamber chaplain was called in for the ceremony. The exchange of "I Do"s was short and to the point. I was then rushed into another room for the ghastly removal of my reclamation suit and a thorough hosing down.

    The Techs warned me that I would have to watch myself when it came time to go to the bathroom. After my time in the suit my body would have a tendency to want to go wherever I was and whenever I felt the urge. I assured them I would stay on top of it.

    Another Tech brought one of my uniforms that they had quickly cleaned and pressed. When I put it on I was surprised to find out how baggy it was. I had lost 36 pounds during my short time in the reclamation suit with Paige being in charge of my nutrition. It felt a bit strange without having the gel surrounding my body, naked almost. I was assured I would get used to it.

    We were then hurried back through the tunnel to Regents Field and put on a plane to Hawaii. General Buck let us know that an aid would be waiting for us in Honolulu with orders to purchase clothing or anything else we needed. I assured the General that we would not be in need of clothing for which I received a friendly smack from Paige. The honeymoon was short, but I was a happy happy man.
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    Upon our arrival back at the chamber the Techs immediately escorted me to a room where the reclamation suit was re-applied. I had only been out of it for three days and yet I had the same funky feeling I had when it had first been put on.

    I was then taken to a briefing room where a discussion was ongoing over the approaching advance fleet and what we might do to stop it. As I sat in my chair the questions came fast and furious. It was as if everyone thought I would have immediate plans as to what we should do.

    I had just spent three days with my mind in the clouds. Battle strategies were the last thing I had thought about. General Buck quickly stepped in taking over the discussion.

    The others attending were told to allow me a little time to re-acclimate to the situation as I was just returning from my honeymoon. I thanked the General and began to scan the material on the holo-display in front of me.

    The newest estimate was 116 days until the two large alien vessels arrived. New data suggested that they were traveling at 70% of light speed. Faster than we had been in a Defender thus far. Our scientists were unable to answer the question of exactly how fast we could go.

    The BHD would just continue to accelerate once full throttle was applied, but it would take time to reach light speed and we had not had the chance to travel in a straight line for that length of time.

    They were also unsure of what would happen as we approached the speed of light. No one had been there to know what the affects were. There was speculation that it was precisely the reason why the alien ships were unmanned.

    I thought it was nothing more than scientists gone wild with their theories. I had just traveled to 54% of light speed with no ill side affects. The discussion soon broke down into raised voices with the Planners and Tacticians trying to talk over one another. Again General Buck stepped in to cool things down.

    With a moment of silence I took the opportunity to speak. I asked why we had not sent a scout ship out towards the incoming fleet. The room was silent until one junior analyst spoke up.

    They had decided against it with the threat of alien fighters out there. And with the alien fleet at the distance they were and by the time we could get a ship out there it would only give us a few days of intel if we were able to achieve it at all.

    I then volunteered to take a crew on a mission to the incoming fleet. A quick calculation told me that we could be there in about six weeks giving us about two months of close-in intel. And with our instantaneous communications link I could relay live data and receive live orders while all the time keeping our ship at a safe distance.

    The Planners and Tacticians once again erupted in a battle of whom could talk the loudest. The General banged his fist on the conference room table and demanded attention. The room went dead silent.

    General Buck then gave the order. I was to assemble a crew and take a Defender on a scout mission to gather intel on the advance fleet. All resources necessary were to be geared towards making the scout mission a reality. It would launch that afternoon. The General then turned to me and suggested I go say a quick goodbye to my new bride. I would likely not be seeing her again for at least three months.

    I was dismissed and immediately made my way to the lab where Paige was hard at work on creating new pairs of entangled particles. I gave her the news and was first greeted with a look of disappointment. But it was war and she was fully aware of its consequences. We again said our long goodbyes followed by a prolonged kiss.

    I next headed for the DSim where Whip, Bigg and Pop were training with their substitute pilot. I gathered them and their handlers in confidence and told of the impending scout mission. I then told them they would be accompanying me.

    Pop let out a yell and the group came together for a big celebratory hug. I told them the mission was classified and that they could not mention it to anyone. They were all to report immediately to room D446 for a briefing.

    I gave Red the bad news. His crew was being reassigned and he would be given a new crew to train starting in the morning. I had been in need of a bit of maturity and Red had been a catalyst for that happening. I shook his hand and thanked him for pushing me the way he had.

    After our briefing we were each sent to a Tech to have our reclamation suits checked and the gel in them freshened. I had just been through the process so I was able to leave immediately for Regents Field to look over our new Defender.

    This one had been outfitted with Pop's enhanced Sodium feed. When I arrived the support crew was busily jamming it full of enough supplies to last us for up to six months.

    The ship would be loaded with 80.000 rounds of coil gun pellets, 16 BHD warheads, enough Sodium to keep us powered for six months, spare parts such as a dozen extra BHD rings and a spare self starting micro-reactor.

    I received a private message from my Great Uncle wishing us well. He added that he was responsible for the spare reactor being placed aboard and that he hoped we would be able to make use of it.

    The stations were organized with myself and Whip seated up front and Bigg and Pop behind. From their flight chairs back would be packed with supplies. I was then shown something that I had not seen before. Four space helmets were being carried on-board. I asked the crewman who was handling them and was told they were new and untested.

    They attached to the reclamation suits and would allow us to go extra vehicular if need be. He said the instructions and information on them was being uploaded to the ship's computers as we spoke.

    I was soon joined in the hangar by my crew and their handlers. We walked aboard and were connected into the flight chairs that would be our homes for the next three to four months. As soon as the handlers departed the support crew once again began their work of packing the ship with as much supplies as they could. Every spare bit of space had been turned into storage.

    We were also recipients of the first in-flight repair manuals should we have a mishap while on our mission. I had confidence in the ability of my crew to make any necessary repairs should the need arise.

    We also had the instant comm link back to Battle Command should we have any questions. I took pride in the fact that it was my wife's work that had made the mission practical.

    I knew I would be spending many a bored hour daydreaming about her as we hurled through space at near light speed. The thought came with as much dread as it did excitement.

    A half hour later the rear door had been closed and we were busily going through our pre-flight checks. Everything was a go. I powered up the BHD and brought us to a hover. Each of our screens were then filled with a video. It was the President with a farewell and good-luck speech.

    We each nodded to the holo-screen in front of us as the video feed ended. I usually stayed away from politics, but for some reason I felt the speech was good for the others to hear. It would be a long mission and any reinforcement of its priority would be appreciated once we reached the cold blackness that life was away from our Sun.

    The go ahead was given. Defender A55 taxied out onto the tarmac, tilted upwards and within seconds we were entering the blackness of space. I pressed a holo-button to engage our pre-loaded flight plan. I asked for a station status from each of the others. Once completed we had no set orders for the next six weeks.

    Our increased power from Pop's feed modifications left us with extra power to apply to our active skin. The computer was programmed to make minor course corrections to avoid any sizable asteroids, but our ability to withstand larger hits added a bit of extra comfort.

    With nothing to do for six weeks the conversation quickly turned to my recent honeymoon. I did my best to deflect inappropriate personal questions and to not dignify them with an answer. It was all in good fun, but it was personal just the same.

    It had taken just 32 minutes for us to once again reach half light speed. The Defender continued to accelerate. The conversation soon died down with Whip poring over the new helmet manuals while Bigg played holo-solitaire.

    Pop dug into the application of his new Sodium feed which left me to daydream about Paige. I had a timer set on the hour as a reminder for us to check in with command.

    The dings of the reminder after the first hour broke me out of a vivid daydream with Paige and I on a snow-ski adventure. The slopes had been perfectly manicured and then covered with four inches of fresh powder. I did a quick station check and sent the results to Battle Command. After completing the first hourly check I automated the reminder to free us from the manual task.

    As I continued with my daydreaming Pop alerted me to the fact that we had just passed through 74.00000% light speed and were continuing to accelerate. We were now moving faster than any man had ever traveled.

    I chatted for a moment with Battle Command asking if they had noticed our speed. They had. The scientists and engineers were all elated and had been hashing over the theories of what would happen if we actually made it to light speed.

    No test by man had ever shown that it was possible to travel beyond that threshold. There were theories about time travel and warping space and time but nothing had ever been proven. Defender A55 and its crew would possibly be the first to find out.

    It wasn't long before we passed beyond the heliosphere into outer space. I adjusted our sensors to fill the inner walls of our ship with the view that we would see from outside.

    The blackness was as black as the ride from the chamber to Regents Field. But... the stars... the stars were brilliant with the Milky Way being spectacular. No image I had ever seen on the ground could do it justice.

    We soon passed through 83.00000% light speed and continued to accelerate. Our estimated six week journey to the incoming alien vessels had dropped to five weeks and then four. Again the scientists and engineers on the ground were elated. The feed of data across channel 1647 had them continuously glued to their monitors.

    Five hours into our flight we passed through 96.00000% light speed and the acceleration continued. All systems were functioning perfectly. There had been no noticeable affect on any of the crew or with the ship itself.

    Other than the occasional blip on the screen of the active skin encountering a pebble there had been nothing out of the ordinary displayed. The active skin was performing just as the scientists had predicted.

    The ship itself had only made one minor course correction to avoid a collision. The rock was roughly one meter wide but a course change was done as a precaution.

    After five hours and forty-seven minutes we trickled through 99.00023% of light speed. The instruments still showed acceleration. For the next seven minutes we all watched silently as the digits slowly approached 100.00000%. Bigg commented that the view out back of the ship had taken a noticeable turn in color with the Sun first going orange, then red and now a dark red.

    It was a strange site to see your own Sun from that distance. It had become just another large star. The fact that it seemed to be dimming was a bit disconcerting.

    As our speed gauge reached 100.00000% the visible light from our Sun snuffed out. The surrounding stars had turned a deep red and the ones surrounding those had gone orange in color.

    Straight behind was nothing but pure black. For 23 seconds the gauge stayed at 100.00000%. It then began to count back down.

    I had everyone do a complete station check but all the numbers looked good. I then asked Battle Command what they could make of it and did not receive a response.

    Apparently reaching light speed was having an affect although we had no idea of what it was. The accelerometers continued to show positive numbers but the speed indicator continued to slip.

    We were soon back to 96.00000%, then 83.00000% and then 74.00000%. The speed continued to drop and we had no explanation as to why. That was when Whip let out a giddy screech. At that moment I almost soiled my reclamation suit... even though it would not have mattered.

    I quizzed Whip on her discovery and was told to wait a second. She worked feverishly at her holo-display. After a brief delay the 71.00000% on the speed indicator turned to 129.00000%. We had passed the speed of light and were continuing to accelerate.

    Whip had dug into the console software and found a programming error that had limited the speed indicator to 100%. A quick live patch and we now had our true speed. We all sat staring in amazement before anyone spoke.

    Bigg had taken notice of the fact that our trip counter now displayed that we were only two weeks from encountering our target. The black void of stars continued to grow larger from the view behind the ship. The reds and oranges did the same as the view continued outward.

    We had lost our communication with Command when we passed through 100%. Even the entangled particles had not been able to break the barrier. After eleven and a half hours we broke through 200% and continued to accelerate. All instruments continued to read as normal. Our trip counter was now down to ten days and continued to shrink.

    As we all sat watching our monitors the reclamation suits injected a pre-programmed sleep aid into our systems. Within seconds we were all fast asleep. Our Defender continued to accelerate.

    We awoke six hours later from a stimulant and were quickly again fully alert. The speed indicator showed 308.54672% and the trip counter had dropped to 34 hours 16 minutes.

    I ran a quick calculation of when we would need to start our deceleration and what the trip counter would be after that adjustment. We had 16 hours before we dropped below light speed and 22 hours before we occupied the same portion of space as our alien invaders.

    Suddenly that long dull boring mission had turned into one where we were wishing we had more time to prepare. I consulted my crew and we came to the decision that we would adjust course to be well to the right of the incoming ships.

    We would also turn off the BHD and drift silently past our target before re-engaging. With a little luck we would be able to gather intel from behind them without being detected.

    In our final hour of acceleration we topped out at 352% of light speed. And... we could have continued to accelerate. All systems were functioning normally.

    Bigg then chimed in with a bit of a revelation. He had been re-running calculations on the active skin and had determined that at the speed we were traveling it would not take a large asteroid hit to overwhelm the active skin.

    Something about the size of a pebble would be enough. We made adjustments to the automated steering program for anything larger than a BB.

    After the first hour of deceleration we were all left twiddling our thumbs. The anticipation of the upcoming events was taking its toll on our ability to focus. Bigg was spending his time on holo-solitaire while Whip continued to read through manuals.

    I used the time to daydream about Paige while Pop got out of his chair to go look over the spare reactor they had put on-board. We each programmed in a sleep time to coincide with when we would drop back below light speed. The hours ticked by slowly.
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    The stimulants were again injected into our systems bringing everyone to full awake. We each watched our trip counter and speed indicator as we dropped through light speed. I looked at the ships rear view and could make out a faint red glow of stars behind us once again beginning to show. My next thought was to contact Command to let them know our status.

    I tried repeatedly to raise the QE comm but there was no response. Had we gone too far? Had our speed broken the entanglement of the particles? In either scenario we were now so far into space that our regular communications would take months to arrive back at Earth.

    The alien ships were still almost four months away from Earth. Standard communications would only arrive at best a month ahead of them. I decided to adjust course closer to the alien ships where we could glide close to them and send back data.

    Once we reached them we could no longer broadcast a standard transmission as they would then know we were there. It was not the outcome we had hoped for only hours before. We would slow to 10% light speed and then shut down the BHD. It would allow us to broadcast for three hours as the alien ships approached our position.

    As our BHD went silent I asked Pop to hook himself back into his chair. I wanted us all focused on interpreting data as we approached our foes. Anything we could send back could possibly be the one thing that could change the course of battle.

    Every half hour I again tried to re-establish the channel 1647 link back to Command. Every half hour I received nothing but silence. We had charted our course to bring us within 100,000 kilometers of the incoming ships. From that distance all of our sensors would operate at full resolution.

    We each began the task of going over the data. I had visual, Whip took RF, Bigg took ultraviolet and Pop took infrared.

    My first visual was still fuzzy at the distance we were. A quick measurement told me that the two ships were approximately 700 meters wide by 300 meters tall. Again, we guessed saucer shaped just as the ones from the S.A., 70 years before.

    A few moments later the size was confirmed by the others. Whip detected RF transmissions between them like what we had captured before. Again, we were unable to decrypt the codes that we had been listening to for months.

    As each feature of the ships became more distinct we logged and transmitted them back towards home. Our counter had ticked down to display that we only had 15 minutes more to transmit before we would have to go silent.

    That was when we got our first details about the length of the ships. It soon became apparent that the ships were 700 meters wide by 300 meters tall by... eight... kilometers... long. They were much bigger than we had expected.

    As the details became clearer I could see two rows of alien fighters down the side of the ships that I was viewing. With only two minutes of broadcast time left the computer imaging system counted out 256 fighters per row.

    That would be more than 2,000 alien fighters total. Our guys at home would be overwhelmed. There was no way we could let these ships continue without at least taking a shot at them. I looked over at Whip and she asked that I just give the word and it would be so. I nodded and she began to work feverishly at her holo-display.

    With only 18 seconds left before broadcast silence I adjusted course directly towards the alien ships and Whip launched four BHD warheads with skins active and drives disabled. I then made a hard correction to maneuver us out of the way.

    The warheads drifted silently towards the eight kilometer long vessels. The first two warheads were not heard from again as the alien ships had their gravity waves riding in front of them. It was evidently protection from any space debris they might encounter at their high rate of speed.

    We waited patiently for the second set of warheads as they were coming in at a steeper angle to the second ship. As two bright flashes tore the nose off the alien carrier it began to disintegrate along its axis as debris from the front smashed into the oncoming sections.

    We had done it! With one ambush we had taken out an alien carrier and nearly a thousand fighters. The numbers would still be overwhelming once they reached Earth but I was sure no one would complain.

    Just before the explosions reached the farthest point a number of fighters ejected from the ship's hull. The first ship continued on its course while the fighters fell quickly behind.

    The alien fighters could not match the speed of the remaining carrier leaving them to fall back. They continued onward and I could only guess they would be picked up when the main fleet caught up to them.

    We had timed the blast so that Battle Command would at least see if a detonation had occurred. Three seconds of the destruction had been broadcast home before the transmission had gone silent.

    We drifted quietly allowing the surviving fighters to continue onward safely away from us. We did not have the armaments to take them on in any meaningful way, leaving us with our best option... to stay hidden.

    When the aliens had passed us by for more than an hour I brought the BHD back online. Pop then chimed in with a suggestion. He knew we all wanted to speed around the alien ships so that we could be home to help fight them when they arrived at Earth. What he added was a thought that had not occurred to the rest of us. With our faster than light abilities we could make a run out to the main fleet to gather data and still return home in time to fight.

    We all agreed that it was a worthwhile mission given the fact that the advance fleet of two smaller ships had carried over 2,000 fighters with it. The blob of the main fleet had looked to be much larger.

    A course was plotted and set into the computer. If the acceleration held we would increase speed for 17 days before beginning to slow for another 17. In one month we could travel a distance that would take the aliens almost two years to do. Everyone agreed, the course changed and the throttle was pushed to full.

    Bigg began running his calculations of the speed we would achieve and what size space debris we could absorb. If the acceleration held we would be traveling at more than 68 times light speed. But, we had a major problem. At about 12 times light speed our active shielding would have trouble absorbing space debris no bigger than a grain of sand.

    I quickly calculated an adjustment by lowering the BHD throttle percentage. We would continue to accelerate only not as fast as before. The saved power could be diverted to the active skin. The new calculations stretched the trip to 37 days at a peak of 18 times light speed. It would allow us to handle debris strikes as large as a pebble. It was not optimum, but it was certainly manageable.

    I punched in the new numbers and watched as the computer adjusted the trip counter. Whip then let me know that we would have to immediately turn back once we got to the main fleet if we wanted any chance at returning home for the fight with the eight kilometer carrier.

    I wondered if there would even be a home to return too. At the time of our departure it was believed that we would have 87 newly commissioned Defenders ready to fly. The Defenders were ready, but their crews had seen very little action in them. The DSims were a great training tool, but the reality of fighting in space required another level of experience that simulators just could not provide. Aside from the carrier the Defenders would have a thousand fighters to contend with. The odds were not in our favor.

    I pushed the throttle to full and we settled in for our 37 day ride out to the main fleet. I wondered how much solitaire the crew could play and of what else we might do to break the certain monotony and boredom that was coming our way. Pop immediately unhooked himself from his chair and squeezed through our supplies to have a look at the spare micro-reactor.

    I asked him what he was up to and he replied that he was just wondering if there would be any way to connect the second reactor to our system and power it up. He thought it would make for an extremely powerful shield if we had double the energy available. I had a sudden thought about what we might do to occupy our 37 days of free time.

    We would spend it attempting to update and modify our systems with the spare equipment we had on-board. With the reactor I reasoned that with twice the power we could possibly increase our rate of acceleration thereby cutting down on our travel time.

    If we could arrive in half or two thirds the time it would leave us with more time to observe and more time to return home before the carrier arrived. I advised Whip and Bigg to focus their energies on making a second reactor hookup a reality.

    Aside from the theoretical thinking that my crew was capable of I was more amazed with their practical common sense abilities. Not only could they envision some pretty fantastic ideas, but they had the skills needed to put those ideas into practice. After 16 hours of poring over schematics, gathering tools and making modifications my trio of unknown geniuses were ready to give the second reactor a try. They mounted the reactor to our frame and had only to connect the power feeds into our existing system.

    A breaker switch to an unused circuit had allowed the second reactor to tie into the power grid while the first reactor remained at full power. Pop said he did not remember the breaker being on any other Defender but that he was glad it was on ours.

    I sat back in my chair and stared nervously at Pop sitting at his console. One more switch and we would know if our little experiment was a success. I then thought of my Great Uncle and I raised my voice asking Pop to wait. He was about to flip a holo-switch on his console bringing the second micro-reactor to life.

    I thought back to David Brenner's send-off message and how he had said that he hoped we could put the reactor to good use. I could only come to the conclusion that he had this exact scenario in mind.

    I gave Pop the go-ahead and we watched intently as the micro-reactor slowly came to life. As the manual had instructed it would take seven minutes to come up to full operational status. When the monitor readout for the second reactor reached 100% I again gave Pop the go-ahead to take it live.

    As he flipped the second holo-switch an alarm went off on everyone's console at the same time. Pop, Whip and Bigg all began system checks to identify potential problems. The first reactor's output was dropping as the second reactor's output rose. The alarm continued to sound and I advised everyone to just wait and watch.

    When the two reactors each showed 50% power the numbers on both began to climb. We were rewarded shortly thereafter with the alarm going silent. Even though it was only the four of us sitting together in this small space a cheer went up that I was sure could be heard back on Earth by my Great Uncle. The extra breaker and the spare reactor were both of his doing.

    David Brenner had probably taken heat for sacrificing a capable Defender to give us the spare parts. He always seemed to be one step ahead of everyone else with his planning and it was my plan to put his wisdom to good use.

    I connected back into my chair, sat back and pushed the throttle to 190%. The remaining power was being diverted to the shield to protect us from that random bit of space debris that could instantly vaporize us. The trip counter readjusted from 37 to 19 days with us reaching 34 times the speed of light at our maximum. I turned back to look at Pop and he had an extra wide grin on his face at our accomplishment.

    I then began to ask the others to analyze the remaining spare equipment we had been given to see if there were any other advantages we could gain. We had 19 days to put it to good use if any good use was possible. We all pored over the equipment lists and the holo-user manuals for anything that could possibly be done.

    Less than an hour into our search the automated sleep inducer injected a concoction into our IV lines that quickly put us all to sleep. It would be another six hours before the team was once again hard at work.

    Three days into our 19 day journey, Whip came up with a new idea. We gutted one of our active nukes, shortened it up to only use a BHD and pico-reactor and then added a second BHD ring on the back side. We would essentially have a flying drill that we could tell to seek out the enemy. It would just fly around for days drilling into and through whatever craft it caught and then exiting the other side.

    The second BHD would absorb any weapons they fired at it as it moved away which we reasoned would make it virtually indestructible. With a pico-reactor it could fly non-stop for several days. Our hopes were for it to drill countless holes and cause untold damage.

    We had a dozen spare BHD rings but decided that only using eight would tell us for certain if the weapon would be effective. Our spare parts were of immense value as we were far from home. The next 16 days were spent alternating between sleep and study with no new ideas coming to light. For me it was a difficult time as I had trouble understanding much of the technology at hand.

    At our peak we achieved 3420.03577% light speed before the deceleration began. The plan was to fall below light speed early, drop three of our four drillers in their path and then silently slip by to the side of the passing fleet. If everything went according to plan the three Drillers would look like space debris until the fleet was upon them. They would then activate and begin seeking out targets.

    I had an hourly alarm set that would remind me to once again try Paige on channel 1647. Every try yielded the same silence, but every try came with new hope. Even though our marriage was only weeks old, I missed Paige terribly.

    Our final hours of deceleration were agonizingly quiet. Except for our fascination with the increasing views of the incoming fleet no one had anything to talk about. We studied the fleet as we approached before going silent. There were 18 of the eight kilometer long ships that we dubbed as Fighter Carriers.

    Those were followed by 22 saucers ranging from one kilometer wide to ten kilometers wide. The saucers were designated as Destroyers for the one kilometer size, Cruisers for the four kilometer size and Battleships for the ten kilometer behemoths.

    Destroyers numbered 14, Cruisers five and Battleships three. And then there was one last massive ship following the others. On our long distance sensors it measured nearly 40 km across.

    We had little to match the firepower of this incoming fleet. We would do our reporting, but the news would arrive home behind us if we used standard communications. Our mission to gather intel and then return home as quickly as possible was now of the utmost importance.

    We dropped out of light speed, lined up and then launched our Drillers. It was then on to silent mode. It would take 16 hours of drifting before we would be able to turn our sensors back on. Again, the wait was agonizing. We could not see outside. As we drifted by, our knowledge of the alien fleet remained as it had been from a distance.

    I looked around the cabin at the others and they were all busily reading away at Defender manuals. I suspected that I probably had the most highly knowledgeable crew of the USAC. They had modified our ship while in flight and come up with what were hopefully ingenious weapons. Their drive and determination had taken us to more than 34 times light speed.

    The 16 hours passed slowly by, but pass they did. When the counter hit zero I flipped on the BHD and Bigg brought up the sensors. We were a full light hour behind the fleet and the view was impressive. Other than the long thin Carriers the other ships were indeed all saucer shaped.

    We matched their speed and decided to trail them for several hours. In the distance beyond them I could see our tiny sun from its nearly two light year distance. It was not quite as impressive as it was from Earth. The feeling I was left with was one of being vulnerable. The massive fleet had us way outgunned. I could not imagine how we would possibly defend against it with our limited abilities and resources. Earth was in trouble...

    For three hours we tracked and recorded the mega fleet. For three hours we saw no sign of our BHD drillers. We wondered if they had somehow not activated because they were six hours overdue. We marked the supplies down as lost as we prepped for our voyage home. I punched in the way-points for our flight plan. I had the others do a quick check of my numbers before pushing the throttle to full.

    Distance to Earth... 1.93866 light years or 18,313,289,748,000 kilometers. Peak speed would approach 42 times light speed before deceleration. We would be home in just over 20 days.

    As we sped away from the main fleet I began thinking of what the next 20 days of boredom would be like. We were captive in the small vessel. We could stand, but there was really nowhere to move around. I asked Whip how it was that we were able to sit in the chairs for so long without feeling weary and sore. She dug into an electronic manual and soon had the answer.

    The reclamation suits that we all wore were equipped with thousands of small electrodes. Tiny high voltage shocks were constantly being applied to our bodies in patterns that would keep our muscles healthy. It was another of David Brenner and his team's ingenious creations. Whip noted that the manual stated that test subjects actually saw muscle gain over the course of a week while the suits were active.

    I began to picture myself scooping Paige up off the ground with my bulging biceps before carrying her through the door to my quarters and laying her onto my anti-grav mattress. It didn't take long before my daydream was interrupted. It was Pop remarking that with our use of two reactors we would be cutting it close on our fuel supply on our trip home.

    According to his calculations we would be down to 2.5% supply when we arrived. And that calculation had a plus or minus 3% accuracy. The last thing we needed was to run out of Sodium before reaching home. Space was a cold dark place.

    Our flight path took us around the alien fleet and then straight back towards our tiny sun. For just over ten days we accelerated to just under 43 times light speed. We studied or played solitaire for 16 hours before another six hours of sleep was imposed upon us. That cycle was to be repeated daily for the duration of our flight.

    Pop made power adjustments to turn off the ships lighting and consoles during periods of sleep. The savings were miniscule but with our potential fuel shortage every bit helped. On the thirteenth day Pop's calculations had our fuel supply showing us with 0.04% remaining upon arrival with a plus or minus 1% accuracy. We had about a 50 / 50 chance of running out of fuel.

    He tagged our worst case as leaving us stranded just outside the heliosphere. The black void of space would not be our friend. I asked if there were any other systems that could be shut down. Eight minutes later the reclamation system was powered off and we each disconnected ourselves from our chairs.

    We would be traveling the final week of our mission without food. The reactors on-board had the ability to produce small quantities of water. For seven days we would be sipping the water orally in an attempt to stay hydrated. Man could go without food for weeks but not without water. The shutdown of the reclamation system increased our numbers to 0.34% raising our chances to 70 / 30.

    The last seven days were spent in silence with our consoles and the interior lighting off. The dim light that remained in the cabin was being emitted from several equipment LEDs. Two flashing green LEDs were my friends.

    At the start of day 20 we dropped through light speed and entered the heliosphere. Pop quickly powered down the second reactor in a final attempt at conservation of our remaining Sodium. Its tiny amount of remaining fuel was diverted to the first reactor's feed.

    As we passed Jupiter Pop's console lit up with a flashing ominous warning. We were out of fuel for the BHD leaving us with two hours of active skin and cabin oxygen scrubbers. I began broadcasting on our standard communications channels. We needed help. Our speed remained at more than 200,000 kilometers per hour but we had no steering.

    Our current course would take us just past the Moon, but that was still three hours away. By that time we would be completely out of power... and oxygen. Thirty minutes passed before we got a response from command. Ten minutes after that the warble of channel 1647 chimed in on my audio implant.

    It was Paige and they had two rescue ships on the way. The rescue Defenders would have to match our speed and then one of them would have to swing its rear door around to ours. A Sodium transfer would have to made in open space while traveling at the 200,000 kilometers per hour. The transfer would be done by tossing a small package of Sodium from the rear door of one craft to a waiting Astronaut at the rear door of the other.

    Bigg volunteered for the duty. Defender A1 with its freckled red-haired pilot soon came alongside us. A quick maneuver placed the rear of A1 within 12 meters of the back of our craft. This would be our first chance to test out the new reclamation suit helmets. It was not something I looked forward to. Before depressurizing I did a full dump of our main fleet data to Battle Command.

    With the active skin disabled and the cabin depressurized we had about 15 minutes to make the transfer, stop the reactor, reload the feed and finally to do a restart. With the reactor and active skin down we were vulnerable to space debris. Any strike would easily penetrate our aluminum hull bringing our journey to an end. We moved as quickly as possible to make the exchange.

    With both rear doors open the Defensive specialist for A1 tossed a packet about the size of a baseball to a waiting Bigg. He had it on the first catch and quickly turned it over to Pop. The A1 crewman then sent over a line attached to a winch. Big connected himself to the line and was pulled to safety in the other craft.

    The line then came back for Whip and within minutes she was aboard A1. I had volunteered to stay with my ship and fly Pop home when the power was restored. I was disobeying a direct order to go, but I was not going to leave Pop alone. Defender A1 quickly closed their rear door and reactivated their skin and BHD.

    With our rear door closed and with five minutes of air remaining Pop struggled to reload the reactor feed. I asked if the second reactor was a viable alternative to which I was told a resounding no. The light on my wrist pad began to blink yellow as our oxygen levels dropped to under a minutes worth. We continued to zoom along at 200,000 kilometers per hour as we moved just inside the Asteroid Belt.

    With seconds to spare Pop let out a yell as his final reload attempt bore fruit. We had one shot at a reactor restart. Our ships battery held just enough power to spark the fusion reaction. Pop held up crossed fingers as he pressed the flashing red holo-button on the reactor console. Seconds passed with no indication of success.

    The reactor then began to emit a small glow that just as suddenly faded. Several agonizing seconds passed before the glow returned and began to slowly build. Within less than a minute the reactor began to power up. I struggled to breath as I looked down at my wrist pad. My oxygen timer read -2.03m.

    Pop hit a restart of the cabin systems and seconds later the cabin began to pressurize. When a green light appeared on the cabin oxygen readout I reached up and flipped the latches on my helmet. The stale air of my suit re-breather was soon replaced with fresh clean cabin air. I took in a long deep breath. We had made it home.
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    Two hours after the reactor restart we were landing at Regents Field. Once down in the chamber we were taken to separate rooms where Techs removed our reclamation suits and hosed us down. The stench was horrifying. After the hose-down we were left to take showers. I took note of the fact that I had again lost weight. The reclamation suit and not having eaten for a week had worked wonders.

    Strange thing about wearing the suit. You did not get hungry. I suspected they had some chemical fix in the IV to suppress those urges, but we had not been hooked up to the IV for a week. I dressed in a clean but now very baggy uniform and was then escorted into a debriefing. The recordings of the advance carrier and the full fleet had everyone in awe.

    Just as we had entered the briefing room a team of Techs had come in hooking our IV ports to portable feeding units. We would be receiving the nutrition we had given up during our final weeks flight home.

    I wondered how we could take on such an enemy with our meager defenses? Would Earth fall to these robotic ships? To a foe that we had yet to actually see? As voices in the room began to rise General Buck put his hammer fist down hard on the table. It drew everyone's instant attention.

    He ordered each of the groups to start evaluating the data. Once they had a handle on what was coming he wanted action plans as to what we might do to try to stop them. Again he banged his fist on the conference table and the senior staff scrambled to begin their work. When the room had cleared he approached my team.

    He wanted the details on how we had managed to destroy one of the carriers. I told him of our tactics and how I thought we had been a bit lucky with an attack not being expected. I did not think we would be that lucky again. A thousand fighters would be upon us in about two months and we had 78 Defenders ready for our defense.

    The General then let us in on a contingency plan that had been in the works since the large fleet had been detected. Shell companies had been setup to design, plan and build factories overseas that would produce parts to be assembled here. He expected those plants to be fully operational in a matter of days. On our end we had another set of shell companies that were setup to assemble parts of the Defenders into larger sub-assemblies.

    There were also two other chambers identical to this one with the first pilots expected from them in the next two weeks. By the time the alien carrier reached us we would have nearly 300 Defenders with their crews at the ready.

    It was hardly a match for a thousand alien fighters. But, there was a second tier to the defensive strategy. Starting in another week we would be launching two rockets a day that would each be carrying four coil gun satellites. That would give us almost 500 coil guns encircling the earth. And then there was tier three.

    After a briefing by the President and his Secretary of State we would be deploying three times the ground based coil guns at every major city around the globe. They were to be manned by each nation.

    It was a technology we did not give up lightly, but it was the only way we could possibly protect the Earth's inhabitants. When the other major nations were briefed fully on what was possibly coming they were at first angry. With the gift of the coil gun technology they became very cooperative.

    We had to all work together if we wanted to survive. At that very moment they were each receiving an updated briefing on what would be upon us in two months. General Buck had briefed the President personally telling him that a world wide effort was the only chance we had.

    More than 4,000 heavy ground based coil guns would be in operation within that two month period. And with the size of the approaching full fleet behind them, he expected cooperation to only grow.

    I told the general about our attempt to ambush the main fleet with our drillers. When asked for specifics of how it went I had to tell him that we did not know. We were not sure what had happened as there was no evidence that they had actually gone active before we left.

    After a long discussion about the alien fleet the General dismissed us. We were given the remainder of the day to relax and rest. Bigg asked Whip to go with him to visit his son. Pop immediately made his way to the officer's lounge for a beer. I headed directly to Paige's lab.

    I made channel 1647 private and talked with Paige as I walked. When I entered the lab I was met by a teary eyed wife who was ever so happy to see me. It was a feeling that I would surely not forget for the rest of my life. I wrapped my arms around her for a long embrace. I then knew what it was like for every sailor, soldier and airman who had ever had duty away from home. The welcome back made it all worthwhile.

    We talked small talk for a bit before I asked what had happened to the QE comm link. She said that when we passed through light speed the link was broken. She had tried for hours to determine why and after a full day of effort had finally given up and determined that it was lost. She had removed the implant to run tests and had left it there in the lab.

    She tried several times since to contact me but she guessed it was when we had again passed through light speed on our way to the main fleet. In my absence she had managed to create a second grouping of entangled particles. With one more she would be able to make another QE comm pairing enabling a second channel in another implant.

    General Buck had given me permission to relieve Paige from duty for the remainder of the day. With my command we headed quickly to my cabin. Once inside I shed my baggy clothes and was greeted with an impressed smile. I scooped Paige up with my firm arms and laid her gently on the anti-grav mattress. For the remainder of the day we were in our own little private world.

    In the morning I was directed to a refitting room where I was put into a new reclamation suit. I was then told that my training was complete and that I should report to Red for new orders. When I arrived at the DSim the rest of the team was waiting. We were greeted by a gracious Red who immediately foisted a set of shooting stars into each of our hands. The shooting star in the USAC was the equivalent of earning your wings in the Air Force.

    There would be no more DSim for us. We would instead be utilized for instructing other crews until it was time for battle. Red sent us to a conference room where we would receive instruction on how to be an instructor. I looked forward to the task of yelling at a new crew for their mistakes.

    After two days of instructor training I was given my first crew. Two Brits, an Israeli and an Indian. All women. They were eager and they were tough. They had been briefed about what was coming and were committed to giving all they could in the effort to protect our precious Earth.

    I gave them hard scenarios. I pushed them. In two months they would be going up against a foe that had them outgunned and outnumbered. Their names were Kat, Kate, Inrasia and Krysa. The girls were each good at something that I had always had trouble with... multitasking.

    When Kat barked an order the other three were on it. And they each had the knack of being able to focus on their own duty while keeping an eye on the others. The subtleties that I would rely on Bigg or Whip or Pop to catch were never missed by the crew. As a team they were tight.

    For six weeks they put 12 hours a day into the DSim. Their final two weeks would be alongside my team in A55. It was imperative that I taught them everything I could as once in battle crew A277 would be our wing-man.

    We would be going out in formations of three. The other team joining us was A104. Each of the early crews that had received the full training were being teamed with a crew from the accelerated class and one from the short class that I had been instructing on.

    The rookies that I had been schooling were not as green as I had originally thought. General Buck had authorized the DSim code to be rolled into an online holo-game where thousands of teens and twenty-somethings had been in competitions for prizes for more than a year.

    Two of the crew of A277 were regional winners of the ZZ Defender game. The Generals vision had been to generate a steady stream of experienced simulator pilots to fill the ranks of our new pilot recruits. Over a third of those newly admitted to the USAC had come from participation in those games. Every little item that was preplanned gave me hope that we at least had the right people in the top positions at the right time.

    As the training continued the countdown clock had soon dropped to two weeks. We had gathered in a large hangar at Regents Field for the first flight test of more than 60 new crews. We would take to the heavens with 210 Defenders in a mass formation. Our weapons would be on sim mode. The DSim system had been tied into the fleet of Defenders.

    As a safety precaution the ships had all been programmed with anti-collision software. There was no sense in losing crews and their ships during a simulation because of an accident. We would be flying in our formations and following battle instructions fed to us by the Tacticians. The alien carrier would be simulated on all sensors and monitors during the live flight.

    We launched from the tarmac at precisely 2PM. It was a hot July afternoon. I split my view screen and had the view from Regents Field displayed on the left side. 210 Defenders taking to the sky at once was an impressive sight of blurry details.

    The battle against the simulated alien carrier only lasted 45 minutes before the last Defender was turned into space debris. Half an hour later the last of our newly launched space guns were taken out. An advance of the simulation told us that the Earth would fall in less than a day. In less than a week Mankind could be sent back to the Stone-Age. It was a sobering thought.

    As each of the ships met their fate during the simulated live battle they were programmed to turn and report to a rally point just above Regents Field. It was to be the launching point of each of the day's battles.

    Half an hour after each of the simulations were lost a new one was starting up. The slaughter of our Defenders and their crews went on all day... every day... for the next nine days. Just before the start of our fifth attempt on the tenth day I asked Pop and Whip to simulate the Drillers in our weapons program. I wanted to see what the simulators thought they could do.

    We passed the Driller info to our other two crews and by battles inception we had 18 Drillers at the ready. When our orders came down from the Tacticians we were questioned as to why our weapons supplies had been altered.

    I asked why they cared as we had been unable to utilize our full complement of weapons for any of the battles we had been directed into. The result was a ground commander yelling at me over my audio implant. In every scenario we had been left on our own to contend with at least 15 alien fighters to our squads three. At our best we had managed to destroy four of them and temporarily disable two others.

    Just before the swarm of fighters attacked I gave the order to launch all Drillers. By the time our squad had been annihilated we had managed 12 kills. It was the best performance by any squad since the simulations had begun.

    When we had once again lined up for battle we had our full complement of 48 missiles altered to be Drillers. When the scenario had ended we had knocked out our 15 targets while losing two of our Defenders.

    A55 flew on to take out two more alien fighters before finally being overwhelmed. When we had returned to our launch point the simulations were stopped and our squad of three Defender crews ordered to report back to Regents Field.

    We were hurried through the elevators and tunnels and back to a briefing with General Buck. When we arrived the Tacticians were all over us as to what we had done. I told the General and the Tacticians that we had once again tried modifying our missiles to make Drillers. I had wanted to see how they would fair in a simulation.

    The room erupted in chaos. General Buck once again slammed down his fist in a demand for silence. The General then directed comments. The Tacticians thought it counter productive when the crews were not following battle plans. They felt our best chance was with fully coordinated attacks where everyone did what they were asked.

    I agreed that when the time came we would need to follow orders. But, we seemed to be repeating the same mistakes time and again in an effort to perfect a failing strategy. I asked the General for permission to take my squad out to meet the alien carrier before it reached Earth. I reasoned that it would give us a chance to once again test the Drillers for effectiveness.

    In one day we could travel to the carrier, deploy a full barrage of Drillers and return back to the fleet for continued training. Our three ships would hardly be missed for perfecting the war strategy.

    General Buck agreed and we were given orders to proceed with our plan. We had eight hours to have any weaponry converted and then 24 hours to carry out our attempt. If successful, the tacticians would fold the Drillers into their plans where they thought they would do the most good. If the Drillers failed we would most likely be flying into a disaster when the carrier arrived.

    Pop, Bigg and Whip immediately made their way to the weapons technician area and began having the full complement of missiles for our three Defenders altered. I used the time to check in on Paige's effort at creating another QE comm pairing. When I arrived at her lab she was busily making adjustments to another audio implant. She had succeeded in her quest for a second entangled pair.

    The new QE comm would be added to the implant of the red-haired pilot of Defender A1. The ground based end of the pair would be wired directly into the fleet communications system.

    The following morning 16 Drillers were loaded onto each of the Defenders in our squad. Within an hour we had launched and were on a trajectory that would take us to the alien carrier. Nine hours at full throttle followed by nine hours of deceleration took us within firing range. The other crews were excited to finally be going up against the real enemy because after ten days of continuous dying in the simulated events they were getting depressed.

    Here at least, we would be firing from a standoff position. While we were all eager and willing to fight the aliens none of us wanted to go on a Kamikaze run. When we arrived we programmed the Drillers and let them fly. Bigg had updated the code for their sensors and Whip had added a new target selection algorithm. The Drillers were each programmed to seek out and attack individual fighters.

    From our standoff position it took half an hour before the advance of the Drillers stirred up the hornets nest. Our sensors went wild as more than a thousand fighters took to flight at almost the same time.

    At final count there were 1326 alien fighters in flight. It was many more than we had estimated. I guessed that after we got lucky taking out the first carrier the surviving fighters had somehow attached to the second carrier for the duration of the trip.

    The carrier itself moved fast and had to drop its speed by half so that it did not run away from its fighters. I reasoned that if anything, by slowing down the carrier, our little experiment might buy us a few more hours of time before it reached Earth.

    The slower speed added a definite benefit to our mission. The Drillers soon began to interact with the swarm of fighters. We cheered as several of their fighters collided in attempts to avoid our new weaponry.

    When a group of nearly 50 of them broke away from the rest I ordered the squad to move away from the fighters while matching their speed. When I pushed the throttle to full our reactor sputtered and went dark. Pop sprang from his chair and began working on it. Without power we would be sitting ducks.

    Kat came on the air asking why we were just sitting there. When I told her she turned her Defender around and made full throttle towards the incoming fighters. A104 followed soon after. They would distract the fighter group while we attempted repairs. Pop soon came back with the bad news. The reactor feed had somehow gotten fouled.

    He immediately turned to the second reactor and prepared it for a cold start. Again, we would have one shot at starting it up from the battery we had on-board. Kat and the crew of A277 flew within 15 kilometers of the alien onslaught. Her distraction worked, if only for a moment, as the fighter group turned in unison to follow.

    Just as I thought we were in the clear a lone fighter was dispatched in our direction. A104 did a fly by while firing their coil guns in an attempt to knock it out before it reached us. The attempt was unsuccessful.

    I called back to Pop to hurry it up as we had incoming heading our way. Bigg soon had a countdown counter up with how long we had before the fighter reached us. When the timer dropped under two minutes I again prompted Pop to get that thing started. He did not reply but kept working at it feverishly.

    As the counter dropped under a minute he reached over and slapped the flashing red holo-button on the reactor console. I watched as the seconds ticked by. At 35 seconds the quick flash of the reactor showed us that the process had begun. The flash dimmed and then began to slowly build.

    The reactor would take a full minute to come up to power and we had less than 20 seconds left. When it reached 12% I gunned the throttle in an attempt to buy us more time. Our Defender began to accelerate but the pace was not such that we could outrun our foe. With my final seconds I thought of Paige and of how little time we had really had together.

    As we braced for impact from the fighter's concussion weapon Kat came on the air with a yell. Just as the fighter had gotten within range of us she had done a fly-by at a half kilometer while firing all four of her coil guns.

    The fighter exploded in a flash of glory as Defender A277 swept past it. Our wing-man had come to our rescue! Within the minute we had full power, it coming from the second reactor. We each gave out a shout to A277 and then immediately got back to the business of the other 49 fighters that were coming our way.

    For half an hour we played cat and mouse first waiting for the fighters to catch up and then speeding away, all the time watching on our sensors as the Drillers took their toll.

    The drillers had taken out three fighters and damaged three others. However, they were not completely impervious to the concussion weapons as we had hoped. The fighters had quickly taken our Driller numbers from 48 down to 19.

    We moved and watched patiently as the last two Drillers continued taxing the fighters. With our partial victory I decided it was time to head for home. The Drillers from our three Defenders had accounted for five alien fighters destroyed and four damaged.

    I gave the orders and all three Defenders went to full throttle. After arriving back at Regents Field Pop had a group of Techs look over the failed reactor. A minute design change from his original conception had halted the free delivery of the Sodium fuel. With our primary reactor corrected we would be free to fly with both reactors running on future missions.

    We had not been allowed to operate both reactors on the last run. It was not a question of having a good supply of Sodium. Sodium was plentiful. Our second reactor had been slated for removal to install in a new Defender.

    After our mishap General Buck gave the order to leave it where it was. I was really starting to like the General. He would listen to reason, make a decision and then stick with that decision. When we arrived back in the chamber it was time to turn the data over to the Tacticians where our fates would soon be decided. The world's clock of doom was quickly counting down.
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    After some lengthy discussions General Buck ordered that the missiles on 250 of our now projected 286 Defenders were to be converted to Drillers. When the alien carrier arrived we would be launching 4,000 Drillers at them all at once. It was a risky strategy but we were out of options.

    We would be fielding 286 Defenders, 416 space-born coil guns, 602 heavy ground based coil guns and 244 medium ground based mobile coil guns. A third of the world's cities with populations over 10,000 would be left unprotected. Those residents had been urged to seek shelter in the larger venues.

    On the final day before the alien carrier was to arrive the General ordered all USAC personnel and accompanying foreign crewman to take at least ten minutes out of their day to call loved ones. This was it. This was a fight for Earth... for our freedom... for the survival of Mankind. For those who were religious it was a time for prayer. For everyone it was a time to offer encouragement to others.

    As I walked around in the chamber I could see the occasional worker or crewman step to the side for a private conversation with family or friends. I took my ten minutes to visit with Paige in person. After a long embrace we made small talk in an attempt to comfort and reassure one another.

    It felt good to have someone to share those moments with. I was fighting for all Mankind, for my Great Uncle David Brenner, for my freedom and survival... and for Paige, the one who made it all worthwhile for me.

    The remainder of the day saw everyone scurrying about in an attempt to make everything as ready as possible. The expected arrival time of the alien carrier was approximately 11:08AM on July 29th. For my final hour before bed I sat in my quarters contemplating what was coming. The warble of channel 1647 went off on my audio implant.

    It was Paige. She was on her way over so that we could share what might be our final night together. She would be a good distraction from my thoughts of doom. When she entered my quarters we shared a long kiss and then settled in on my anti-grav mattress. We lay staring into each others eyes as I gently stroked her hair and she my cheek.

    Within minutes I was fast asleep as the time released sleep aids in my suit took hold of my consciousness. I held fast to Paige and she soon drifted off as well. The big fight would be upon us shortly. I awoke in the morning with my arm still hanging over Paige's small frame. She was pulled in close and clutched my hand to her heart as she slept.

    I gently woke her and said good morning. We cuddled for a few minutes longer before the orders came in on my implant to report to station. I kissed my wife, then rose and gave my face a sonic wash. I then turned and winked as I stepped through the door into the now crowding hallway. The place was awash with everyone heading to their duty station.

    I soon met up with my crew and headed towards our final briefing. I sat up front with Bigg, Whip, Pop, Kat and her team and the crew of A104 while the Tacticians went over our part of the final battle plan.

    We would launch and then half the Defenders would rally on the opposite side of the Earth with the other half on the opposite side of the Moon. When the first alien craft was within range of one of our space based heavy coil guns all 4,000 of the converted Drillers would then be loosed at once.

    The 36 Defenders that still had the nukes would then be called upon to close and fire upon the carrier itself while the 250 remaining Defenders sought out fighters. We hoped for a single direct hit on the carrier.

    If all went according to plan it would be a war of attrition. If the number of alien fighters could be knocked down to a third by the Drillers, General Buck felt we had a strong shot at winning.

    I was not happy with the odds, but it was all we had. By 10:15AM we had launched all Defenders and the rally points were beginning to crowd. The alien carrier was now passing the Asteroid Belt and would be striking at the Earth within the hour.

    All Nations had been fully briefed on the impending attack. At first there was a huge outcry, but the reality of what was coming soon took hold. There was cooperation between Nations like the Earth had never seen. Factories ran 24 / 7. Resources were diverted. Cities Defended. Neighbor helped neighbor. There was also martial law in every country.

    Anyone caught in the commission of a crime was taken immediately before a judge and sentenced without trial. If the Judge ruled against you the sentence was the same for all. The arrested had 3 days to appeal and were then locked up with no legal recourse until such time as the alien threat had ebbed. No one was interested in wasting time on criminals while the world was in such peril.

    Within days all cities were reporting that crime was largely a thing of the past. It was deemed that if you were causing a distraction from the defense of Earth you did not deserve to live on it. Thousands had quickly found out how serious the situation was.

    We sat quietly at the rally point watching a countdown timer on our consoles. The ticking readout displayed 30 minutes, then 20 then 10. When the counter reached zero the 125 Defenders in my group let loose the 2,000 Drillers in our care. At the same moment on the backside of Earth another 2,000 Drillers were released. The defense of Earth had begun.

    As the first reports of coil gun fire began to display on my console Bigg came on air with a loud comment. Another 3,000 Drillers had been released from the planet's surface!

    We had been instructed to give the Drillers a five minute head start before pushing our throttles to full. The hour of our destiny was upon us. The battle computers on the ground were busily dividing up the fighters for each of the Defender squads. Our squad was given a group of eight to contend with.

    As we came around the back side of the Moon the alien carrier came into view on our consoles. The carrier looked like a long dark branch with a huge swarm of mad bees in a fog surrounding it. The swarm began to grow and pulsate as the Drillers interacted with the alien fighters. Small explosions could be seen as if like fireflies in a dark night sky.

    The explosions continued as we quickly approached. The alien fighters were within range of four of our heavy space based coil guns. Every three seconds a new set of tungsten pellets were propelled to extraordinary speeds. Every few seconds an alien fighter gave out a bright flash and then disintegrated.

    Before we were able to fire a shot more than 30 alien fighters had been eliminated. A feeling of hope began to build in my heart. Then just as quickly as it seemed we were gaining an advantage the aliens changed tactics. Swarms of 64 fighters attacked and quickly overwhelmed all four heavy coil guns.

    Their next tactic was the most unnerving. Each of the swarms then turned towards the planet surface. Boston was the first city to be attacked. We had 25 heavy coil guns positioned in the northeast where at least five would cover any city at once. The five guns went into service immediately.

    The fighters overwhelming tactic had knocked out three of Boston's guns before we made it into the fray. A dozen fighters had been taken out in the process but the remaining 52 began to do their damage. First the city center was shredded. Skyscrapers fell. Bridges were knocked out. Highways and the autos on them crushed. The destruction slowly circled outwards as the Drillers continued to chase the rampaging fighters.

    Our squad had been assigned to the fighters that were now ravaging Atlanta. A rage burned inside me as I took our Defender within a hundred meters of the first fighter we encountered. Whip fired the coil guns and our foe broke in half before bursting into a ball of flames. We quickly targeted another and another as we flew through the alien horde.

    Our second reactor was dedicated entirely to our shield and Bigg was hard at work countering any fighter gravity wave that came our way. The battle over Atlanta raged for 15 minutes before half of the alien fighters had been eliminated. Dobbins Air Force base on the north side of town had provided extra heavy coil gun cover with four additional units.

    Those guns had been taken out along with four of the six protecting the metro area only minutes later. The Air Force base and the aircraft factories located there were in ruins. As the remaining fighters continued to do their damage a flashing red indicator on my console told me of the fate of A104 along with 12 other Defenders assigned to our group.

    There were nine Defenders still engaged with 26 of the enemy over Atlanta. The Drillers continued on their rampage. The alien fighters continued to obliterate targets on the ground.

    Four times our active skin had hit more than 80% saturation. I was putting us in harms way in an effort to provide my wing-man with cover. The war of attrition was not going our way as our numbers had soon dropped to four. The alien fighters numbered 18 while 47 Drillers continued to chase them about.

    Untold millions had perished on the ground in Atlanta, Boston, Los Angeles and many other cities and strategic targets around the globe. Our strategy of firing the nukes at the alien carrier had failed. The gravity weapon on-board the large ship was far superior to that of the fighters. No missile had come within 200 kilometers.

    A dozen Defenders had been lost attacking the carrier before the order went out for those remaining to retreat and help with the city defense. Mankind was taking it hard on the chin... and in the gut. If something didn't change soon the aliens would have control of the skies. That would mean certain doom.

    The remaining 18 fighters over Atlanta dove and pummeled ground targets and then swooped back after the remaining Defenders. The chaos of battle was almost overwhelming. We managed to take out another four fighters before the last of our ground based weapons was eliminated. The aliens had taken out one more of our Defenders.

    I ran cover and came in close on our attacks as we took out two more alien fighters. Just as we had adapted our tactics the aliens changed theirs. The dozen fighters all turned on us at once. The coordinated attack took out our third remaining Defender. It was now just us and the girls in A277.

    We shot straight skyward in an attempt to lure the fighters from the city. They feinted a follow and then turned quickly back to their destruction.

    With another sweeping pass we took out another fighter. Then, A277 took a hard hit knocking out four of their rings and their active skin. A final salvo from their guns took out one more fighter before they turned to flee. My girls were out of the fight leaving us to defend against the ten remaining alien fighters. Even with the extra power of our second reactor we would not last long.

    When six of the fighters maneuvered towards me I had to push full on the throttle to squeeze out of their trap. Another hard hit took our shield to 92% saturation. In my slow turning Defender with no other help I was out of moves. The aliens were becoming skilled at evading my hit and run attempts. They continued to ravage the suburbs of Atlanta and all who had sought shelter there.

    When the darkest moment of dread was upon us our consoles lit up with green blips. In a last ditch effort the Tacticians had launched our conventional fighter aircraft. They were of no match for the alien fighters but they brought a distraction that allowed my crew to operate. As the brave airmen of the USAF, USMC and USN sacrificed their lives over Altanta in a gesture of bravery that I will never forget, we began to eliminate the remaining enemy fighters one by one.

    When the clock struck noon the battle for Atlanta was over. More than 8 million souls had been lost below us. Our orders quickly came in to divert to Chicago to continue the fight. There would be no rest for the weary.

    I pushed the throttle full and within five minutes we were doing battle with another 16 alien fighters. Only three other Defenders remained. We made our first pass and eliminated two fighters. On the next sweep we took out two more. The remaining dozen then suddenly turned and headed back skyward towards their carrier.

    We continued to make runs as they retreated. One more fighter fell before we got pinched between two gravity weapons. Our shields went to 102%.

    We lost three of our BHD rings with the remaining two taking damage. The safety fuse in our second reactor blew filling our cabin with smoke and eliminating our shields and active skin.

    I cut hard away from the fighters and almost blacked out from the sudden affects of inertia. I looked for an immediate place to land. There were plenty as most of Chicago had been flattened.

    We set down hard in the parking lot of what had once been a thriving community grocery store. The back hatch opened and the smoke from the blown circuits boiled out. We had made it out alive, but not before the city of big shoulders and many others lay largely in ruin. Fire raged in every direction. Mrs. O'leary's cow had done nothing compared to the devastation that lay all around us.

    I attempted to contact Battle Command at Regents Field but got no response. I tried repeatedly to raise Paige but the silence was the same. I wondered if any other Defenders had survived other than the three we had come to assist.

    They had been redirected to another destination as soon as the alien fighters retreated. The comm channels were jammed with individual pilot chatter. Command had broken down. I questioned the team and the only conclusion they could draw was that Regents Field may have been taken out... along with the chamber.

    My heart sank as I thought of the possibility of Paige's death. I had gone into battle feeling that at least she would be secure in the underground rock fortress. Perhaps I was wrong.

    Once the smoke cleared Pop got to work on making our craft flight-worthy. The blown circuits for the reactor were bypassed and the two somewhat functioning BHD rings inspected. It would be risky, but we could fly. The immediate choice was to go back to Regents Field. When we lifted off I pushed what throttle we had to full.

    We passed over Denver on our way back to the Nevada desert. Smoke plumes billowed high, placing a dramatic haze over the adjacent Rockies. On final approach to Regents Field it was as we had guessed... complete devastation. The hangars had been flattened. The administration buildings flattened. Anything that had once been sitting on the tarmac had seen the same fate.

    We landed beside our hangar. There were no people in sight... only flattened piles of debris. The elevators and the tunnel that headed off to who knows where were buried under the rubble. I again tried all comm channels in an attempt to raise Battle Command and the chamber. Again there was nothing but silence.

    The chaotic pilot chatter had died down. The remaining alien fighters had retreated to the safety of their carrier. Whip got on her console and began to coordinate with the other pilots to return to Regents Field.

    Even if there was nothing left we needed a rally point and Regents Field was as good as any. Within half an hour the 22 other remaining Defenders joined us on the tarmac. Three were heavily damaged.

    One of the crews had followed the retreating fighters back to their carrier. They had 76 fully functioning craft and 36 that appeared damaged. Their robotic assistants were no doubt busily at work making repairs. We had 88 crewman left to do battle with this titanic vessel and its 100 or so fighters that remained. It was impossible odds.

    We had no weapons except for our coil guns. We had no command coordination for an attack. We each wondered just how long it would take before the aliens mounted another assault.

    After evaluation, two of the damaged Defenders were deemed unfit to do battle. The decision was made to scrap them for spare parts. The design of the Defenders was such that they were extremely simplistic and modular. Parts could easily be removed and fitted to another craft with the small set of tools that each Defender carried.

    Pop got to work on stripping the circuits for our second reactor while Bigg and Whip changed out BHD rings. Within an hour Defender A55 was once again battle ready.

    But, we still had no plan. No one in command. Arguments were beginning to break out over heated discussions of what we would do next. At that moment I made a decision. I stepped into the small crowd of Defender crewman and let it be known that I was now in charge.

    I split the crewmen into groups for quiet discussion. Two groups of each type of crewman were quickly organized. I gave direction to discuss any and all possible options. No arguments. No raised voices. I gave a speech about how everything was still on the line. Billions of citizens were still counting on our ability to defend. Our families, friends and fellow countrymen needed our help now more than ever.

    If we were to fail, everything would be lost. It was the talk everyone needed to hear. Soon afterward the groups were hashing out possible scenarios of the options before us. As the discussions proceeded Pop came to me with an idea. He could mount a third reactor in our Defender. We could also double up on the BHD rings.

    He thought it might give us a shot at punching through the much stronger gravity wave being put out by the carrier. If we could take out the carrier we had a much better shot at the war of attrition General Buck had contemplated.

    I then asked Whip to calculate a speed at which our active skin could handle hitting the carrier head on. I asked what if we made our Defender into a Driller of sorts. Whip typed feverishly at her console and within minutes came back with the answer. It might be possible. It was not the answer I wanted to hear, but it looked like we were out of options.

    I then made the command decision. Defender A55, with three reactors and ten BHD rings, would fly outward from the planet, turn, and then accelerate back towards the carrier at more than light speed. We would pass Jupiter and then turn behind its cover. If we reached light speed before coming from behind the planet we could fly right into the alien carrier before they saw us coming.

    It was a Kamikaze run. And, it was our only hope. Before I had a chance to finalize the plan the pilot of A224 scrambled to her Defender. We all watched in wonder as the door to the craft closed and the active skin powered up.

    With only the pilot on-board Defender A224 lifted off and headed straight up. Word from the pilot soon came over the comm. She was putting my plan into action. If she was unable to make it through upon impact then so be it. She could at least do damage.

    I tried to convince her that it was suicide without the extra shielding provided by our triple reactors but she did not care. Her Defensive specialist came over with the reason why. Her husband and children had been in Boston when the battle began. She had nothing to go home to. She reasoned that perhaps her sacrifice could show us if the plan would work without sacrificing those who had something to live for.

    Pop then reminded me of just how long it would take for her to enact her plan. It would be at least six hours before she was able to achieve light speed. So, six hours out and six hours back.

    With our added rings we could do the trip in its entirety before she turned her ship around. I then ordered my crew to stand down. They were off duty. I would be flying alone. There was no sense in all of us dying if the attempt was a failure. But, my crew would have none of it. They each pushed past me and boarded A55. I could not have been prouder.

    I then barked the order for a new commander of the group to step up. Three crewmen did so. I selected the eldest among them with the hope that they would be the most experienced. I gave the command over and then had a final word for the rest. I told them that if this failed it would fall to them to do their best. To fight for the Earth and all who were on it.

    As I turned back to board the Defender several crewmen shouted out in support. I sat in my chair and connected in as the door closed on the cheers behind us. We lifted off and immediately went to full throttle. The readouts on my holo-gauges moved much faster than before. We programmed in the flight plan and seconds later were greeted with our friendly familiar countdown timer.

    As we sped away from the planet the monitors gave us our first look at the rallying alien craft. Half were in flight, buzzing about the carriers protected space while the rest remained docked. We sped outward in a wide arc, ever accelerating. Instead of a straight trip out and back it was determined that a giant loop would allow us to continue to build speed all the way to our target.

    The counter ticked away from two hours twelve minutes. Pop worked feverishly at his console while we accelerated towards our destiny. I asked what he was planning, but only received silence. I looked at the others whose responses were shrugs.

    With just over an hour remaining Pop sat back in his chair. He apologized for the silence and told us of his efforts. He had reprogrammed the power split to instantly divert to the active skin if it was reaching its limit or to divert excess from the active skin to the BHD if available.

    He also sent a new course to my console. He reasoned that if we were going to hit this thing we wanted to do it endwise. Fly in one end and out the other to inflict the maximum possible damage.

    The new course for the attack was laid in and the timer recalculated to add the needed extra four seconds. Whip then presented an idea of her own. We could fire all four coil guns in a spread pattern just before we entered the carrier. She was not even sure what would happen when fired at that speed, but she quipped that if the physics held, the tungsten pellets would do major damage of their own.

    We all sat back in our chairs as the timer ticked down to 30 minutes, then ten and finally three. As the counter continued to run I thought about Paige. Was she alive? Injured? Had she perished along with so many others? And what of all the destruction? Would we be able to recover and rearm before the bulk of the alien fleet arrived?

    My head was spinning as the final seconds ticked away. In a flash the tiny Earth grew large and then small again. My console showed that the coil guns had indeed fired. We had passed completely through the eight kilometer long ship in 26 millionths of a second. I checked the readouts and the shields had hit 96%.

    I looked at the high speed video feed from our sensors, but the frame rate was not fast enough to capture any impact. We had a blurred image on approach but the image on regress was too distant to tell if anything was there.

    I then flipped the ships direction and had Pop divert all available power towards the BHD. It would be another two hours before we would be back within range of our sensors.

    The wait was agonizing. Had we missed the target altogether? If so, then why did the shields spike momentarily to 96%? And what of our coil gun rounds? The ride back was again silent and my thoughts once again turned towards Paige. For nearly two hours I sat contemplating what I would do if she had not survived.

    I had lived my whole life bouncing about from relationship to relationship before meeting her. She was everything I had ever wanted and more than I had ever dreamed of finding. Would life be worth living afterward, knowing what had been taken from me? I decided the answer was yes. David Brenner had thought so. The Earth was worth defending if only for the purpose of exacting revenge on our alien attackers.

    If Epsilon Eridani was their home I wanted to journey there and wreak havoc on their world. An eye for an eye was forefront in my mind. After reaching the halfway point on our return I flipped again and we began to decelerate. In less than an hour we would know the fate of our mission.

    With ten minutes remaining our sensor resolution was such that we should see the aftermath of our efforts. There was no eight kilometer ship hovering just above the Earth's atmosphere. Had it moved? Had it left? And what about the fighters? As we got closer 17 blips lit up our displays. They were green blips!
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    The new Commander came online first to congratulate us. The alien carrier and all the fighters were now history. They quickly piped a video feed to our consoles so we could watch. The back three quarters of the alien ship just rolled up and vanished while the remaining quarter first imploded then exploded forward following our path. The destruction of the carrier brought with it a shock wave that disabled all but two of the remaining fighters. Our 17 Defenders made short work of them and made sure the others would never fly again.

    It was a tremendous victory. Any immediate threat from the invaders was now gone. But, the celebration was short lived as we were now faced with a much more formidable force that would be upon us in less than two years, along with a massive cleanup and recovery from the destruction that had been laid upon us.

    My attention turned to Paige. Was she alive and how could I find her? I gave the order for all ships to return their crews to their loved ones. We would attempt to rally back at what was once Regents Field in three days unless otherwise directed.

    I first set down in Orlando to drop off Pop. Then it was off to Seattle to drop Whip with her family. Bigg and I returned to Regents Field in an attempt to access the chamber. Along with Paige, Bigg's son was also there.

    After a short excursion attempting to dig through the rubble we again boarded our Defender and made our way to Area 51. The buildings were intact. I set the Defender down outside the building I had been taken through during my first visit to the chamber. Two guards came out to greet us.

    I asked about the chamber and neither one knew what I was referring to. I then asked for their commanding officer and was escorted inside. The security officer on detail had no knowledge of what was beyond the elevator on their floor. He did a quick bio-scan of Bigg and I and allowed us to passage.

    Once down to the next level we again worked our way through the security levels before finally arriving at the floor that contained the shuttle and its tunnel. The floor officer had bad news. The tunnel had collapsed at some point along the line prohibiting any further access to the chamber from that point. I asked if there were other access points to which the officer responded that he did not know.

    I asked if he had an idea of how far down the tunnel the blockage was and if there were any crews tending to it. He replied that no one had approached it from this end so he was unaware of any rescue efforts. Everything had happened so fast and the level of destruction of the areas that were hit was so complete that information about and coordination of any rescue efforts was just trickling out.

    The floor officer checked the messages on his console and pulled up a status report he had just received. The blocked area was 648 miles down the tunnel. I turned to Bigg and remarked that if we could draw a 650 mile radius circle around area 51 we should find a spot where the aliens had attacked.

    We hurried back to the surface to our waiting Defender. Big punched in the parameters and a map popped up on our displays. The nearest city to the circle was Denver. An almost exact match.

    We quickly flew to Denver and began to search for the remains of any military surface facility at the 648 mile mark. The area in question had not been touched. Five miles to the east was utter devastation. I then checked our battle logs for other skirmishes. A dozen fighters had been directed at the Grand Tetons before returning to assist with the assault on Denver.

    We made haste to scout their targeted area. At the western base of the southernmost Teton there was an area of ground almost a mile in diameter where it was evident that the alien fighters had used their gravity wave weapon. We circled for half an hour looking for any evidence of other roadways or tunnel entrances. None were to be found.

    Our sensors were powerful enough to penetrate ground but would only go so far through solid rock. I scanned the area leading into the flattened zone and took note of an anomaly leading away towards Area 51. I attempted to scan the other side of the zone but was greeted by the solid granite that formed the Tetons. I pinpointed the location where I believed the tunnel would have continued and set the Defender down beside it.

    I looked at Bigg and asked if he had any ideas. He remarked that we could always just make our own tunnel. We could turn on the BHD and slowly drill our way to wherever we wanted.

    It was genius. The Defender was powered up and I turned the nose down. Within five minutes I had a hollow detected on our scanners. I slowed our progress as we approached. We drilled to a location beside the hollow and then turned upright to continue.

    As soon as the smallest of holes had broken through I backed off the drilling. If there were survivors on the other side attempting to dig their way out I did not want to bring them harm. I moved the Defender from side to side to hollow out an area large enough for us to walk around our ship when we set down.

    I parked the Defender and opened the rear door. Bigg and I hurried out to the front of the ship and to the hole through to the tunnel. It was just big enough for us to squeeze through. The tunnel on the other side was in complete darkness. Bigg soon returned from the Defender with an emergency light.

    I looked down the tunnel to the southwest and could see the large boulders that made up the blockage. We turned northeast and began walking along the tracks towards what we hoped was the chamber.

    We arrived after a three quarter mile walk where we were greeted with a large closed door. We beat on the door but to no avail. After ten minutes of attempting to signal someone inside we returned to the Defender. We powered up the BHD and began drilling in the direction of the tunnel door.

    Ten minutes later we broke through into the shuttle room. We left the Defender and boarded the elevator to the long hallway of doors. When the doors opened to a dimly lit hall there were two Marines laying on the ground.

    We quickly attempted to assist them, but it was evident they were dead. We raced down the hall to my Great Uncle's office but no one was there. We next entered into the chamber. Again there was only emergency lighting. There were bodies lying about everywhere. We continued to try to assist, but they were all dead. Walls had collapsed. Items had been overturned. The chamber had the look of having been through a tremendous earthquake.

    I then told Bigg I was going to find Paige and he turned immediately towards where his son Chris would normally be. I ran and ran fast towards Paige's lab. Bodies lay where they had been at the time of the attack. As I raced towards the lab I came across the first live person.

    They were on the ground, moaning and rocking slowly back and forth with evidence of dried blood coming from their ears. The concussions from the gravity wave weapons must have been tremendous. I stopped to attempt to help the fallen man. He was incoherent... delirious... There was nothing further that I could do. I once again sprinted in the direction of Paige's lab.

    As I continued there were more signs of life. Small groups of individuals were sitting on the ground or in chairs. As I approached one group a lady in uniform waved frantically at me. I stopped to assist.

    Just as the others her eardrums had burst. But, she had her wits about her and was assisting others. She asked if the war was still ongoing. I grabbed the closest piece of paper and wrote that it was over, we had won, but at a high cost.

    I then gestured that I had to go and continued my run to find Paige. When I entered the lab her two assistants lay motionless. I then saw her. Curled up in a ball holding her ears.

    I rushed to her side and took solace in the fact that she was still breathing. I scooped her up in my arms and carried her back to my quarters. I lay her down on what was once the anti-grav mattress. It now had no power.

    There was no one to call. No emergency help. Everyone in the chamber had been killed or knocked unconscious by the concussions. I wet a cloth and began to clean the dried blood from her ears. As I carefully wiped she stirred and then opened her eyes.

    She had a foggy gaze at first, but it soon turned into a smile. She was alive and she was going to make it. After half an hour of comforting my wife and informing her of the battle I then went looking for Bigg. I found him in the reactor technician's lab holding a still groggy Chris.

    It was determined that we needed to access the comm center if we were going to get help. The breaker to the comm room had popped just as with most of the chambers circuits. We hustled to the power room and began the process of restoring the power to the chamber one section at a time. As the power came on we checked for fires before moving to the next section.

    When the lights in the comm area came on I left Bigg and rushed back. I logged into the first console that came up, but there were no comm paths to the outside of the chamber. Whatever lines had been there before had been severed.

    I turned and ran back to Bigg just as the last of the breakers was restored. I told him to take his son to my chamber and watch over Paige. I was going to the surface for help. I then sprinted back to the Defender. I powered up the BHD and set a course for the west side of Jackson Hole, Wyoming... the closet town to the Tetons.

    After 20 minutes of tunneling I emerged into a field beside a small jewelry shop. The owners came out to see what the commotion was. When the rear door of the Defender opened I was greeted by an old man with a shotgun. He demanded to know who I was. I told him of the results of the battle and of the secret chamber under the mountain. I then told of the condition of the soldiers and scientists trapped within.

    Shortly thereafter the Sheriff arrived and within hours the people of the town of Jackson Hole were working in unison to bring the chamber personnel to the surface for whatever assistance they could provide.

    Paige and Chris were alive and would recover. It was well into the evening before word of David Brenner came. He was alive and well. He had gone to one of the other chambers to oversee bringing it online.

    While I was thankful for the news that my Great Uncle had come through unharmed I then got the news about General Buck. He had not been so lucky. A large chunk of rock had fallen from the ceiling of the chamber onto the Battle Room. General Buck and many of our Battle Planners and Tacticians had been in its path.

    The town of Jackson Hole continued to assist in the evacuation of the chamber. By the time the last of the survivors and victims had been brought to the surface 36 hours had passed. The scene at Jackson Hole was played out in many a suburb of the targeted cities. The estimated toll of human lives was quickly set at north of 180 million and climbing.

    Boston, New York, Atlanta, Chicago, St. Louis, Dallas, Denver, L.A., San Diego, San Francisco and Honolulu had been destroyed in the United States. For unknown reasons the Washington, D.C. area had been spared. I reasoned that perhaps it had been too heavily defended.

    Tokyo and Osaka had been crushed in Japan, Seoul in the Koreas, Beijing and Shanghai in China, Moscow in Russia and Berlin, Paris and London rounded out the other major cities hit. Along with those various other military and industrial targets had been taken out.

    As a world we had been badly injured, but not broken. There was still a bigger threat coming our way. By the best of counts we had just over 21 months to recover and rebuild our defenses. This time in preparation for a far more powerful assault on our planet.

    The nations of the world called a grand council that met in Brisbane Australia to determine our course of action. David Brenner presided over the members and the work to be done was equally divided amongst every capable being and every country. All efforts were geared towards the coming war.

    Foods were rationed, resources directed and manufacturing built and manned with one goal in mind... to build as many Defenders and coil gun defenses as possible and to train the crews to man them.

    If was a coordinated effort like man had never seen. We were all brothers. We were all on the same side. We all had everything to gain and everything to lose. My days were long and were spent training crews. The same for the other remaining Defender crewmen. Paige spent her time in a lab continuing to attempt to turn out entangled pairs for our comm systems.

    Our time together was limited to a few hours per week. It was all we could spare from the duties we had been assigned. Bigg and Whip had found a moment to tie the knot. Pop trained his crew, had his two beers a week and continued to grin endlessly.

    Our world had drastically changed. There was little to no crime. There were no freeloaders milling about sucking on the tit of those who had. Entertainment was largely frozen in time with no resources devoted to its continued existence. Everyone was busy on every day.

    Everything and everyone had one purpose... the defense of our precious Earth. It had been more than 70 years since the Sodium Apocalypse. And we still had no idea of whom our enemy really was or what they wanted. There were no ambassadors, no envoys, no messages or communications of any kind since the S.A. The attacks and the aliens persistence was beyond reason. Who they were was beyond our reach.

    This night I lie on my anti-grav mattress with Paige lying before me. I stroke her hair as we gaze into each others eyes. In my heart I know exactly what it is that I toil for day in and day out. It's my wife... the woman I love. The woman I would fight and die for a thousand times over. She gives me purpose and reason and life.

    The aliens could come down from the heavens and crush our cities. They could wipe us from the face of our precious Earth. But they would not take our spirit, our freedom or our fight.

    In 21 months we would know out fate. I wondered if man would continue to learn and grow and prosper. I wondered if we would overcome our foe and then reach out to the stars. I wondered if one day we would be at their doorstep... threatening their existence. I held my wife close as I closed my eyes. The assisted sleep came quickly.
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    We were five days into our ten day station just outside the heliosphere. It was absolutely the most boring duty station in all the USAC. The main alien fleet was still 14 months away. Everyone on the planet was busy preparing our defenses for the incoming threat. We were busy twiddling our thumbs.

    The assignment was fun for the first couple hours. Once you were over the thought of venturing outside the solar system and once you had looked around at the amazing views of the stars for a bit... the thrill was gone.

    Our main attraction looked to be an asteroid of about 30 meters in width that was approaching us from the suspect region of Epsilon Eridani. The only curious thing about it was its speed... almost half the speed of light.

    After calculations had been done it was determined that it was on a course that would take it near Earth. We had been given instruction to pull up alongside it and to blast it into tiny bits. Earth had enough problems with its reconstruction without having to worry about an asteroid strike. After five days of our uneventful assignment we were glad to have the distraction.

    The throttle was at full as we raced towards the incoming rocky threat. I waited until the last possible moment to do the now classic flip maneuver in our Defender. The BHD (black-hole-drive) continued its pull. First slowing us to a stop and then propelling us forward in an attempt to match the speed of the incoming asteroid. With our dual reactor setup the acceleration would take us an hour and a half.

    I considered myself a good pilot. I scored well on my qualifying tests. And I was an ace in the Defender Simulators back in Chamber 2 under the Adirondacks in upstate New York. I would use those skills to slide up in front of the asteroid and then move off to the right side where we could blast it with our coil guns. My Offensive Specialist Randy had an itchy trigger finger.

    His name was Thurmon Campbell but we called him Randy because he was always flirting with the ladies. I found him a bit obnoxious but he seemed to have a knack for attracting their attention. As we pulled up in front of the asteroid Randy was already hatching plans about how he was going to be telling the ladies of his heroics in saving the planet.

    I could care less about what he told them so long as he got the job done. As a gunner he was a worthwhile addition to my crew. He preferred manual controls over the computer assist and his scoring in the simulations had shown him to be skilled at it.

    I prompted Raven and Tork for status from their stations before making the outbound maneuver. Raven (Janet Plumb) was our Defensive Specialist. Her jet black hair had given her the obvious name. Tork (Derrick Kennedy) was our Engineer. He was a quiet sort of guy that spent his time tinkering with the ships systems. The automation on-board governed most of what went on with them but Tork liked staying on top of it anyway. The way I looked at it, if he was happy, I was happy.

    I took us to within five kilometers of the asteroid before banking hard left. At two kilometers out I would do another flip allowing Randy to take his shot at glory. Just for kicks I put my controls on manual in order to make Randy work hard for his shot. If I could coax a miss it would give me ribbing ammunition for whenever he got mouthy. He got mouthy a lot. We quickly slid out to two kilometers and I flipped the ship around. We were completely unprepared for what lay directly behind the asteroid.

    It was a long line of alien fighters! Raven's console quickly lit up with a count of 315. They had been using the asteroid to approach Earth under cover. Randy redirected his first shots at the lead fighter just as I made another flip and went to full throttle.

    The fighters broke rank and came hard at us. Raven directed our grav-shield to the rear of the ship while Randy began the launch of four Drillers. Our newest Drillers consisted of one BHD ring with a new field generator that allowed the Driller to change directions much faster. They could now almost match the turns of the alien fighters.

    New algorithms in the Drillers programming offered an added benefit. The Driller would fly around chasing after a target and when it caught its prey the black hole of the BHD ring would cut into the target vessel just like a drill.

    The new algorithms would now direct the Driller to stop and turn once inside a ship. The old weapon would attempt to turn a ship into Swiss cheese by cutting through it, exiting and then cutting through again. This new model would try to gut whatever it came in contact with from the inside out. It was an untested weapon but the Tacticians assured us it would be more destructive than the original. Randy had four Drillers flying moments after our surprise meeting.

    The fighters immediate shots which took our shields to 65% with the first hit and 85% with the second. The fighters gained as our BHD began to accelerate. The next shot took the shields to 112% taking out all five of our BHD rings. We were suddenly dead in space.

    The final shot had sent us spinning but had not knocked our active skin offline. When the rings collapsed the active skin shut down the sensors and covered the remaining portions of the front of the Defender. Our propulsion was gone but as a consequence, with the active skin, our ship was now invisible to the alien sensors. We were blind to what was happening just outside but the enemy could not see us either.

    The computer gave its best estimate of our position and orientation but without a drive those parameters were largely useless. We were floating in deep space with no way home. It was just over a days travel at light speed to get back to Earth. We weren't going anywhere. But we had to warn Command of the approaching horde of alien fighters. The Earth had barely begun its recovery from their prior attack.

    It had been three months since the combined USAC and World forces had defeated the alien carrier. It had been a hard fought battle with more than 270 million citizens dead. So far as we knew the alien casualties had been zero as their ships were all autonomous. Twenty of the Worlds largest cities along with numerous other military and industrial targets had been largely wiped out.

    For me, I had lost a favorite cousin in Atlanta. Liz and I had been best friends growing up on my Grandfather's farm in East Alabama. When my Aunt and Uncle moved away I was devastated to see Liz go.

    It was that separation that had hardened me and sent me down the path from being a Tom-Boy to a Defender pilot for the USAC. For a while we had kept in close contact digitally but that soon faded as we made our way into high school and into the inevitable friendships that developed from there.

    The aliens had taken my cousin from me along with my Aunt and Uncle when Atlanta had been destroyed. This was my first encounter with the aliens and I had a score to settle. But, I now had no way of doing it.

    We waited 20 minutes for the fighters to pass before attempting to activate a communications sensor. I had taken the time to complete a brief of our encounter and of what was coming Earth's way. The briefing coupled with a complete recording from each of our sensors was compressed and ready to send when the comm came online.

    We were trapped more than a light day away while the enemy bore down on our planet. After receiving my signal our forces at home would only have 24 hours to prepare for the 315 fighters that fast approached.

    At last count we had 37 Defenders at the ready along with more than 500 heavy space based coil guns and 260 ground based guns. Our factories had been feverishly pumping out ground launched Drillers but I had no idea of how many.

    With the main alien fleet only 14 months out we would need the help of every man, woman and child on the planet to continue to raise our defenses. This pack of fighters could cause enough damage and distraction to make that defense impossible.

    When the 20 minutes had passed I powered on the sensors and blasted out the warning. The fighters had indeed continued on their course towards Earth leaving us spinning helplessly away in space. At one half light speed it would take the alien fighters two days to reach Earth. Our comm blast would reach home in one.

    After sending the blast I turned to the team and asked what we could do to change our situation. Tork immediately volunteered a spacewalk in an attempt to do an on-ship repair or at least bring a BHD ring inside the ship for an attempt there.

    I was just about to give the go-ahead when Raven threw out the facts. The fact that we were traveling at nearly half the speed of light was a big problem. And the fact that beyond the active skin we did not have adequate shielding from the stellar winds and their charged particles that freely moved about outside the heliosphere.

    If Tork went outside the craft, even with his suit and helmet, he would likely be irreparably cooked from the inside out within a short time. We were trapped until such time as someone at home could attempt a rescue.

    When the news reached Earth there was a scramble to assemble all ready forces. A fast Defender was dispensed to attempt a rescue of my crew from our stranded position just outside the heliosphere. Every available trained pilot was needed for Earth’s defense.

    The fast Defender was powered by four reactors which would allow it to reach us in less than eight hours. This would also allow time for a rescue and for a to return to Earth before the alien fighters attacked. Our defender would first have to be stabilized so that a door-to-door transfer of its occupants could occur. It was a risky maneuver considering the stranded Defenders speed and the stellar winds.

    A volunteer crew was selected and sent within an hour of receiving the comm blast. They would have a four hour window available to attempt a transfer. With the alien threat having moved on towards Earth we were free to use our sensors. We racked our brains looking for anything that could better our situation.

    After an hour of nothing Randy offered up an idea. He reasoned that we could momentarily turn off the active skin and fire a round from one of our coil guns. The inertia from that round might slow our spin. If he could calculate which gun would offer the best chance at slowing our out-of-control spin we had a shot of at least increasing our chances of a rescue.

    There was no question of time involved as we had enough nutrients and fuel to last us for a month. It was a question of wanting to get back to protect our world. There was one aspect of Randy's plan that he was unsure of. What would happen when the active skin went down?

    Would the inertial forces that the skin held back splatter us all against the interior walls of the ship? Would the supercharged particles of the stellar wind come streaming through and cook us? Those were the questions we had no answer to. I put the measure up for a democratic vote from the crew.

    Randy – Aye. Raven – Aye. Tork – Aye and myself – Aye. It was unanimous. Randy re-ran his calculations and set up the computer to best time the shot. Involving the computer in this instance was an irritant to him but the computers precision was needed if the plan was to have a chance at success.

    With the calculations complete and the parameters entered Randy enabled the computer to take its best shot. A countdown timer appeared on our consoles and we each watched as it ticked down to zero. The ship jerked violently and then three seconds later violently again. The computer continued to repeat this pattern in an attempt to bring our spinning to an end.

    After 27 rounds the Defender slowed to an almost imperceptible turn. Randy's idea had worked. Raven worked over the interior sensor data and concluded that our exposure to the stellar winds was a minimal risk. But, it was a risk that we would likely not know the outcome of for many years down the road.

    I took the opportunity to train our sensors on the alien fighters and to broadcast that information towards home. I hoped they could somehow put it to use. I gave Tork the order to plan for his extra-vehicular ring repair in case we had no alternative. The one thing we had was time.

    I then began to think about how unfair it was that the alien craft each had repair robots attached to the outer chassis. They could effect repairs while zipping along at any speed... even during battle. I made a log note to post the idea up to our techs when we got home although I was sure that they were already fully aware of its potential.

    For the next several hour we all sat quietly wondering about each of our existences. I thought for a few minutes about my crew. Randy was from Connecticut. He had lost family in New York when the carrier and its horde of fighters had attacked. He had joined the USAC a year earlier after eight years as a low level commercial pilot.

    He loved the travel but did not care for hauling freight. There was no glory in hauling boxes of clothing or toys or bean sprouts. It was a job he was happy to move on from. Raven was from Vancouver. She made her way into the Corps through a simulation game that had been put on the market several years earlier.

    The geniuses behind our Defender craft had put out a holo-game called ZZ Defender. Those who scored well through competitions had been recruited into the USAC directly at a time when Defender crews were sorely needed. The game continued to be a recruiting tool bringing in much needed talent.

    Applications to the USAC had been through the roof since the last devastating attack. Raven and a team of three others had been the West Coast ZZ Defender Champions. The rest of her gaming crew had been accepted into the USAC and divided amongst three other Defender teams. I was happy to have Raven on mine.

    Tork had come from the Midwest. Somewhere in Northern Missouri. He was about as small town as you could get. As far as engineers went I would not have traded him for any others I had known. As my thoughts wondered I began to daydream about my earlier days on my Grandfather's farm. We had a small herd of goats and it had been my job to keep them fed and keep them happy.

    I had spent much of my time hacking into our automated feeders in an attempt to have them do more of my chores. Several minor alterations had worked wonders until I crashed and ruined a very expensive piece of equipment. My parents were livid but my Grandfather took it in stride. He told me that man would never have accomplished much if he had never taken risks. It was a statement that had ruled much of my adult life.

    After seven hours adrift I was elated to hear an incoming message. A rescue ship was fast approaching. My team got loud in celebration. The plan was for the rescue ship to match our speed and move in close enough for a door to door transfer attempt at getting us out. Their ship had a pilot and one crewman to handle the winch line.

    The rescue Defender would be maneuvered until its rear door and ours were facing one another. Their ships computer would attempt to bring the ship within three meters for the transfer. We had been monitoring the stellar winds and they seemed to build and then ebb in an eight minute pattern. We would attempt our first transfer during the lull.

    The pilot of the other ship introduced himself as Bumba. He was South African. He manually piloted his Defender to within one kilometer before turning it over to the ships computer. Within minutes the two Defenders were facing back to back while traveling at one half light speed. We again watched a timer tick away waiting for a lull in the stellar winds.

    With precision timing the active skins on both Defenders shut down and the doors lifted. Rocko was at the ready with a line and winch with Tork being the first to hook up and cross. The process took four minutes.

    The doors once again closed and the skins re-activated as the stellar winds again began to build. When the easing cycle repeated the transfer process began again. This time it was Raven who was then followed by Randy. As the squad Commander I felt it was my duty to go last. When the time came for my turn the stellar winds did not die down.

    We waited patiently for almost three hours for the ebb but no change came. Bumba then made a command decision of his own. I asked what they were doing when the Defender began to slowly pull away.

    I was told that our time was limited and that Tork had volunteered to go out on a tether in an attempt to change one of the damaged rings on the front of our ship. I thought it a bad idea to risk the lives and safety of five in an attempt to rescue the one. Tork reasoned that we would be needing the ship if it was at all repairable. We had 315 fighters looking to destroy our world.

    It was a reasonable argument but one that was easily countered with why five live crewman and a good Defender were not worth risking. My arguments were ignored. Bumba brought the Defender in close before putting the plan into action. The door opened and out floated Tork with the tool needed to make the exchange for a spare ring that the rescue ship had brought to us.

    The stellar winds still raged as Tork hurried through his repair attempt. With no active skin the rescue crew was taking a big risk. I felt unworthy of their gamble. Seven minutes into the ring exchange and Tork was reeled back into the other Defender. When their door had closed and the ship had moved safely away I was ready to give the new ring a try.

    I applied power slowly and checked the status. The exchange appeared to have worked. I took a moment to thank Tork and again chastise him for taking the risk. But, I was glad to be heading home in my own ship. Bumba then told us to say our goodbyes because he needed to get back as soon as possible. There was much that needed doing.

    I watched the green blip from the sensors as the fast Defender quickly sped away. I pushed my throttle full and watched my own speed climb at what seemed like a snails pace. If I was lucky I would arrive just before our attackers. Our Defenders were much slower with  only one BHD ring but, just as the fully capable ship, they would continue to accelerate. My trip counter ticked away from more than 17 hours.

    When I arrived at the base near Lake Pleasant in the Adirondacks I moved quickly into a hangar. A crew was waiting to affect repairs. I hurried away to the elevators to take me to Chamber 2 for a briefing on the fight that was almost upon us.

    I hustled into the briefing room where I was met by my crew. I took note that Tork was not looking well. Just as the briefing was about to begin he collapsed. I was sure it was due to the sacrifices he had made to get us safely home.

    When the medic team had him on the way to the infirmary the briefing began. Our Battle Commander, Admiral Rex Hall, strode in with a stern look on his face. We would be fielding 42 Defenders against the 315 alien fighters. It was not good odds. We would be deploying our fighters in squads of six based on a perimeter around where the alien fighters were expected to arrive.

    Our newest space based coil guns were now on mobile platforms but there were only eight of them and they were still relatively slow to move. Our strategy would be to try to quickly move forces to wherever the heaviest need was.

    In the few months since the carrier attack the Australians had constructed and opened a factory that was now pumping out 300 light coil guns a day. These new light guns were mobile and were being rushed to every major city in an attempt to beef up their defenses. There was also added emphasis on protecting our factories as further destruction could end any attempt at rearming ourselves for the main fleet.

    When the briefing ended we had our orders. We also had a new engineer. He would be meeting us at our Defender as he was being pulled directly from training in the DSims two weeks early.

    I was not happy with the current crew change but being happy was not a requirement. I would have to give the new crewman the chance to prove himself. I had ten minutes to spend before returning to the hangar. I decided on a call to the family. I wanted to hear my parents voices and I wanted the encouragement that I knew would come from my Grandfather.

    My Mother had her usual worried tone. Why would I be calling after not talking to her for weeks. I told her everything was fine and to just stay on the farm and tend to business. She was of course suspicious.

    I then moved on to the real purpose of my call... my Grandfather. I needed his wisdom, his support, his calm and confidence. I had no problem going headlong into whatever was coming my way. But, that did not mean my guts would not turn to jelly.

    I was nervous and Gramps always had a way of putting my mind at ease. He told me that man makes mistakes. That all you can do when times are tough is do the best you can. That worrying never solved anything... action did. He ended by saying that he had complete confidence in his Granddaughter. After all, she had his genes.

    The talk had been just what was needed. As I rode the shuttle towards the hangars my inner thoughts turned from worry about my loved ones and for all Mankind to ones of fight and determination. In less than two hours the alien fighters would be upon us. Earth would again be fighting for its survival. As I stepped out into the hangar and viewed all the crews, handlers and support personnel hurrying about I had a renewed feeling of strength... of confidence. We would be giving the aliens the best of what we had.
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